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Schedule of Principal Properties

ER (B e AEIkZE S
Properties held for
Investment or Own Use

Hei A IR A

A B W HE 25

Attributable Beneficial Interest
of China Resources

Land Limited

1 5 30
Shenyang City Crossing
5K The MIXc
7 Office
5 H1Y Car Park
T BTN I 7 4K 1 288 9%
No. 288 Qingnian Avenue, Heping District, Shenyang

Bl 2PN

China Resources Building
At s SR I 2 0 P A A 8
No. 8 Jianguomen North Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing

b TRk (7 [
Beijing Rainbow City (West)
3 Commercial
5 Hi3) Car Park
AU T L 3 4T e 7 68
No. 68 Qinghe Mid-Street, Haidian District, Beijing

L HLR A FE
Phoenix Place Tower A
F5 7 Office
5 Hi8%) Car Park
bt 5 e = e A
San Yuan Qiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

B HL 5 FH PR

Phoenix Place Tower F & H
M Office

LA I = e AR

San Yuan Qiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

BB By M

Phoenix Place Tower M
T 2 Commercial

bt i R I = oA

San Yuan Qiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

G AL Ry

Xidan Cultural Centre

sl G 3k [ G LK 180 BE

No.180 Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

7 — e 17— oy HE-— s it e
C — commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - Residential

Gross Floor Area

A48

e 1
Approximate Total E il ALETARR
Type Lease Term

T 4 L
Shenyang City Crossing

A AR
Annual Report 2011

b w5 A
Beijing CR Building

b mt %
Beijing Rainbow City
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Schedule of Principal Properties

ER (B e AEIkZE S
Properties held for
Investment or Own Use

Hei A IR A
A B W HE 25 A48
Attributable Beneficial Interest R
of China Resources Approximate Total N AR
Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term

B R
Grand Constellation Shopping Mall
Al P o A A

Huayuan Street, Xicheng District, Beijing

(LT

U-Space Shopping Mall
b 5T [ R P A K A 8
8 Guangqumenwai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing

A8 7 S

Jing Tong Shops

b 1 e

Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing

TR e S 1k

Phoenix City Commercial Street
AT = oA

Sanyuangiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

kPN
Huawei Building

Al T e K
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

L PN
Huanan Building

Bl i R N
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

T ] 22 Bk

Building 22, Guanyingyuan
T Pk e 1 R

Xinjiekou South Street, Xicheng District, Beijing

[

Jin Hui Garden

Bl A PN

Daxing District, Beijing

35 R IR AR AR By 49 AL

Building 49, Fortune Island, Jade City
Bl A PN

Daxing District, Beijing

35283 B2 [ 1 GEHE

Building 1, Plot B2, Jade City
Ela g '

Daxing District, Beijing

73— e 15 — oty
C - commercial CP - car Park

-z e I — s
O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

SF R |5
Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

Hei A IR A
JREANS T B i 2 M
FelEiE sk ¥ Attributable Beneficial Interest A R
Properties held for of China Resources Approximate Total ] RS AR PR
Investment or Own Use Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term

bR S

Shanghai CR Times Square
T35 Mall
&M Office
5L Car Park

T SRR B B 500 5E

500 Zhangyang Road, Pudong, Shanghai

LI # SR
Hangzhou The MIXc

5 5 4 The MIXc

5 Hi8) Car Park
AL T VL L S8 T 40 [ B A BRI
Qingchun East Road, Qianjiang New Town,
Jianggan District, Hangzhou
P L ]
Wuhan Central Park

T %€ Commercial

585 Car Park
TR [ 5 B
West Qintai Road, Hanyang District, Wuhan

JEHR 5 F R
Chengdu Jade City
Commercial
{553} Car Park
R T S LI BB R B 99 9%
99 East Fifth Section, Second Ring Road,
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
BRYIFE LR o L
Shenzhen City Crossing
H Sk The MIXc
R #E K B China Resources Building
FBE % Grand Hyatt
5 Hi85 Car Park
PRI 57880 i 4 T Rt 5001 5% 2% % 3 1 1881 %
5001 Shennan East Road and No. 1881,
Baoan South Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen

VRN 3 K

Shenzhen Hua Rui Building

RN i 28 a6 B4 7 2% 1001 5

1001 Baoan South Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen
P

Le Meridien Hotel

AT AR
Shimei Bay, Wanning

P — e 15 — b W manz 1wz T — e
C' - commercial CP - car park O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

at o AR EHEIL AL IR H 34,729 F 75K - LIRALEE ~ 15 @I HHF1 4,725,947 F 77 Kt 25 @ 28I ~ 4,038,379 F 77 K e did it 45 @ SR 1T i

Note:  Not including Beijing other operational investment properties of 34,729 square metres; and other up and running investment properties which are
currently under construction or under planning involving a total gross floor area of 4,725,947 square metres and an attributable gross floor area of
4,038,379 square meters.

LG S BUIM 5 5k
Shanghai Times Square Shenzhen The MIXc Hangzhou The MIXc
ZER AR

Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

BEA A
W E A PR A e S
A B B 2 HE#A #ik20124E347H
R Attributable Beneficial g A Approximate Unsold AT % B H ERAE O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area B Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
T R L
Qingdao City Crossing
I T L LB 10 5%

10 Shandong Road,
Shinan District, Qingdao

TR e

Zibo Central Park
TR G kR

Central District, Zhangdian, Zibo

R L
Weihai City Crossing
SR BRI

Huancui District, Weihai

F A R IH
Rizhao Donggang
District Project

H SR

Donggang District, Rizhao

LR
Ning Mansion
A I

Jianye District, Nanjing

I 85 38 1 [ A [
Wuxi Taihu International
Community

a5y i 42 1 B 88 5%

88 Jinshi Road, Wuxi

S BLI

Top Mansion

855,300 YR e LSRR B 2 L
PR

Southwest Corner, Hubin Road &
Liangxi Road Intersection, Wuxi

7 — e 15 — b HE-maw 1 -nz T — e
C' — commercial CP —car Park O - Office R - Residential H - notet

CECE 3L T 187 o e 23 [E F R
Qingdao City Crossing Zibo Central Park Ning Mansion

SF o REER | 7
Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S

HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H
BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion

BRINF- 1 R
Suzhou Villa
TR T F-IL I

Pingjiang District, Suzhou

R A
Suzhou Oak Bay
BEM AT

Xiangcheng District, Suzhou

MR EILE
Suzhou The Bound
of Kunyu

B L 717 BTG B

Honggiao Road,
Kunshan, Suzhou

2 ) 3 ] B AL
Taizhou CR International
Community

2R T A L [

Zhoushanhe District, Taizhou

3 2 A

Nantong Oak Bay

T A - 5 5 B o A R
East Xinkai North Road,
Economic & Technological
Development Zone, Nantong

N A5
Yangzhou Oak Bay
M TR 8
Jiangwang Town,

Hanjiang District, Yangzhou

7 e 1 oy HE-mnz ft e I — s
C' - commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

BN 154 5 28 1R T 3 ] [ A
Suzhou Oak Bay Nantong Oak Bay Taizhou CR International Community
ZER AR

Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S

HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H
BE % Attributable Beneficial b i A Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) & A O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion

AR IR
Xuzhou MIXc Residence
AR T S L) 18

Tongshan District, Xuzhou

o P 3 A [
Changzhou CR
International Community
BN R A o R

Zhongwu Avenue,

Tianning District, Changzhou

i g
Yancheng Oak Bay
LA GIPN

Renmin Road, Yancheng

AR 5 AR
Chengdu Jade City
AR TSR T &

Jinjiang District, Chengdu

AR B
Chengdu Phoenix City
SR =R

Third Ring Road, Chengdu

JHD 24 4k

Chengdu
Twenty-Four City
AR BR B

Second Ring Road, Chengdu

SR AR
Chengdu Oak Bay
AT S SRR
Hongguang Town,

Pi County, Chengdu

7 — i 1 oy HE-maw it s B — i
C' - commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - Residential H — Hotel

T S I A A R I SR
Changzhou CR International Chengdu The MIXc Chengdu Oak Bay

Community

ST AR
Annual Report 2011
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FEY) ERE

Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S
HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H

BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
LA 4 L
Chengdu Jinyue Bay
JRAR T A [
Qingyang District, Chengdu
SRR A e

Chengdu Ginkgo Park
A T 62 4

Jinniu District, Chengdu

AR AR R
Chengdu Emerald
Forest

A T WA S i B

Xiaojuesi South Road, Chengdu

Ed YN
Chongqing Central

Park

B ATV AL 8K A i
Dashiba Street, Jiangbei District,
Chongging

R A
Chongqing Twenty-

Four City

R LB B A A P
Section P of Dayangshi, Jiulongpo
District, Chongging

Al RS
Mianyang Central Park

AR TR

Kechuangyuan District, Mianyang

M A5
Fuzhou Oak Bay
AP T 78T L D 34 e e )
‘West Hongwan Road,
Cangshan District, Fuzhou

7 e 1 oy HE- sz s I — s
C - commercial CP - carpark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

T ABIRA e FHEEP I LA A N i)
Chengdu Ginkgo Park Chongqing Central Park Mianyang Central Park
e i

Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

LA R A R 8 o e S
AN T P 2 [LESES #1k20124E3H7H

BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area R Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
JEL ) A5
Xiamen Oak Bay
JBE P4 3% [ A A
Xingbei Road, Jimei District,
Xiamen
EELEA
Nanchang Central Park
T B TR BT Sk
Chaoyang New City,
Nanchang

HEN B VLT I G7 B
Block G7, Zhangjiang
New District, Ganzhou
B VL

Zhangjiang New District,
Ganzhou

L

Shanghai The Bund Side
b TR P L

Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai

¥ AR A
Shanghai Oak Bay
b ORI B 1088 5%
1088 Zhenghe Road,
Shanghai

i LN
Shanghai Central Park
it R E [

Jiading District, Shanghai

NRGZ NP}

Shanghai Eternal Palace
i AR L I

Songjiang District, Shanghai

7 — i [C HE-mazw ez B — i
C — commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - Residential H — Hotel

=L N WL N bR
Nanchang Central Park Shanghai Central Park Shanghai Eternal Palace

SE R | 1]
Annual Report 2011
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FEY) ERE

Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S

HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H
BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion

LS B IE
Shanghai Wuzhong
Road Project

i S eh

‘Wuzhong Road, Shanghai

UM 5 S0 T
Bl A&
Hangzhou MIXc Office
& Serviced Apartment
AU T VT 86 [ Y 2 7
AR 70158

701 Fuchun Road,

Sijiging Street,

Jianggan District, Hangzhou

M Z LI H
Hangzhou Zhijiang
Project

B T Z L

Zhijiang Road, Hangzhou

SRS
Ningbo Tuscany Lake
Valley

S A B R

Donggianhu District, Ningbo

P EE R
Ningbo Cixi Central Park
ZEE TR

Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo

P e
Ningbo The Arch
ES R

Beilun District, Ningbo

7 ke 15— ey HE-mus 1F-n# VB — i
C' — commercial CP - car Park O - Office R - Residential H - notel

iR I H BB 2 EN]
Shanghai Wuzhong Ningbo Tuscany Lake Valley Ningbo The Arch
Road Project

SRR

Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S
HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H

BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
S AR RO [
Ningbo Yuyao Project
S A B R I
Chengdong New District,
Yuyao, Ningbo
JEME e U
Wuhan Landmark
Residence
TR R R

Minzhu Road, Wuchang District,
‘Wuhan

B
Wuhan Oak Bay
REATRE R

‘Wuchang District, Wuhan

wt LN
Wuhan Central Park
BT [

Hanyang District, Wuhan

AILEER
Hefei Palace Glorious
AT B R AR T ROK
Changjiang East Street,
Yaohai District, Hefei

i HESLE R

Hefei The Arch

£ M T OB [
Zhengwu District, Hefei

LR
Hefei Oak Bay
A T

Luyang District, Hefei

7~ e 15 — ey HE-maz 1wz I — e
C' — commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - Residential H - toter

B EA L BT s

Wuhan Landmark Residence Hefei The Arch Changsha Hanpu Project

—E R | 13
Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

A A
AW E A TRA R A R
HREAY R A A8 #kik20124£3 70
BERE Attributable Beneficial g A Approximate Unsold f5 5% R H 9 T4 LA DL
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area B Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
R B SR 100.00% 401,77 532,748 1 16%F2A gk
Changsha Phoenix City R February/16 Construction in
RbH R Progress
Changsha County, Changsha
R EHEH 100.00% 153,432 460,296 1 16411 A B
Changsha Hanpu Project R November/16 Construction in
RIDTI R WA AT Progress
Hanpu Town, Wangcheng
District, Changsha
NS TE H 65.00% 1,777,000 1,576,000 1 20472 f1 Al
Huizhou Xiaojing Bay R February/20 Planning in
Project Progress
A/
Xiaojing Bay, Huizhou
¥ A IE H 100.00% 3,036,900 954,986 /1 1847 A B
Hainan Shimei Bay R/C July/18 Construction in
Project Progress
AT A
Shimei Bay, Wanning
T P A 1 100.00% 446,224 706,689 & 16578 J1 Bk
Shenyang Oak Bay R August/16 Construction in
T 5 71 8 14 [ Progress
Yuhong District, Shenyang
T 5 B 100.00% 80,501 97,459 /1 164F12H B
Shenyang MIXc R/C December/16 Construction in
Residence Progress
1 B T 1 [
Heping District, Shenyang
B B oL M 100.00% 162,231 275,400 1,/ 134104 gk
Shenyang The Arch R/C October/13 Construction in
i Py T 4 [ Progress
Tiexi District, Shenyang
77— e 15 — sy HE - msz - 2 —
C - commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - residential H — Hotel

T P A FEETEIE H

Hainan Shimei Bay Project

e
Annual Report 2011

1 5 DL T

Shenyang MIXc Residence

e
Shenyang The Arch
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Schedule of Principal Properties

LA R A R 8 o e S
AN T P 2 [LESES #1k20124E3H7H

BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area R Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
W FZE R ILE
Shenyang The Bound
of Mukden
8 oy i VR [
Hunnan New District, Shenyang
R R
Dalian Maritime
IR 5 B

Binhai New District,
Dalian Development Zone,
Dalian

K 1 R
Dalian Oriental
Xanadu

R YT 11 A2 1
Xinhaiwan No.4 Road,
Shahekou District, Dalian

R 4 3
Dalian CR Plaza
KA H T [ P A
Zhonghua Road,
Ganjingzi District, Dalian

BSEE R

Anshan Parklane Manor
EAU: P

Tiedong District, Anshan

Bl 5 I H
Anshan Tsinghua
Tongfang Project
EATE T

Gaoxin District, Anshan

P s e B sz fE e T8 — e

C' - commercial CP - car park O - Office R - Residential H - rotet

I FEX I KA 2 LIRS L
Shenyang The Bound of Mukden Dalian CR Plaza Anshan Park Lane Manor

SF AR |15
Annual Report 2011
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FEY) ERE

Schedule of Principal Properties

A A B B e S

HE A B B HE 2 LR R #ik20124E307H
BRI Attributable Beneficial i v Approximate Unsold AT IR H ) V& B O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area i) Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion

RA G
Changchun Oak Bay

e Tl AR AR
Southern New City, Changchun

ey T T PR 4 T
FLEHE

N

IR
Harbin Fun Square
ey Y 7 A L o

Songbei District, Harbin

ERAT

Majestic Garden

T R [ A A

Jian Xiang Qiao, Chaoyang
District, Beijing

PHIRALIL

Eco Living

b R 2 A KA
305k

305 Guanganmenwai Avenue,
Xuanwu District, Beijing

Jt At
Beijing Oak Bay

A g 4
Qinghe, Haidian District,
Beijing

JEECHE P 1L
Beijing Positano Vita
A5 B I

Mentougou District, Beijing

ATCILE
Park Land
B3 PN

Daxing District, Beijing

7~ 2 1 ppnss - ff-nz T — i
C - Commercial CP - car Park O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

R 5 I T TR B b

Changchun Oak Bay Harbin Fun Square Beijing Positano Vita
e i

Annual Report 2011
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEZ A
AW E A TRA R A R
HREAY R A A8 #kik20124£3 70
B thin Attributable Beneficial S8 T Approximate Unsold fH % % H O
Properties under Interest of China Resources Approximate Gross Floor Area B Estimated Date State of
Development Land Limited Total Site Area As of 7 March 2012 Type of Completion Completion
R E — 4 100.00% 17,767 37,344 1,/ 7 i At
CR Building Phase 2 R/C N/A Planning in
5T 7 SR e Progress
Dongcheng District, Beijing
Jemti s 96.28% 141,496 I3 EEA
Beijing Others R Completed
e
Beijing
RKEFRA 100.00% 105,800 134,487 1 144F9H s
Tianjin Central Park R September/14 Construction in
R I T [ s B Progress
Jiulong Street,Shuanggang Town,
Jinnan District, Tianjin
KA A 100.00% 511,841 701,510 fr 18485 f] g
Tianjin Oak Bay R May/18 Construction in
R HE T 22 7 [ Progress
Konggang District, Tianjin
TR B 100.00% 65,000 224,000 1,/ T8 174F11A Giv by
Zhengzhou MIXc R/C November/17 Planning
Residence in Progress
WM T — Ll
27 District, Zhengzhou
J LIRS v 100.00% 185,400 389,267 1k 1647104 Bk
Tangshan Oak Bay R October/16 Construction in
JE WL BT Progress
Fenghuang New City, Tangshan
R & 5 100.00% 77,277 193,000 1 144710 S
Qinghuandao Oak Bay R October/14 Construction in
Z 5 5 B 8 [ 5 8 Progress
Huanghe Road,
Qinghuangdao Development Zone,
Qinghuangdao
7~ e 15 — b -z ft-pe I s
C' - commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - residential H - Hotel

K L [ I F S L8R
Tianjin Central Park Zbengzhou MIXc Residence Tangshan Oak Bay

—x sk | 17
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In 2011, the Group’s consolidated turnover and profit attributable to
shareholders reached HK$35,795 million and HK$8,070 million,
increased by 39.1% and 34.4% respectively over the corresponding
period of 2010. As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s earnings per
share increased by 23.7% year on year to HK147.7 cents, and net assets
per share increased by 22.4% to HK$10.4 over the same period of 2010.

The board of directors recommended a final dividend of HK16.6 cents
per share, together with the 2011 interim dividend of HK9.5 cents, the
annual dividend in 2011 amounted to HK26.1 cents per share, the
payout ratio in 2011 was 27.0%.

Business Review

2011 was a year with deepened policy tightening towards property
sector. During the year, the Group proactively implemented the
“balanced sales” policy and achieved substantial growth in both
revenue and profit attributable to shareholders. During the year under
review, the Group achieved consolidated turnover and profit
attributable to shareholders of HK$35,795 million and HK$8,070 million,
increased by 39.1% and 34.4% year on year respectively. Specifically,
the residential development business turnover amounted to HK$31,301
million, up 38.6% year on year; rental income from investment property
business including hotel operation totaled HK$2,792 million,
representing a year-on-year growth of 57.1%.
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Residential Development

In 2011, along with its expansion in business scale, the Group firmly
implemented its strategy to speed up asset turnover. As such, the Group
has streamlined its product lines, enriched its handbook for duplicable
products, and re-adjusted benchmark periods between land acquisition
and initial presale, all of which have effectively improved execution
efficiency. During the year under review, a total of seven projects
launched presales within 10 months after land acquisitions.

Meanwhile, in order to better cope with the impact of policy tightening
which has served to curb investment demands, the Group timely
adjusted its development strategies and its project positioning in
response to changing market conditions, with an aim to tailor its
products largely to meet end-user demands in its residential portfolio.
In 2011, Dalian Maritime and Hangzhou MIXc Residence were rewarded
with Tien-yow Jeme Civil Engineering Prize by China Civil Engineering
Society.

Investment Property

In 2011, Shenyang The MIXc shopping mall and CR Building as well as
Beijing Rainbow City came into operation on schedule, thus further
enlarged the Group’s investment property portfolio. The Group
strategically penetrated into more third-tier cities by adding land banks
suitable for “Residential + Rainbow City” typed developments that are
mixed with residential and commercial elements, while also making
strenuous efforts to speed up development and shorten development
cycle for investment property projects, including those for MIXc
developments.

Value-added Services

Value-added service is a unique component in the Group’s business
model and forms the core part of the Group’s overall competitiveness.
In 2011, the Group continuously strengthened the promotion and
innovation efforts in relation to its “standardized storage space product
series”, satisfactory accomplishments were achieved in standardizing
and patenting its product designs and in marketing products under
specifically-created brands. During the year, the Group obtained six
national patents in its “standardized and storage space product series”.
Other value-added services are also piloted and experimented with
satisfactory results, including those related to more optimal utilization of
public spaces, such as lobby and parking areas.

SRR AR
Annual Report 2011
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Land Bank

Persisting with its well-established and articulated business model, i.e.
“residential development + investment property + value-added
services”, the Group has acquired a total GFA of 9.42 million square
meters land bank since the beginning of 2011 in a strategy-guided
manner. Those projects shared the commonality in low land costs and
were mostly located in second- and third-tier cities where property
prices remained reasonable. As of 7 March 2012, the Group’s
geographic reach was further expanded to 39 cities with a total land
bank of GFA 29.85 million square meters, among which residential land
bank was 25.49 million square meters, investment property under
construction was 4.36 million square meters, and operating investment
property was 1.61 million square meters.

The Group has now established a land bank portfolio that is reasonably
balanced in its proportion for residential development and investment
properties, ideally diversified in its geographic reach, strategically
matching to the Group’s long term plan, and can largely support the
Group’s development needs in the coming years. While leveraging its
unparalleled advantages in its access to quality and low cost land bank
and to low cost funding, the Group would increase its quality land
reserves in a disciplined and strategy-guided manner and on a selective
basis while strictly adhering to its financial criteria, and maintaining an
ideal balance between the need of business development and financial
stability.

Financial Policy

In 2011, thanks to its prudent financial policies, the Group’s total
interest bearing debt ratio, net interest bearing debt ratio and EBITDA
to interest coverage ratio were all kept well under control within the
safe range determined by rating agencies. In the year under review,
both Standard & Poor and Moody’s assigned the Group “BBB” long-
term corporate credit rating.
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Outlook

In 2012, the Group will closely monitor market and keep ourselves alert
and swiftly responsive to changing market conditions. Despite tough
property market with certain challenges in 2012, the Group is confident
in its business outlook. On one hand, the Group’s residential bookable
GFA and value of saleable resources in 2012 will increase substantially
over 2011; on the other hand, the Group’s bookable and saleable
resources will spread over a greater number of cities and projects, and
with higher proportion from second- and third-tier cities, where end-
user demands dominate the markets. What’s more, rental income is
expected to have significant growth with Chengdu The MIXc and other
investment properties coming into stream this year. Contracted sales
from some non-residential products will also become the new engine
for contracted sales growth.

As of 7 March 2012, the Group has achieved contracted sales of
RMB4,371 million year to date. Together with the contracted value of
RMB30,980 million in property sales that was achieved before 2012 but
not yet recognized, the Group had a total contracted value of
RMB35,351 million to be recognized in 2012 and coming years.
Specifically, the Group has so far locked in RMB18,611 million in
development revenue for recognition in 2012, thus laying down a solid
foundation for promising financial results in 2012.

SRR AR
Annual Report 2011
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In 2011, the Group’s residential development and rental business
achieved satisfactory performance. For the year under review, both
sales and construction progress of the projects were in line with
expectation, laying down a solid foundation of for the performance of
2012.

Review of Residential Development Business
in 2011

In 2011, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB35,958 million, a
significant growth of 61.5% compared with that of 2010; total area sold
reached 2.98 million square meters, an increase of 36.5% over the same
period of 2010.
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TR - — R EHBESEENFER T Sales breakdown by cities during the year of 2011 are set out as
: follows:

EankaE S 45 T

Contracted Value Area Sold
NRHET T ; Tk
RMB’000 8 Sgm
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Project

ot

Oak Bay
PESRALLL

Eco Living
G
Positano Vita
AR
Park Land
ShEERLE

The Bound of Bund
e

Oak Bay
HRAE
Central Park
ETES

Jade City

i gih
Twenty-Four City
JBUEU
Phoenix City

1
Oak Bay
B
Ginkgo Park
F iR

Emerald Forest

SR
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=
Beijing
547
Beijing
54
Beijing
=
Beijing
i
Shanghai
i
Shanghai
L
Shanghai
FEHR
Chengdu
F A

Chengdu
FHb
Chengdu
FH
Chengdu
HHR
Chengdu

T H B

Project Type

FREELE

Mid-high density residential
REEEE

High density residential
P E

Mid-low density residential
PR E

Mid-low density residential
REEEE

High density residential
R E

Mid-low density residential
PR E

Mid-low density residential
REEEE

Mid-high density residential
REEEE

High density residential
mEEAE

High density residential
REEEE

High density residential
R E

Mid-low density residential
FREELE

Mid-high density residential

&1k

—B——%
+=H=+—H

Fjee 2 oE
T T
Accumulated

area sold

as of

Total GFA 31 Dec 2011
CPRK) CRRK)
(Sqm) (Sqm)
646,604 396,114
217,490 153,494
286,121 8,998
227,323 40,066
166,917 31,669
230,795 109,854
467,197 58,603
1,034,348 974,200
1,620,000 574,128
098,590 545,003
527,913 183,970
84 483 55,640
205,700 27,177

“F ok
RAETIH

Area sold
in 2011

CFAX)

(Sqm)

49,443
26,216
8,998
40,066
8,249
23,829
58,603
27,615
82,860
120978
116,867
43,733

27,177

Sales breakdown by the Group’s major projects in the year of 2011:

o
A

Average
selling price
in 2011
N 74
FIK)

(RMB/Sqm)

32,417
42,961
25856
24,984
101,111
43,481
25,923
16,403
12,932
9,022
7,673
9,303

9,168
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Bk
ZE—H
+ZA=+—H
#itcs  ZF—F ZFF
B T R FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2011 in 2011 in 2011
UN:: 74
(CFIK) (CF75K) (F7K) 77
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
b RS HREEREE 336,420 6,254 6,254 19,544
Jinyue Bay Chengdu Mid-low density residential
HRAE i R EEEE 346,696 215,440 34,669 11,885
Central Park Wuhan Mid-high density residential
fhE vt R 476,000 08,982 (8,982 11,189
Oak Bay Wuhan Mid-low density residential
RN K R 41,231 21,456 21,456 15,617
Landmark Residence ~ Wuhan High density residential
AR Bl FREEEE 200,185 200,185 20,567 5711
Park Lane Manor Hefei Mid-high density residential
HEN i REEEE 199,500 178,965 56,682 8,274
Palace Glorious Hefei High density residential
o Al FREEEE 677,600 37,025 37,025 6,520
Oak Bay Hefei Mid-high density residential
b i REEEE 618,292 20,460 20,460 8,986
The Arch Hefei High density residential
A A i3 FEEEEE 1,246,623 069,934 252,751 9,785
Taihu Intl Community ~ Wuxi Mid-low density residential
B b7 FREREE 260,000 15,224 15,224 20,251
MIXc Residence Wuxi Mid-high density residential
FRAE R PR LT 284,348 181,818 52,062 17,857
Central Park Cixi Mid-low density residential
SLIEM i hEEEEE 196,000 21,103 21,103 17,154
The Arch Ningbo Mid-high density residential
BiRETH K PREEEE 166,662 84,397 19,124 45,770
Oriental Xanadu Dalian Mid-low density residential
il PN HEEEEE 1,309,592 490,478 116,932 9,384
Maritime Dalian Mid-high density residential

“FREFR |25
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+ZA=+—H
RiOE Sk Sk
B T R FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2011 in 2011 in 2011
UN:: 74
(FI7K) (F7K) (F7K) FIK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
BB, ’Y REEEE 1,155,439 650,425 190,089 5,806
Phoenix City Changsha High density residential
P M EEEMLE 67,595 31,947 12,223 35,353
Suzhou Villa Suzhou Low density residential
REELE L3l PREEEE 285,987 36,458 36,458 25,792
The Bound of Kunyu  Suzhou Mid-low density residential
B RN HR A E 362,543 27,907 27,907 11,182
Oak Bay Suzhou Mid-high density residential
B V& REEEE 144,313 41,488 41,488 22,165
MIXc Residence Shenyang High density residential
FEr 4 LT 280,000 205,385 67,581 13,120
The Arch Shenyang High density residential
B &I R AR 892,414 182,840 147,611 7,850
Oak Bay Shenyang Mid-high density residential
BHES 4 R Liss 252,040 9,808 9,808 8,234
CR Plaza Shenyang High density residential
e b BE FHEEE 1,738,900 437413 101,922 6,834
Twenty-Four City Chongging High density residential
AR gl BEEEE 572,665 152,043 79,246 7,168
Central Park Chongging High density residential
fhE 1 BT 307,830 12,365 12,365 12,314
Oak Bay Xiamen High density residential
fhE Kt FEE T 152,200 6,147 6,147 9,578
Oak Bay Tianjin Mid-low density residential
FRAE K FEE T 706,341 25,277 25,277 11,906
Central Park Tianjin Mid-low density residential
FRAE b FREREE 758,118 95,232 49,616 6,145
Central Park Mianyang Mid-high density residential
B M PR R 603,108 209,367 90,889 11,450
Oak Bay Fuzhou Mid-low density residential

26 | ==
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71
S
FZAS R
RiOE Sk Sk
HEER T o9 A FHEH
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2011 in 2011 in 2011
N 74
(EF %) (CFHK) CEFK) Frk)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
B AL W hRBELE 1,243,354 77,046 77,046 6,942
CR Int'l Community Changzhou Mid-high density residential
Als] R REELE 277,792 12,492 12,492 25,120
MIXc Residence Nanjing High density residential
B R hRBELE 415,200 80,550 80,550 9,897
Oak Bay Nantong Mid-high density residential
B i R E 200,260 47,447 47,447 8,711
Oak Bay Yangzhou Mid-low density residential
B FEL hRBELE 463,400 74,543 74,543 10,736
Oak Bay Tangshan Mid-high density residential
AtENLE e REEEE 967,062 14,728 14,728 27971
The Bound of Wanning Low density residential
Shimei Bay
T ] AL M REELE 792,500 34277 34,277 7,430
CR Int'l Community Taizhou High density residential
FRA R it REEEE 444,600 60,612 60,612 6,317
Central Park Zibo High density residential
BHE B hEEEAE 350,000 30,492 30,492 5,763
Oak Bay Yancheng Mid-high density residential

R AEEEBA EHEERE During 2011, the Group’s residential development business achieved a
SERWE 313,018 70 > A AL 55 216.61  wurnover of HK$31,301 million with 2.17 million square meters being
PO oK B AR [E] A 43 B 4R 38.69% Al recognized, representing a year on year growth of 38.6% and 21.0%
21.0% o & ——4FAE T B 1 B A respectively. Gross profit margin of the residential development
H1539.5% 0l EAERY39.4% A2 > £ business rose slightly from 39.4% in 2010 to 39.5% in 2011, mainly
BREL ZEFE-—FLHAAHEENAEHERE  because the average selling price of the bookable projects delivered in
Lo EAEA BT 2011 was slightly higher than that of 2010.

—x sk | 27
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RAEE - F ——AFTEH &S BA S NS 240 Detils of the projects booked and turnover of the Group in 2011 are
RN - listed below:

R AR
Project Name Revenue Area Booked
(% H°000) (FI7K)

|

HK$’000) (Sqm)

A AR
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Project Name

SR AR DS > ASSE A TH H AR AR
T A0 B B ORI Y B AR -

HE T -"HF=HLH > CEBZELH
N R W43 714870 - 855 M FE 394,511 °F 7
Ko Ay Al T — AR R R 11.1% M
14.7% ° #[A] = F ——4F K 2§ 2 5 B8
B H MR & A 1Y 2R 49 BN IR 300.80 &
gL RO E—THFEZHAEH > AREELH
AE%%B&%%%EE%&%%%%@
FrlEfEasE - > B8HE/N
EW@%W’%%@E@A&%% 111
JG o BAREEIE R AR AR E B
R R AR T R R o

AR
Area Booked
(FI7K)

(Sqm)

/Hﬁ‘u%au

Revenue
(#5 % °000)
(HK$°000)

Since the beginning of 2012, the Group has maintained its momentum
in project sales and has achieved satisfactory sales performance. As of 7
March 2012, the Group has achieved contracted sales of RMB4,371
million with total contracted GFA of 394,511 square meters, representing
a year on year growth of 11.1% and 14.7% respectively. Together with
contracted sales of RMB30,980 million that were achieved before 2012
but remained unbooked, as at 7 March 2012, the Group has achieved a
total of RMB35,351 million in sales that are contracted but unbooked
and are available for recognition in 2012 and years to come. Specifically,
the Group has locked up revenue of RMB18,611 million from the
residential development for recognition in 2012, thus laying down a
solid foundation for promising financial results in the year of 2012.

ST AR
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Investment Property

JemEERE R E Beijing CR Building

3t 5 e A Beijing Others
iR ES Shanghai CR Times Square
YR L Shenzhen City Crossing
B & S35 Hangzhou The MIXc
AV S Shenyang The MIXc
oAt b AU Other Rental Income
BRI 1535 5 Shenzhen Grand Hyatt
ayi2 3e 3 Shimei Bay Le Meridien
WEE Property Management
e i
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Review of Investment Property Business in
2011

As of 31 December 2011, book value of the investment properties of
the Group totalled HK$29,589 million, accounted for 16.4% of the
Group’s total assets value. In compliance with relevant accounting
policies, the Group has conducted an evaluation for its investment
properties, including projects under construction, and a revaluation gain
of HK$2,453 million (net off taxation and minority interests) was
booked during the year based on an appraisal performed by an
independent third party. In 2011, the turnover of investment property
business including hotel business amounted to HK$2,792 million,
representing a year-on-year growth of 57.1%.

The following table sets out the turnover and average occupancy rates
of the key investment properties in the year of 2011:

BEF B 000)
Turnover (HK$°000)
AL
%)

yoy (%)

FH AL (%)

Average Occupancy Rate (%)

yoy (pt)

161,903 149,944 8.0% 99.0% 98.1% 1.0%
240,622 160,642 49.8% 99.4% 95.8% 3.6%
238,614 207,278 15.1% 99.5% 99.1% 0.4%
983,960 760,633 29.4% 94.5% 97.1% -2.6%
334,112 126,779 163.5% 98.5% 89.3% 9.2%
155,215 N/A N/A 93.5% N/A N/A

79,845 19,155 N/A N/A N/A N/A
456,892 281,499 62.3% 66.8% 68.2% -1.5%
140,695 70,650 99.1% 50.9% 29.1% 21.8%
430,379 287,231 49.8% N/A N/A N/A
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* not including Beijing Phoenix Plaza Service Apartment, Beijing Rainbow
City West, Beijing CR Building Ph. 2, Shanghai Bund Side Service
Apartment, Shanghai Wuzhong Road Project Commercial Property,
Chengdu Jade City Commercial Property, Chengdu Twenty-Four City
Commercial Property, Chengdu Oak Bay Commercial Property, Chengdu
Jinyue Bay Commercial Property, Chengdu Ginkgo Park Commercial
Property, Chengdu Emerald Forest Commercial Property, Hefei Park Lane
Manor Commercial Property, Hefei The MIXc, Hangzhou The MIXc Ph. 2
Commercial Property, Wuxi Taihu Int’l Community Commercial Property,
Ningbo Yuyao Project Commercial Property, Dalian Oriental Xanadu
Hotel, Dalian CR Plaza Commercial Property, Changsha Phoenix City,
Suzhou Oak Bay Commercial Property, Shenyang City Crossing Hotel,
Shenyang The Arch Commercial Property, Chongqing Twenty-Four City
Commercial Property, Mianyang Central Park Commercial Property,
Changzhou CR Int’l Community Commercial Property, Anshan Park Lane
Manor Commercial Property, Qingdao City Crossing Commercial Property,
Zhengzhou The MIXc, Changchun Oak Bay Commercial Property, Hainan
Shimei Bay Commercial Property, Harbin Songbei Project Commercial
Property, Taizhou CR Int'l Community Commercial Property, Zibo Central
Park Commercial Property, Yancheng Oak Bay Commercial Property,
Huizhou Xiaojing Bay Project Hotel, Ganzhou Zhangjiang New District
Project Commercial Property, and Rizhao Donggang District Project
Commercial Property, all of which are currently under construction
involving a total gross floor area of 4,362,439 square meters.

In the future, the Group will focus more on investment property,
especially commercial property. Moreover, the Group plans to launch
one to two investment property projects each year. The stable and
recurrent rental income has offered the Group greater operational
resilience to defend itself against industry’s cyclicality and will help
optimize the Group’s earnings sustainability.

Review of Value-added Services in 2011

Guided by customers’ needs, the Group further strengthened its
differentiated business model in its value-added services. The creative
“standardized and serialized storage space solution” and “flexible/
adjustable furniture for small apartments” have been applied to 32
projects of the Group and have been well received by customers. In the
meantime, the Group plans to standardize and patent its product
designs and market products under specifically-created brands.

In 2011, value-added services were broadened in its scope and were
further piloted in Beijing, Wuhan and Fuzhou. The preliminary results
have been encouraging. The Group successfully developed value-added
services by adding more functions in public spaces, such as in lobby
and car parking, in order to better utilize the available spaces, namely
by adding club function in public lobby and storage, adding automobile
service function in car parking areas, and providing personalized car
parking logo and dedicated parking areas for large vehicles. Recently
we have initiated the national patent application process for some of
the products and systems we developed in relation to our value-added
services.
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Meanwhile, through maximizing operational synergies among city
companies, Uconia and Logic Furniture, the Group has fully leveraged
its professional strength in interior decoration as well as furniture design
and manufacturing, and thus created a new management model for
general contractors of decoration services, which has obviously
enhanced decoration quality, reduced costs and improved work
efficiency. Currently, this new model is being promoted within the
Group.

Land Bank

Since the beginning of 2011, the Group has acquired a total GFA of 9.42
million square meters of land bank with a total cost of RMB19,524
million (including HK$7,002 million consideration paid for assets
acquired from China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited). As of 7
March 2012, the total land bank of the Group amounted to 29.85 million
square meters in terms of GFA. Details are set out below:

A ST A
CFIik)
Total GFA
(Sqm)



_a

P

™

-

'

B v v BEL 4 A

Management Discussion and Analysis

IRLE 5L 5T 48 TT U AL AT P 1 T H A9
2 45 100.0% > 5 B L 5 1R 4 1 E H 19 HE
$398.2% » A £ [ 1k b 50 bl LAl - A
96.5% 2 W7k 5 ALE ] (| g R o 55 T H HE 7
H950.0% » A5 ZE [ 5 |- 57 % 4 155 TE H HE 77 09
99.8% > A £E B ff | A M IE I A L M
100.0% 2 s 5 75 5E 3] i 40 ] A b 71 85 2K ]
[ [55 #1- i TE H 11 18 7 2] 2 60.0% 5 A< 5 B ik 8
I HLE P IE H B9 HE2S 75 50.0% 5 AN 2E B 14 K #
JE A T HETE H B HE RS 45 55.0% > AN 5E K
2B B3 T H B HE 25 75 60.0% 5 A SE B AL T
525 K LB IE H HEZS1951.0% 5 2555 [3] 15 K 13
iy I 1 5 1 1 R 7k 1 98.2% 5 A HE [ G B
TH H 25 74 96.5% 7 5 [B] fil 5 35k 45 41 55 1 H
Y HE 23 25 52.0% 5 A5 £E B 1k B T H 19 7 7%
65.0% ; AN LE ] {76 52 5 #2401 1 T I 19 HE s 2%
96.5% ; < SE [B] fil 55 M 22 7L i TE H 19 75 A
55.0% ° Ak I H S8 A 5E [ {1 H il T
H 100.0% 19 HE 25 -

o ol 44 7 AR S B SE ARG B A R —
FFE TR o ARG h X AR A Y 31
@ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬂﬁﬁ%w@%ﬁﬁﬁ@Mﬁ

?H

M ﬁ%‘%ﬂ‘ﬁﬁ‘%%%‘
[~ H)

R AR R R > 1E
PRSP TR A A4 1 > A7 14 1 M g e
A B T B R AR
A2 I A R A 3 A1 T L

A g S T A
CEIk)

Total GFA
(Sqm)

* The Group holds 100.0% interest in both Beijing Park Land and Beijing
Positano Vita Projects, 98.2% in Beijing Oak Bay Project and 96.5% in all
other projects in Beijing; the Group holds 50% interest in Shanghai
Wuzhong Road Project, 99.8% in Shanghai Oak Bay Project and 100.0% in
all other projects in Shanghai; the Group’s interests in Hangzhou and
Wuxi Taihu International Community Project are both 60.0%; the Group
holds 50.0% interest in Ningbo The Arch Project, the Group’s interest in
Dalian Oriental Xanadu is 55.0%, and the Group’s interest in Dalian CR
Plaza is 60.0%; the Group holds 51.0% interest in Shenyang The Bound of
Fengtian Project; the Group’s interests in Tianjin projects are 98.2% and its
interest in Qingdao project is 96.5%; the Group also holds 52.0% interest
in Yancheng Oak Bay project, 65.0% interest in Huizhou project, 96.5%
interest in Qinhuangdao Oak Bay, and 55.0% interests in Ganzhou
Zhangjiang New District project. Other than the above mentioned projects,
the Group holds 100.0% interest in all other projects.

Sufficient land bank has laid a solid foundation for the Group’s
sustainable growth in the future. Compared with the same period of last
year, the Group’s geographic presence has been expanded from 31 to
39 cities (with the addition of Nanjing, Changzhou, Yancheng, Huizhou,
Weihai, Qinhuangdao, Ganzhou and Rizhao).

Looking forward, the Group will continue to replenish new land bank
according to its business development strategies while maintaining
prudent financial policies. Future land bank acquisitions will be funded
by the Group’s internal resources together with external financing.
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Borrowings and Debt Ratio, Asset Pledge,
and Risk of Exchange Rate Fluctuations

In May and July 2011, the Group successfully issued overseas senior
notes of US$750 million and US$250 million respectively, both at the
coupon rate of 4.625% with a tenor of 5 years.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group had a total debt of HK$60,725
million equivalent. Cash and bank balances amounted to HK$15,368
million. The Group’s net interest-bearing debt to equity ratio (including
non-controlling interests) stood at 68.3%.

As of 31 December 2011, 41.0% of the Group’s interest-bearing debt
was denominated in Renminbi and 59.0% was denominated in Hong
Kong & US Dollar. Maturity wise, approximately 36.3% of the interest-
bearing debt is repayable within one year while the rest is long term.
The Group has maintained its borrowing cost at a relatively low level,
and the weighted average interest rate of its total interest-bearing
borrowings for the year of 2011 was around 3.6%.

BE—_F ——4FE+_H=+—H > RKEHE Detils of the Group’s assets being pledged as of 31 December 2011 are
HEKMEW W listed below:
WESH
N ) G H B4 B
Total Facility
Quota
HHIE H Pledged Project (RMB’000) Starting Date Ending Date
k¢ 3 NI Beijing CR Building 700,000 2008.12.22 2013.12.22
FiRRES Shanghai Times Square 1,000,000 2009.07.20 2016.07.20
TRIINEE S Shenzhen The MIXc 1,500,000 2010.09.03 2020.08.25
I DL 5 Shenzhen Grand Hyatt 1,500,000 2010.12.31 2020.12.26
RS 24 SRIE H 13 950 L M6 FABE Land Use Right of Chengdu 24 City 390,000 2011.10.31 2014.10.31
Block 13
S5 KW B R AL R H C4 3% Land Use Right of Block C4, 300,000 2010.09.15 2013.09.14
f14 1 b {1 R Wuxi Taihu Int'l Community
e S5 M0 R — ) 1 3t £ P Land Use Right of Wuxi MIXc 380,000 2011.03.08 2013.12.31
Residence Ph. 1
RERBESIIEE ZMHET  Land Use Right of 360,000 2011.04.28 2018.08.22
K T A - el A Dalian Xanadu Ph. 2 residential
and Xanadu Hotel
R L
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The Group’s residential and investment properties are all located in
Mainland China. We do not expect Renminbi appreciation, if any, to
have negative impact on the Group’s financial position.

Employee and Compensation Policy

As of 31 December 2011, the Group had approximately 15,920 full time
staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including its property
management and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and the prevailing
market pay level. In addition, performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage.

Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released
by banks upon the delivery of the properties to the purchasers or
completion of the relevant mortgage properties registration, whichever
is later. In the opinion of directors, the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts is not significant.
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MR. WANG YIN, aged 55

was appointed as Chairman of the Company in June 2009. He is
responsible for the overall business development and strategic planning
of the Group’s business. He is also the Vice Chairman of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and a Director of China Vanke
Co., Ltd, which is a listed company in China. Mr. Wang has a Bachelor
of Economics degree from Shangdong University in China and an MBA
degree from the University of San Francisco in the United States. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1984 and joined
the Company in 2001.

MR. WU XIANGDONG, aged 44

was appointed as Managing Director of the Company in June 2009. Mr.
Wu has a double Bachelor’s degree in Architectural Management and
Mechanics from Tsinghua University, China and an MBA degree from
the University of San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Wu has
experience in corporate management and commercial property
operation. Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1993 and was the Vice General Manager of China Resources Property
Management Limited. He joined the Company in 2005.

MR. YAN BIAO, aged 50

was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in August 1996
and was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in February 2006. Mr.
Yan is a Director of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and
China Resources National Corporation and is the Director of Legal
Affairs of the China Resources Group. He is also a Non-Executive
Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited. Mr. Yan was appointed
Supervisor of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd
in November 2010. Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the
Peking University, China and an MBA degree from the University of San
Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1985.

MR. DU WENMIN, aged 48

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in August
2007. Mr. Du is currently a Vice President and Chief Human Resources
Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also
the Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company, China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited, and China
Resources Microelectronics Limited. He is also a Director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Mr. Du served as a
Managing Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited
and the Chief Audit Executive of the Internal Audit and Supervision
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du
has an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco, USA. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.
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MR. DING JIEMIN, aged 54

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2008. Mr. Ding is currently an Assistant to the President of Tongji
University, the President of Tongji Architectural Design (Group) Co.,
Ltd. He is also the Chairman of Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology
Industrial Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Stock Exchange of Shanghai,
China. Mr. Ding holds the certificates for a China national class 1
registered structural engineer, a registered consultant engineer (in
investment), and a senior registered structural engineer in British Royal
Institution of Structural Engineers. He has a doctor’s degree in
engineering from Tongji University, China.

MR. WEI BIN, aged 42

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in October
2010. He has been appointed the Chief Financial Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited with effect from 1 April 2011
and is the General Manager of its Finance Department. He is also a
Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China
Resources Gas Group Limited, China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China
Resources Microelectronics Limited, which are companies listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange except China Resources
Microelectronics Limited whose listing position was withdrawn on 2
November 2011, and a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in China
and a Master’s degree in Finance from Jinan University in China, and is
a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a
non-practising member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wei joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 2001.
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MR. SHI SHANBO, aged 46

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in October
2010. He is the Assistant President and was the audit Director of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. He is also a Non-executive
Director of China Resources Enterprises, Limited, China Resources
Microelectronics Limited (its listing position was withdrawn on 2
November 2011) and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited. He is also a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He worked as a Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and a
General Manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Co., Ltd. He
was the Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010.
He was also the Vice Chairman and General Manager of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited which is listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He holds a Master’s degree in Economics from
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Shi joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1991.

Dr. ZHANG HAIPENG, aged 40

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in October
2010. Dr. Zhang is the CEO of China Resources Healthcare Group
Limited. He is also a director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group
Limited, China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, China Resources (Shenyang) Sanyo
Compressor Co., Ltd. and China Resources Asset Management Limited,
a non-executive director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Microelectronics Limited, as well as a supervisor of China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Limited. Dr. Zhang used to be the General
Manager of Strategy Management Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. Prior to joining China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, Dr. Zhang was a Partner of McKinsey &
Company. Dr. Zhang also worked at China Merchants Holdings
(International) Company Limited as Director of Internal Control and
Auditing. Dr. Zhang received a MBA degree from Goizueta Business
School, Emory University in the USA and a M.D. degree from Peking
Union Medical College. Dr. Zhang joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in July 2009.

MR. WANG SHI, aged 61

was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in April 1997. Mr. Wang is also the Chairman of China Vanke Co., Ltd,
which is listed on the Stock Exchange of Shenzhen, China. Mr. Wang is
also an Independent Non-Executive Director of SOHU.Com Inc., Central
China Real Estate Group Limited, Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion and
Accessories Co., Ltd. and Modern Media Holdings Limited. He has a
Bachelor of Science degree from Lanzhou Railway College in China.
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ANDREW Y. YAN, aged 54

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director in July 2006. He
also serves as the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration Committee.
He is currently the Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining
SAIF Partners, he was the Managing Director and Head of Hong Kong
office of Emerging Markets Partnership from 1994 to 2001. From 1993
to 1994, he worked at Sprint International Corporation as the Director
of Strategic Planning and Business Development for the Asia Pacific
Region. From 1990 to 1993, he worked in the World Bank and the
Hudson Institute as an Economist and Research Fellow respectively in
Washington, DC. From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the
Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan received a bachelor’s degree in
engineering from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in
the Master Program in Department of Sociology of Peking University
from 1984-1986 and also studied advanced finance & accounting
courses at the Wharton Business School in 1995. He received a Master
of Arts’ degree from Princeton University in International Political
Economy in 1989.

Currently, Mr. Yan is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Fosun International Limited; Non-executive Director of Digital China
Holdings Limited, MOBI Development Co., Ltd., NVC Lighting Holding
Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited and eSun Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He is also an Independent Director of Giant Interactive
Group Inc., (listed on the New York Stock Exchange); Director of
Acorn International Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange), ATA
Inc. (listed on Nasdaq) and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd.
(listed on the Small and Medium Enterprise Board of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange).

MR. HO HIN NGAI, BOSCO, aged 67

was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in September 2005. Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked in several
renowned architectural practices in UK and HK before founding Ho &
Partners Architects Engineers and Development Consultants Limited in
1980. He is Authorized Person (Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute of British Architects.
The projects he designed can be found in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
India, South-East Asia and Middle East, he has published a book called
“Building in China”.
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MR. WAN KAM TO, PETER, aged 59

was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in March 2009. Mr. Wan has been a practicing accountant in Hong
Kong for over 30 years and has extensive experience in auditing,
finance, advisory and management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong firm. Mr. Wan is currently an
Independent Director of Mindray Medical International Limited (a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, USA), and RDA
Microelectronics, Inc. (a company listed on the NASDAQ), and the
Chairman of their Audit Committees. Mr. Wan is also an Independent
Non-executive Director of several companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Chairman/member of their Audit
Committees, namely, Dalian Port (PDA) Company Limited, Fairwood
Holdings Limited, GreaterChina Professional Services Limited and
Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited. Mr. Wan was also
Independent Non-executive Director of Real Gold Mining Limited and
Chairman of its Audit Committee. He is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

MR. FREDERICK MA SI HANG, GBS, JP, aged 60

was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in March 2010. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of Hong Kong in
1973 with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in economics and
history. Mr. Ma has held senior management positions in international
financial institutions and Hong Kong publicly listed companies in his
career. In July 2002, he left the private sector and joined the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury and assumed the post
of Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development in July 2007.
He resigned from the Government in July 2008 due to medical reasons.
In October 2008, he was appointed as an Honorary Professor of the
School of Economics and Finance at the University of Hong Kong. In
July 2009, he was appointed as a Member of the International Advisory
Council of China Investment Corporation. In July 2010, he was
appointed as a Director of Husky Energy Inc. In March 2011, he was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Hutchison Port
Holdings Management Pte. Limited and a Non-Executive Director of
COFCO Corporation. In April 2011, he was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Agricultural Bank of China.
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MR. TANG YONG, aged 40

is a Senior Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of
the Company’s Chengdu Region. Mr. Tang has a Bachelor’s degree of
Engineering in Industrial and Electrical Automation from Tongji
University, China and an MBA degree from the University of San
Francisco in the United States. Mr. Tang has experience in property
management and corporate management. Mr. Tang joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993, and had worked for
China Resources Property Management Limited. He joined the Company
in 2002.

MR. WANG HONG KUN, aged 44

was appointed as Senior Vice President of the company in January
2011, he is also the General Manager of the Company’s Hainan
Province. Mr. Wang has a Bachelor of Chemical engineering degree and
a Master degree in biochemical industry, both from Tianjin University.
Mr. Wang joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993
and was the Deputy General Manager of Enterprise Development
Department, and also was Vice President of China Resources Vanguard
Co., Ltd, and also was the director of CRC Development & Investment
Company Limited, with comprehensive experiences in the management
of multi-industries as well as investment management. He joined the
Company in 2010.

MR. ZHAO ZHUOYING, aged 46

was appointed as Vice President and CFO of the Company in June
2011. Mr. Zhao holds a Master’s degree in Economics from Zhongshan
University in China. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 19806, and has nearly 20 years’ experience in financial
management. Mr. Zhao worked as the manager of Finance Department
of Teck Soon Hong Ltd., a Director and Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Machinery & Minmetals (Holdings) Co., Ltd, a
Executive Director of Cosmos Machinery Enterprises Limited and the
Director and CFO of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Limited.

MR. WANG GUOHUA, aged 49

is the CFO of the Company. Mr. Wang received his Bachelor’s degree in
Inorganic Refractory Materials Engineering from Wuhan Polytech
University and then Master of Science degree in International Banking
and Finance from Heriott-Watt University in Edinburgh, the UK, as a
recipient of Senior Scholarship of British Foreign Office and the only
winner of the Professorial Prize of the Business School of Heriott-Watt
University in his academic year. He joined the company in 2006. Prior
to that, Mr. Wang had worked for over 10 years in Edinburgh, London
and Hong Kong respectively with several renowned international
investment banks in areas of fund management, equity research and
corporate finance.
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Construction Quality, Environmental
Protection, Energy Conservation and

Emission Control

As an integrated property company, the Company has always persisted
in high standards of construction quality, which is inspected by an
independent third party, and strictly controlled quality in every aspect
of production development. While continuing building up on the
principle of “fine design criteria” and “the high quality of engineering
standard”, in 2011, both Dalian Maritime and Hangzhou MIXc Residence
won the Gold Medal of Tien-yow Jeme Outstanding Residential
Community.

The Group considers environmental protection as a vital part of
corporate social responsibility and implements this responsibility into its
business operations. According to the criteria for the classification of
product lines, the Group developed a green technology which can be
widely applied, and integrated the environmental protection and
energy-saving concepts into project planning and design, landscaping
design, usage of construction materials, property management, etc. The
Group adapted the technology of external shading, Low-E glass and
solar energy into residential projects, and proactively applies newly
designed environmental friendly technology into up-and-running
investment property, while adopts energy-saving technology into
operational investment properties. For the year of 2011, Chengdu
Twenty-Four City project was rewarded with one star in green design,
Ning Mansion and Nanning Park Lane Manor both won two stars in
green design.

In the future, in response to the national call of building energy-saving
and environment-friendly society, the company will extend the usage of
low carbon technology to create a harmonious living and shopping
environment, providing cities with better life.
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Social Philanthropy

The Group promotes the idea of repaying back to society and hosted
various activities such as “Education Sponsor” and “Visit with Heart”.
Under coordination of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
(“CRH"), the Group leveraged its expertise in real estate development
and participated in the Hope Village projects in order to provide
industrial aid and a comfortable living environment for local farmers.
Recently, the Group has built up two Hope Villages in Guangxi Baise
and Hebei Xibaipo. Apart from this, the Group has involved in planning
and construction of Hope Villages located in Beijing Miyun, Hunan

Shaoshan and Hainan Wanning.

BRI E B

Visit to Senior Center

[HEBE - (EFR | B P ER S
“Growth with care from CR Land” Left — bebhind
Children Summer Camp
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Migrant Workers Primary School Repairment

[—E5G1 - FEFHBE | R T BZ178)
“Together with CR Land” Sanitation Workers
Public Welfare Activity
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Staff Training and Development

The year of 2011 is the beginning year of the Group’s twelfth Five-year
Strategic Planning and Talent Strategy Planning. The staff training
program was carried out orderly and has achieved encouraging
progress.

The Group’s top management training plan — “CR Land 70’s Class” was
successfully completed and there were 38 senior managers graduated
from the training course. This training plan has enhanced their
“commercial consciousness and the insight” together with their
leadership capability. Through subject tasks, a number of significant
strategic issues for the development of the Company have been
discussed and solved, and has built a “simple, honest and bright”
organizational culture for the Group. In the past two years, these 38
senior managers have successfully transferred their job positions or
roles, undertaking more important and challenging operational and
management responsibilities.
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According to the Leadership Competency Model of CRH, the Group
developed its own model for middle management. Based on this
model, the Company assessed the leadership capacity of 650 mid-level
managers. According to the feedbacks on capacity gap reflected by the
evaluations together with the requirement of organizational capacity,
the Company designed a leadership development program for those
managers. Up to the end of 2011, there were 845 mid-level managers
from 10 regional headquarters participated in this program. Further,
several regional headquarters designed personnel development
programs in order to expand the mid-level management base. There
were 292 staff participated in this development project.

In order to fulfill the demand of talent during the twelfth five-year
planning, the Company recruited 1,020 new graduates and has sent
them to front-line business. There were 914 graduates participated in
“New Employee Orientation” — a one and half month training camp
for newly recruited staff. This training program helps promote their
understanding of enterprise culture, management flow and job
requirement in order to build up an ideal working team and lay a stable
human resources foundation for the rapid development of the
Company.
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The Company recognises the importance of maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to the long-term stable development of the
Group. The Company has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and complied
with all the code provisions set out in the Code for the time being in
force throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, with the exception
of deviation from Code Provision A.4.1. A review of the Company’s
corporate governance in 2011 and the manner in which the Company
has applied the principles in the Code are set out as follows:

A.1The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
issuer and for the overall enhancement of the issuer’s business
towards success. The Board should make objective decisions to
the interests for the issuer.

. As at 31 December 2011, the Board of the Company
comprised 13 directors, including 2 executive directors, 6
non-executive directors and 5 independent non-executive
directors. Members of the Board are not related to each
other and the Chairman is not related to the members of the
Board, including financial, business, family or other
significant relationship. In accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules, the Company has received confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive directors
confirming their independence.
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Name of Director

The Board meets at least four times a year, to review the
financial performance of the Company, any major agenda
and other matters requiring decision of the Board. Four
meetings were held by the Board in 2011. The attendance
of directors in meetings is detailed as follows:

Hi R ek U

Attendance

All directors have access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that
Board procedures are complied with;

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees
are kept by a designated secretary and are available for the
inspection of directors upon notice of a reasonable period,;

The Board has established a policy for directors to seek
professional advice, whereby directors may seek
independent professional advice after appropriate
procedures at the Company’s expense;

If a substantial shareholder or director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, such matter shall not
be considered by means of document circulation.
Independent non-executive directors who have no
significant interests in the transaction shall attend the
relevant Board meeting.

Deviation: None.
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A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Every issuer should have two key aspects of the management:
management of the Board and day-to-day management of the
issuers’ business. On the Board level, the two aspects must be
clearly distinguished to ensure a balanced allocation of power
and authority.

The posts of Chairman and Managing Director of the Company
are held separately by Mr. Wang Yin and Mr. Wu Xiangdong
respectively. The segregation of duties of the Chairman and the
Managing Director ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage the Board and the Managing Director’s
responsibility to manage the Company’s day to day business.

Deviation: None.

A.3Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the issuer, and
should ensure that any change in composition shall not cause any
undue disruption. The Board should have a balanced composition
of executive and non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) to ensure the adequate independence of
the board so that independent judgment can effectively be
exercised. There should be a sufficient number of non-executive
directors with appropriate skills for their views to carry weight.

. Members of the Board and their biographical details are set
out on Pages 39 to 43. All corporate correspondence which
sets out names of directors clearly state the identity of each
director, including executive director, non-executive director
and independent non-executive directors.

Deviation: None.
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A.4 Appointments, Re-election and Removal
The Board should formulate formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment of new directors, and establish
orderly plans for the succession of directors. All directors should
be re-elected regularly and issuer should state reasons for any
resignation or removal of directors.

The Board has set up a Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference. It’s duties included those
required under Code Provision A.4.5(a) to (d) for the time
being in force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (which will come into effect on 1 April
2012), the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
was revised on 9 March 2012 and are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2011, members of Nomination
Committee included four independent non-executive
directors namely Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y.
Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang and one
executive director namely Mr. Wang Yin (Chairman). The
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and to make
recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director
candidate. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee are then put forward for consideration and
adoption, when appropriate, by the Board.

No meeting was held by the Nomination Committee during
the year.

The experience and views of independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard. The Company has
appointed 5 independent non-executive directors, exceeding
the minimum requirements under the Listing Rules for the
time being in force relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors. The detailed
biographies are set out on Pages 41 to 43.
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Deviation: Except independent non-executive director Mr. Andrew
Y. Yan has been appointed for fixed term of three years, all
directors of the Company (including executive and non-executive
directors) are not appointed for a fixed period, but the articles of
association of the Company stipulate that every director (including
executive and non-executive directors) shall retire and be re-
elected at least once every three years. Therefore, the Company
has adopted adequate measures to ensure the corporate
governance of the Company complies with the same level to that
required under the Code.

A.5 Responsibilities of Directors

All directors are required to keep abreast of their responsibilities
as a director of an issuer and of the conduct, business activities
and development of that issuer. Since the Board is an overall
group in substance, non-executive and executive directors should
equally be required to act in a cautious and skillful manner.

. Every newly appointed director shall receive a
comprehensive and formal induction on the responsibilities
of directors and to ensure that the directors understand their
duties;

. Non-executive directors of the Company are equipped with
adequate experience and skills to fully participate in the
Board to perform the functions under Code Provisions
A.5.2(a) to (d) for the time being in force;

. Every director shall acknowledge that sufficient time should
be contributed to the affairs of the Company;

. The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the
code of best practices for the securities transactions by
directors of the Company. After specific enquiries by the
Company, all directors confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the year under review.
The Company has also formulated a code of conduct for the
securities transactions by relevant officers to govern the
securities transactions of officers who come into contact
with price-sensitive information due to their office.

Deviation: None.
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A.6 Supply of and Access to Information
Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information so as to enable them to make an informed decision
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as a director.

Documents of meetings are generally sent to members of
the Board or Board Committees three days before the
meetings the Board or Board Committee.

Deviation: None.

B.1Remuneration of Directors and Senior

Management
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Issuer shall establish a formal and transparent procedure for
setting policies for fixing the remuneration packages of directors.
No director shall be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with
specific written terms of reference. It’s duties include those
required under Code Provisions B.1.3(a) to (f) for the time
being in force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (which will come into effect on 1 April
2012), the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised on 9 March 2012 and are available
on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2011, a majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company were
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is
the Chairman and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang
and Mr. Wang Yin.
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During the year, one meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee. Besides, resolution was also passed through the
circulation of a written resolution. Attendance of members of the

——EHBEEEERT Remuneration Committee at meeting held in 2011 is detailed as
follows:

L
EHLS Name of Director Attendance
T Wang Yin 0/1
] SRR Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
FHEmIE Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
B Andrew Y. Yan 1/1
= Frederick Ma Si Hang 0/1

[\l AR 2 A > R B g # R A
F1% 55 8 ) IO A o v A B
N B

i e = 0 - o
C.1 B

S YA~ 5 T T M A %
TN RBL ~ 15 UL L5t -

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the incentive mechanism of the Company and approved
remuneration of members of the board and senior management.

Deviation: None.

C.1 Financial Reporting
The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the issuer’s performance, state of affairs and
prospects.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
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financial statements of the Company, to ensure that the
financial statements give a true and fair view of the
operating and financial status of the Company. In the
preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011, the directors of the Company have selected
and applied appropriate accounting policies and have made
cautious and reasonable judgments and estimates based on
the principle of going concern;

In 2011, audit fees were approximately HK$1,680,000 and
there was no fees for non-audit related services;

The statement of responsibilities expressed by the auditor of
the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 83 to 84.

Deviation: None.
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The Board should maintain a sound and effective internal controls
system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s
assets.

The Board is responsible for the internal control system of the
Company and conduct regular review on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company. During the year under
review, the Board believes the current internal control system has
been further improved and is sound and effective to safeguard
the shareholders’ investments and the issuer’s assets.

Deviation: None.

C.3 Audit Committee

. As at 31 December 2011, all members of the Audit
Committee of the Company were independent non-
executive directors, including Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
(Chairman), Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang, while Mr.
Wan Kam To, Peter holds accounting-related professional
qualifications;

. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the
Company include the duties set out in Code Provisions
C.3.3 (@) to (n) for the time being in force. Pursuant to the
amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (which will
come into effect on 1 April 2012), the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was revised on 9 March 2012 and are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to review the financial statements of the Company and
discussed with the external auditor the impacts of the changes in
accounting policies on the Company, the application of
accounting standards and of the Listing Rules etc. and made
recommendations thereof, as well as advising the management on
the enhancement of the level of corporate governance of the
Company on an on-going basis;
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Two meetings were held by the Audit Committee in 2011.
Attendance of members of the Audit Committee at meetings is

detailed as follows:

o Ve

HHRIEA Name of director Attendance

FH S Wan Kam To, Peter 2/2

+* A Wang Shi 2/2

] SRR Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2

[ Andrew Y. Yan 1/2

= Frederick Ma Si Hang 1/2
° W% B ac ik b 5 E B . Minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee are kept by
ELRAF > WRZEIT A EF T a designated secretary and sent to all members of the Board.
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Deviation: None.

D.1Management Functions
An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters reserved to
the board for its decision and should give clear directions to
management as to the matters that must be approved by the

Board.
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The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies,
objectives and business plans for the Company, and to
supervise and control the implementation of strategies of
the Company and its operations and financial performance,
and formulation of appropriate risk control policies and
procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also
responsible for maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board delegates the duties of the implementation of
strategies and the decision-making of daily operations to the
Managing Director. The Management regularly meets to
review the strategic goals, corporate structure, operating
procedures, budget implementation, major projects and
business plans of the Company.

Deviation: None.
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The Board should endeavor to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings
to communicate with shareholders.

. The Company enhances the communication with
Shareholders by means of publication of interim and annual
results report and press release and timely publication of
information on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

. The Chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. All general meetings where approvals for
connected transactions were being sought for had been
attended by the chairman of the independent board
committee (if any) to address queries from shareholders.

. The Company also promotes the communication with
shareholders through various investor relation activities to
provide shareholders with more channels to understand the
strategies and the latest development of the Company.

During the year under review, the Company participated in road
shows in Hong Kong, Singapore, Europe and the United States
organized by various investment banks, covering issues on the
results announcement, bond issuance and significant acquisitions
and presented to the investors operating results, development
strategies and latest business updates of the Company.

At the same time, the Company participated in various investment
conferences held in Hong Kong, Beijing, Singapore, Shanghai,
Hangzhou, Qingdao, Macao Etc., and frequently met on an one-
on-one basis with fund managers and investors in Hong Kong
and overseas, as well as arranged on-site visits to the Company’s
properties to actively create opportunities for communication with
the investors, so as to enable them to timely understand the latest
business development of the Company and the industry
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environment of the real estate business of China to enhance their
understanding of and confidence in the Company. The following
is the major investor relations activities of the Company performed
in 2011:

Major Investor Relations Activities in 2011

Activities
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Activities

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve and perfect the
communication with investors and to provide them with more
opportunities to understand the business of the Company as well
as to enable the management of the Company to have a better
understanding of the requirements of the market on the Company,
with an aim to continue to enhance the internal management,
profitability and governance of the Company.

Deviation: None.

E.2 Voting by Poll

The issuer should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

At the annual general meeting held on 1 June 2011, the Chairman
of the meeting had explained to the shareholders the detailed

procedures for conducting a poll.

Deviation: None.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting to shareholders their report
and audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are shown on pages
179 to 197.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 7 to the
financial statements.

Group Profit
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income set out on page
85 shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Dividends

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommend the
declaration of a final dividend of HK16.6 cents (2010: HK21.5 cents) per
share, together with the interim dividend of HK9.5 cents per share,
dividends per share for the year amounting to HK20.1 cents. The final
dividend is payable on 6 July 2012 to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company on 27 June 2012.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Properties
Schedule of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages 4
to 17.

Share Capital
Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves at the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the date on which the distribution
or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Reserves of
the Company available for distribution to shareholders as at
31 December 2011 amounted to HK$34,217,397,000 (2010:
HK$32,528,473,000).

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Chairman
Mr. Wang Yin

Managing Director
Mr. Wu Xiangdong

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yan Biao

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Ding Jiemin

Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Zhang Haipeng

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Shi

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter

Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang

According to the Article 116 of the Articles of Association of the
Company Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang will retire and be eligible
for re-election in the Annual General Meeting.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence
from all the independent non-executive directors, and considers that all
the independent non-executive directors are independent of the
Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 39 to 44.

Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of promoting additional commitment and dedication to the
objective of the Company by the participants.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 31 January 2002 and has expired on 31 January
2012. The Board may grant options to eligible participants including
employees, executive or non-executive directors of the Group (or any
proposed candidates), any discretionary object of a discretionary trust
established by any employee, executive or non-executive director of
the Group, any executive or employee (or any proposed candidates) of
consultants, professionals and other advisors to the Group, chief
executive, substantial shareholders of the Company, associated
companies of the Group, associates of directors, chief executive and
substantial shareholders of the Company, and employees of substantial
shareholders. The maximum entitlement of each participant (including
options to be granted to the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates) is equal to the
maximum limit permitted under the prevailing Listing Rules. The
exercise prices of the share options are determined pursuant to the
provision of prevailing Listing Rules.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2006, shareholders
approved the ordinary resolution to refresh the mandate limit of the
Scheme, whereby further options can be granted to subscribe up to
313,138,309 shares.

As at the date of this report, the number of shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 9,947,500 shares and represents 0.17% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon the payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
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Share options granted under the Scheme are exercisable for a period of
ten years from the date of grant. Certain share options are fully vested
or exercisable within ten years from the date of grant while part of
them are vested within four years after the date of grant.

Save as disclosed below, no other share option has been granted,
exercised, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme during
the year in relation to each of the directors, chief executive, substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates and
employees of substantial shareholders.

(a) Directors
As at 31 December 2011, the following directors had interests in
respect of options to subscribe for shares under the Scheme:

T
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123 250000 — 250,000 = = = = 1170

Notes:

(€)) Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares in the
Company covered by the share options.

) The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options exercised during
the year is the weighted average of the closing prices quoted on the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of options.
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20114
1A1H

i frfifEr MR

Option
Exercise outstanding

Date of Grant price at 1/1/2011

(b) Employees and other participants
Details of share options granted to the employees (other than
directors) of the Group and other participants by the Company
are set out below:

(i)  Employees (Other than directors)

AR B BTk @
it
et S RE S @ Price of Company’s share®
Number of share option® (HKS$)
20114
AR ORAGEE RS RAEE 12310 [SEcdi [Efjid
il frfE Gl KB MRITHE AR R
Option
Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Expired outstanding
during during during during at Option Option

the year the year the year the year 31/12/2011 granted  exercised

Wit

e 473 0 48 O 1 PR WA HE S T 2
A AR BRI

AT (8 B0y T B 2 AR
A RS - T 25 R S HEAT
F AT — 18 22 &5 F I A7 772 B 52 e
SR i AR 2 AT 24 8

Notes:

1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares in
the Company covered by the share options.

2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options exercised
during the year is the weighted average of the closing prices quoted
on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of
options.
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(i) HEZEE (ii)  Other participants
AR B Bk @
EW
et S RE S R @ Price of Company’s share®
Number of share option® (HKS$)
20114 20114
VITH ARG AR RAEE O RAEE 128310 [SEcdi [Efjid
B A frfees MR #i frfE Gl KR MR BB RmiE
Option
Option Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Expired outstanding
Exercise outstanding during during during during at Option Option
Date of Grant price at 1/1/2011 the year the year the year the year 31/12/2011 granted  exercised

Bt - Notes:

1. J A A M B s AR AR B 2 1 Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares in
AN F A B A o the Company covered by the share options.

2. T2 AT R0 A R T R R 2 AR 2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options exercised
A S - B 45 By W REAT during the year is the weighted average of the closing prices quoted
H ¥R — W22 5 3 ﬂﬁﬁj\ﬁi\%ﬁ)féﬁﬁ on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of
TR T B 2 I REST- 28 o options.

66 | =% —trmam
Annual Report 2011



R

Report of the Directors

JIIIHI

o e
REF - ZH = AR EE
5 R AT BON E AR S ) B AR ik
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A ) S T P g A 5 o T A PR (122
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A9 )W SRR 4 57 oy B A AT 1
SORA) o SURIRCGE IR KB R 015 352
MR ZE R Bk S A7 L 1Y 6 E A A B R B IR
g SRR BRI B BT A R
HEAT RE IR 5 S B B HE S R (RS ) D)
JEUH B A ) W A T 4 A AR IR T
T

(FF) A7 ) L 8 AT 3 4 B S A BRI A
PRAIOME SR

k# R/ A
long position/
Name short position

Directors interests in securities

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO™)) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and short positions which the directors and chief
executive of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be recorded in the
register maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
required to be notified to Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

Company:
HE A B AR
JBetr e Betr# A ® S Aol
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage
shares shares® Capacity of interest®

D BT IR — et O
T AR HARE T 5 e AR 2 WA BR A 4 > 7% 56
B 13 JHEE J2: g 7 b T LA 4 32 i T
AfFATH. -

() IEEFRT T B A AR 2w A R I P 0
BBOR —F—— 4+ = A =t —HA5 A
KA CEATEA BB A -

Notes:

(€)] This refers to underlying shares of the Company covered by share options
granted as detailed above under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
such options being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of the Company to the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2011.

—F R | 67
Annual Report 2011



68

R

Report of the Directors

JIIIHI

(&) WA FIARB i B — SERAI A R
o] (THERAISE ) C 84758 B S A
IR e 4 v AT Y i
" L TV
long position/
Name short position

()

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated corporation
of the Company:

FH B FeAd b 2

Jietr 8 H Bty Bl @ Halk®
Number of Approximate

Number underlying percentage of

of shares shares® interest®

(D FERERHEE A [ B IR O
e 43 S HEE O 4 T 2 0 0 SE AR B e 003 > 3%
S B0y SRR J 7 9 LTI LT S i
JBAAT A TR -

() AEEFR R B i A S A0 S A B
BRER-F - F A=t HiE
A SEC BATIRA R T L -

(P9) TAASZS FIARBG A B — e AR5 I
AR R (T HERR SR ) (AR 2 T
BOA PR T C AT W 78 B b A B 1
By A O REAR -

w4 ISPV Y-
long position/
Name short position

©

Notes:

@D This refers to underlying shares of CRE, covered by share option granted
under the Share Option Scheme of CRE, such option being unlisted physically
settled equity derivatives.

(@) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital of the CRE as at 31
December 2011.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”, previously known as
China Resources Logic Limited), an associated corporation of the
Company:

FH B Al

Bt B H JBeAn B H @ Ak
Number of Approximate

Number underlying percentage of
of shares shares® interest®

(D FEARIERE IR O RER ] 51 ) iz
P93 SO RE T 085 T 342 TR R SRV R PR 0 > %
S ey SRR J A 9 LT LT Sl Y
JEAAT A TR -

() AR P L i AR SR A A B B
BB — & —— 4 ] = — H A
AR O AT A RB L -

A AR
Annual Report 2011

Notes:

(€)] This refers to underlying shares of CR Gas covered by share option granted
under the Share Option Scheme of CR Gas, such option being unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued share capital of CR Gas as at
31 December 2011.
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142 W RR
long position/

Name short position

(D

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Power Holdings Limited (“CR Power”), an associated
corporation of the Company:

il oAt pess

Bt 8 H Bt g H © AL

Number of Approximate

Number underlying percentage of

of shares shares® interest®

(D ISR ) [ e WRER ) TR
P93 SOV RE T 385 J% 42 388 5 3 AW R AL > %
A BB JA R S JF b iy DL 2 i 9
WEARTETH -

() AEEFR P R i FE I o ) Ay R B
R e S B s E L
HEHTE ) O AT BB T L -

(86) A2y wIAR B 0 B — 3R K Y8 £
AR A (TR K 1) C A7 % 7 ik
R BB v AT B M i -

W4 HHRE
long position/
Name short position

e

O FEMRIEE K [ RS R
JEe A7 SV HEE Jr 9 % e T AR R A BRI > %
S B IR Ja 4 JF b i LB B2 i i
JEARTETH

() AR P S i FE K 8 Ay A B B
ABR =2 ——AE F = F - H G
HFERR LT AT A SBT3 b

(e)

Notes:

(€8} This refers to underlying shares of CR Power covered by share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR Power, such option being
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued share capital of the CR
Power as at 31 December 2011.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an associated
corporation of the Company:

il At pE s

et H Bty g H © Halk®

Number of Approximate

Number underlying percentage of

of shares shares® interest®

Notes:

(€8} This refers to underlying shares of CR Cement covered by share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR Cement, such option being
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of the CR
Cement as at 31 December 2011.
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(FR ) AR — AR I 1 — 2856 ) e f
SUVRE G- T 43¢ £ 9 e 4 S

Interests in Underlying Shares of Associated

Corporations

As at the same date, a director had interests in options to subscribe
shares granted under the share option scheme(s) of an associated
corporation (within the meaning of the SFO), such options being
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives:

(a) Options outstanding under the share option schemes of an
associated corporation, CR Power:

20114E

AT AT AE 12A31H

XA B0 iR idiin W ARATE

Option

Exercise Price outstanding

Name Capacity Date of grant (HK$) at 31/12/2011

e s EaEA A 12/11/2003© 2.75 244,320

Yan Biao Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.919 325,760

BitaE - Notes:

[@)) Eﬁﬁj\ﬁ,ﬂ *Eaﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?{ﬁ > ﬁvﬁ 20% > A D Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 6 October 2004,

i FFNE - CEFFE - FEA
0 LR FE /LA
S I AT -

) O IARERT 4y AT > BRI 20% 0 A
HoFEENE - ZRBELFE - ZEEBN
G ZERBJER ZFE-FE=A TN
A% F—hEZA b BT -

() L U B A I RE RO AU £ 1.00 7
7":0
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2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5 October 2013.

(@) Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 18 March 20006, 2007,
2008, 2009 and 2010 to 17 March 2015.

(©)) Consideration for each of the grants mentioned above is HK$1.00
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Strategic Incentive Award Scheme

As an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the continual
operation and development of the Group, the Board resolved to adopt
the Strategic Incentive Award Scheme (formerly known as Restricted
Share Award Scheme) (the “Scheme”) on 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption
Date”). The Scheme was subsequently amended on 8 December 2009.
Unless sooner terminated by the Board, the Scheme shall be effective
from the Adoption Date and shall continue in full force and effect for a
term of 10 years. According to the Scheme, shares up to 2.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date will be
purchased by the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by
the Group and be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until
such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Up to 31 December 2011, the Company had through Trustee purchased
51,310,000 shares of the Company, representing 1.2715% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date, from the market
at an aggregate consideration of HK$536,234,727.81 (including
transaction costs), of which 18,846,000 shares were purchased during
the period at an aggregate consideration of HK$219,563,365.45. During
the year ended 31 December 2011, 11,161,172 shares of the Company
were awarded to the directors and employees of the Group at no
consideration by the Company. After taking into account of the
unvested shares that were awarded in the previous years, a total
number of 22,354,770 shares were vested during the year. The sale
proceeds from the vested shares have been and will be distributed to
the relevant directors and employees in accordance with the amended
provisions of the Scheme. As at the date of this report, 18,172,000
unvested shares have been held in trust by the Trustee.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed

Securities
Save as disclosed above under “Strategic Incentive Award Scheme”,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2011.

Directors’ Service Contracts

As at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors had any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by
the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries
were a party and in which any director of the Company had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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Nature of
Name of shareholders Capacity interest

Shareholders with Notifiable Interests

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons (not being a director or

chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the

shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register maintained

by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

20114

12 31 H e
JBe A3 4 4
WAL F BT
JBEA B 43 LB
Percentage of the
aggregate long
position in
shares to the
issued share
capital of the
Company as at
31/12/2011

R/ RA et % A

Number
of shares

long position/
short position

i

m

(1) CRHL L} Commotra Company Limited 7 Al B
R A A~ F3,959,623,8628 e iy LA R
2,830,000 i it {3 - 2% {8 4 M & CRHLEL J¢
Commotra Company Limited & ME — & 3 > 1
e 4 [ /2 Bluesky B 2 & B 22 | > Bluesky
o 3 T A7 ) 4 T A 2 ) o T IR R A
o 1 A B 4y R IR e AR
Bluesky ~ 3 B0y ~ w10 2 1 24 A 2 B A
AT 3,962,453,862 R I HES

A AR
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Notes:

(D

CRHL directly held 3,959,623,862 shares of the Company, and Commotra Company
Limited directly held 2,830,000 shares of the Company, CRH is the sole shareholder
of CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly owned by CRC. CRC is wholly-owned
by CRNC. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRNC are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 3,962,453,862 shares in the Company.
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2011, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

Subsidiaries and Associates
Particulars regarding the subsidiaries and associates are set out on
pages 179 to 197.

Financial Derivative Instruments

During the year 2008, the Company timely seized the opportunity of
subdued interest rate level caused by the sub-prime mortgage crisis
outbreak in the United States, and fixed the interest costs of a portion
of its HK$ loans at relatively low levels by entering into interest rate
swap transactions. The swap transactions involved HK$3.0 billion in
total, of which HK$1.0 billion had a swap period of four years and the
rest in a five year period. Due to increase in swap rates in the market
during the year under review, the Company recorded a mark-to-market
gain in its annual results.
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Fae I e R = s o) JE AT B AR Specific Performance Obligations on
Controlling Shareholder
AEEETER W HROETE—TAEGE > 374 Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that imposes

INEIRI R R R i — TE G L R A 94 one or more of the following specific performance obligations on the
TEBITHET Company’s controlling shareholder:

G EMEFRLMEE L AN T & V35%8, @  CRH remains the single largest shareholder of the Company

51% (FR AWM E) T EA2 ' which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
WA N ORGwE B M A ) M indirectly) of not less than 51% or 35% (as the case may be);
— IR 5

Gi) FEMEHGERRDHEA RN 35%E, (D CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35% of
BATIA (i BB MR A the shares of the Company;

GiD) FEMEBELET AR AT —HKAEHE (i) CRH remains the single largest shareholder (whether directly or
(A~ 5 B 2 B ] 422 0 08 LR 2 =) 47 indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;
)

Gv) EMEBEAEFHPE P RBUFEZPE (v CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50% by
A 500 BCRE the central Government of the PRC;

~v) HEMEBAGWHRAARANFEFRFHNZEZ (D  CRH retains the power to appoint the majority of the Board;

BN A
(vi) HEMEBEBEAE IERIANTRKHE  (vD CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control the
TIEEFHNEEETNR appointment by the Company’s shareholders of directors to the
Board;

(vi) FEEFHEEREA DT - &K1 F{EFE  (viD CRH retains the right to appoint, and terminate the appointment

HAr 2 RS 2 HER 5 of, the majority of the directors constituting the Board,;

(viil) ZETE E MRS G LUER A - (viiD CRH retains the power to direct the management and the policies
FRBEE A ~ @A A sk HoAth iy = - of the Company whether through the ownership of voting capital,
A 78 A RE SHAIE AR N W I PR AN BOR o by contract or otherwise.

Wz ——FE+_"H=+—H > ZHZHI® Asat 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of the facilities subject
ol 1 2 MO ZH A4 %H B HE M to the above condition were HK$29,127,842,500. Such facilities will
29,127,842,500 7C » #% % fi A % % & expire from January 2012 to May 2016.

—CHE-ARETERELAEW -
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Lender

Borrower

Guarantor

Connected Transactions and Continuing

Connected Transactions

Intra-Group Lending Between Members of the China Resources
Group

On 22 November 2010, CRH, the holding company of the Company,
China Resources Group listed companies (including the Company) and
unlisted companies entered into the HK$ and US$ master loan
agreement. At the same time, CRC, an intermediate holding company
and China Resources Group listed companies (including the Company)
entered into the RMB master loan agreement. The term of such master
loan agreements is three years ending 31 December 2013. Under the
Listing Rules, the above master loan agreements constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions and were approved by the
Company’s independent shareholders at the general meeting held on 23
December 2010. The above master loan agreements became effective
on 1 January 2011. During the year ended 31 December 2011, there
was no lending made by the Company under the agreements. During
the year, China Resources Land Investment Limited, the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiary, borrowed from China Resources Vanguard
Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of CRE. Details set out as below:

20114

b 12 7 31 HEp%
(ARWE#T) IR ERE (NRWEHET)
Balance at

Principal 31 December
Amount Interest rate 2011

(Rmb million) Duration per annum (Rmb million)
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Strategic Cooperation Agreement Between Members of China
Resources Group

On 22 November 2010, a strategic cooperation agreement for a term of
three years ending 31 December 2013 was entered into between certain
subsidiaries of CRC, namely, Zhuhai Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (now
known as Zhuhai China Resources Bank Co., Ltd., “CR Bank”), China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. and the Company, CRE, CR Power, CR
Cement, CR Gas and China Resources Microelectronics Limited
(collectively “China Resources Group listed companies”), pursuant to
which, among other things, (i) CR Bank shall provide general banking
services including deposit services to the China Resources Group listed
companies and their subsidiaries; and (i) China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. shall provide trust services including cash management,
investment trusts, asset management structured finance underwriting of
bonds and shares to the China Resources Group listed companies and
their subsidiaries. Provision of these services will be charged at a rate
no less favourable than that for customers of CR Bank and China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd, and any deposit made with CR Bank
under these arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the
same terms and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by
any other customer of the bank, which rates are presently determined
by the People’s Bank of China. The maximum exposure in relation to
the Group’s deposits with CR Bank, inclusive of interest paid and
anticipated to be paid is RMB700 million. During the year ended 31
December 2011, the maximum daily aggregate amount of exposure in
relation to the Group’s deposits with CR Bank was RMB599,952,673.00,
and the aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
RMB314,824.58.
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Cooperation of a property project located in Harbin between
CRE and the Company

On 25 March 2011, the Company and CRE entered into the cooperation
agreement in relation to the development of a residential-commercial
complex in Harbin (*Harbin Project”) to be developed by China
Resources Land (Harbin) Property Limited (“CR Land (Harbin)”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, on the basis that CRE and its
subsidiaries (“CRE Group”) will hold after completion of the project
most of the commercial space in this development and to share the
land cost on a pro rata basis which was estimated to amount to
approximately RMB86.0 million inclusive of related tax, equivalent to
approximately HK$102.1 million. Besides, CRE Group will enter into the
project management agreement, which will form part of the cooperation
agreement, to appoint CR Land (Harbin) as its project manager to
develop the commercial space of the Harbin Project. It was estimated
that the construction cost for the commercial space will be
approximately RMB804.8 million, equivalent to approximately HK$954.7
million and the project management fee payable to CR Land (Harbin)
by CRE Group will be approximately RMB14.1 million, equivalent to
approximately HK$16.7 million. The aggregate estimated amount
payable by CRE Group for the commercial space in the Harbin Project
is approximately RMB904.9 million. Upon completion of the Harbin
Project, most of the commercial space in this development will be
owned by CRE Group and the Company will retain the ownership to
the remaining portion of the property which will comprise primarily
residential space. CRH was the controlling shareholder of both CRE and
the Company. As fellow subsidiaries, CRE and the Company were each
a connected person of the other under the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the cooperation agreement and the
project management agreement constituted a connected transaction for
each of CRE and the Company.
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Acquisition of certain properties of CRH

On 19 August 2011, the Company and Central New Investments Limited
(“Central New”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire and Central
New has conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of
Speedy Hill Investments Limited (“Speedy Hill”) for the consideration of
HK$7,002.5 million, of which HK$1,407 million was paid in cash and
HK$5,595.5 million was settled by the allotment and issue of
consideration shares. Speedy Hill is an investment holding company
and its principal assets are its indirect 100% interests in the Nanjing
Mansion Site, the Changzhou International Community Site and the
Zhengzhou In-City Site, and 95.7% indirect interests in the Wuxi Top
Mansion Site, all of which are located in the PRC. Central New is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH which is the controlling shareholder
of the Company. As such, Central New and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules and
therefore, the entering into of the sale and purchase agreement
constituted a connected transaction of the Company. The transaction
was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at a
general meeting held on 19 September 2011.

Provision of Property Leasing, Construction Services, Decoration
Services, and Furniture Services

On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the provision of
construction services, decoration services and furniture services
framework agreement with CRH to govern the principal terms of the
provision of construction and decoration services and furniture
manufacturing and sale in the PRC by the Group to CRH and its
subsidiaries for the three financial years ending 31 December 2013.
Such transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company and each contract governing them will be entered into on
normal commercial terms and the prices will be either at market prices
or at prices no less favourable to the Group than those available from
independent third parties.
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On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the leasing and
concessionaire framework agreement with CRH to govern the principal
terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its
property portfolio with members of the CRH group (including associates
of CRH) from 20 September 2010 to 31 December 2012. Such
arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company and shall be conducted on the following terms:

(@) each arrangement will be documented in a separate written
agreement with a lease term of not exceeding twenty years (for
retail purposes or purposes ancillary to retail purposes) or three
years (for any other purposes); and

(b) each arrangement will be entered into on normal commercial
terms with the rents, management fees and other charges received
by the Group from any members of the CRH Group or associates
of CRH being either at market prices or at prices no less
favourable to the Group than those available from independent
third parties.

On 23 December 2011, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps for
the leasing and concessionaire arrangements for the two years ending
31 December 2012 from HK$75 million and HK$80 million respectively
to HK$138 million and HK$200 million respectively.

In the year of 2011, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely
Beijing China Resources Building Company Limited, China Resources
(Shanghai) Limited and China Resources (Shenzhen) Limited and
members of CRH entered into certain contracts in respect of leasing and
concessionaire arrangements.
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The 2011 annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions are shown as follow:

oy B

Unit: HK§

5 2011 AR I B IR 2011 FE B ZH
The actual

The annual cap transaction

No. E S il Business Type in 2011 amount in 2011
e
1 W Leasing 138,000,000.00 116,293,429.31
2 B Construction 1,855,000,000.00 1,161,770.99
3 E e Decoration 447,000,000.00 341,405,818.00
4 FIREH Furniture 21,000,000.00 10,215,695.05
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that such transactions have been entered

into:

1. in the Company’s ordinary and usual course of business;

2. on normal commercial terms;

3. in accordance with respective agreement terms which were fair

and reasonable, and in the interests of the shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has provided a
letter to the Board confirming that the above continuing connected

transactions:

1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

3. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the caps disclosed in previous announcements.

The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Model Code Regarding Securities

Transactions by the Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rule as code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the directors. Having made specific enquiry with all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors has complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year under review.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year under review, the Group’s five largest suppliers and
customers together accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
purchases and sales respectively.

Charitable Donation
In 2011, the Group’s charitable donation amounted to approximately
HK$16.4 million.

Senior Notes

On 19 May 2011, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,833,620,000) at an offer
price of 99.353% of the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The
Senior Notes bear coupon interest at 4.625% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and are due on 19 May 2016. The notes are
unsecured and carry effective interest rate of 4.772% per annum. The
Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (the “SGX-ST”).

On 3 August 2011, the Company issued additional senior notes with
principal amount of US$250,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,948,160,000)
at an offer price of 99.252% of the face value of the notes (“Additional
Senior Notes”). The notes bear coupon interest at 4.625% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 19 May 2016. The
Additional Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective interest rate
of 4.8% per annum. The Additional Senior Notes are listed on the
SGX-ST.

The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the issue of the
Senior Notes and the Additional Senior Notes for general corporate
purposes, including the financing of existing and new projects and
working capital.
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Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 208.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Island.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee comprises Mr.
Wang Shi, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter, and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang, all of them being independent
non-executive directors of the Company. The audit committee has
reviewed, together with the management and the Company’s auditors,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the financial statements for the year.

Auditors
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and will not be reappointed.

The Board has resolved to recommend the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the new auditor of the Company following
the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and such proposed
appointment is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Yin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 March 2012
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 207,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the
Group’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2011,
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
9 March 2012
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BEF——F T+ H=1—HILFE For the Year Ended 31 December 2011
Fft 5% Notes
T T
HK$°000

35,794,801
(21,612,495)

14,182,306

3,240,092

46,602
1,208,120
(1,545,906)
(2,104,796)
49,444

(4,112)
(698,748)

14,373,062
(6,131,032)

3,786,363

9,177

11,606,995
430,575

12,037,570

8,069,984
172,046

147,710
HK147.7 cents

e 147241
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e Sy At 31 December 2011
31.12.2011 31.12.2 1.1.2010
T
HK$000

4,070,444
1,139,920
29,588,952
766,788

8,131

179,653
7,362,103
711,117

98,100,675
22,727
165,188
20,956,816

1,013,977
102,238

718
596,404

431,597
15,368,281

15,150,499
26,648,418

463,329
599,524

1,074,414
5,206,084

22,073,099
14,924

109,355,438
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fft 5 Notes 31.12.2011
T
HK$000

582,047
59,733,508

60,316,155
6,046,126

66,362,281

30,898,536
4,259,162
81,736
7,753,723

42,993,157
109,355,438

£ ‘Wang Yin
A DIRECTOR
S R ‘Wu Xiangdong
FEa DIRECTOR

31.12.2010

1.1.2010
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HEEF——Ft+H=1t—HILFEF For The Year Ended 31 December 2011
EINEZIN
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(Note 2) (Note 40) (Note 2) (Note )
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Notes:

The Group's general reserves comprise the Group’s share of the statutory surplus reserve of
subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland.

On 11 October 2011, the Group had acquired Speedy Hill Investments Limited (“Speedy Hill”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Speedy Hill Group”) from Central New Investments Limited (“Central New”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), through cash
payments of HK$1,407,000,000 and the issuance of 437,983,000 ordinary shares at the price
equivalent to HK$11.10 totalling HK$6,269,483,000 which was equivalent to the net asset value of
Speedy Hill Group as the consideration. Prior to the common control combination, the share capital
and share premium of Speedy Hill was amounted to HK$5,861,147,000.

blichord

Central New during 2009 and prior to common control combination, had a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Fast Lead Limited (“Fast Lead”). Fast Lead during 2010 and prior to
common control combination, bad acquired certain subsidiaries which beld property development
sites in the Chinese Mainland. On 3 November 2010, the Group had acquired Fast Lead and its
subsidiaries (the “Fast Lead Group”) from Central New through the issuance of 348,239,000
ordinary shares at the price equivalent to HK$4.29 and paid HK$2,370,420.000 cash to CRH
totalling HK$3,862,682,000 as consideration. Prior to the common control combination, the share
capital and share premium of Fast Lead was amounted to HK$3,980, 794,000.

Other reserve represents the difference between the amount paid or received for any transaction
related to the change of sharebolding in a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of control in
that subsidiary and the non-controlling interest being acquired or disposed of.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WEE—— 4+ A =+—HIL4E  For the Year Ended 31 December 2011
Mt 5k Notes
W TT
HK$°000

14,373,062

698,748
(176,785)

12913
(3,240,092)

(60,378)

(46,662)
318,057

7,279
7,662

128,808
289,399
295
82,205
1,127
156,576

(49,444)

4,112

12,481,056
(25,257,609)
(93,849)

4,208,576
(580,858)

(148)
3,646,439

3,819,037

(15,778)
(70,693)

(1,863,827)
(3,018,564)

(219,563)
(5,101,954)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Mt 5k Notes

T IT
HK$'000

(4,749,853)
(2,204,800)

(959,505)
(858,650)

(581,605)
(38,836)
(44,223)

(4,916)
47,299
176,785

10,450

7,925

(9,199,929)

29,897,216
(16,143,927)
7,730,293
(29,344)
1,067,472
(8306,586)
112,238
2,592
436,253
(5,860,652)
(1,710,102)
(1,697,695)
5,861,147

(6 ,853)

16,385,342

2,083,459
731,235

12,553,587

15,368,281
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The immediate holding company is China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”). The directors regard the ultimate holding company of the
Company to be China Resources National Corporation (“CRNC”), a company
incorporated in the Chinese Mainland. The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information

of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
different from the functional currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”), as the
Company is a public company incorporated in Cayman Islands with its shares listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong and therefore, the directors consider that Hong Kong dollars is preferable in
presenting the operating results and financial position of the Group. The majority of
the Company’s subsidiaries are operating in the Chinese Mainland with RMB as their

functional currency.

The principal activities of the Group are sales of developed properties, property
investments and management, hotel operations and the provision of construction,

decoration services and others.

MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The Group acquired Speedy Hill Group from a subsidiary of CRH on 11 October
2011, which is considered as business combination involving entities under common
control and has been accounted for using merger accounting method, based on the
guidance set out in Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) for the year ended 31 December 2011. As a result, the comparative
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2010 and consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 have therefore been restated, in
order to include the results of the combining entities since the date of which first

come under common control.

The acquisition of Speedy Hill Group had resulted in increase in the Group’s total
comprehensive income for the year and decrease in profit for the year ended 31
December 2010 attributable to the owners of the Company by HK$109,219,000 and
HK$21,852,000 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. AffEgsrgEY (8) MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)
gﬂ'ﬁ’ #:EEE w8 EE G2 A0 Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)
'y LZAW FHEEIHEE T -FF The effect of the merger accounting restatement described above on the consolidated
‘A=t —HIHMEEZ G52 R FE & statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2010 by line
THZ 2R items is as follows:

WE T T WE T T
ToA=+—H aftgstik +oA=+—H
R4 ] IR4ERE

Year ended  Merger accounting Year ended

31 December 2010 restatement 31 December 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. AHFEEHEES ()

g%gﬁg%ﬂ?%%%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ

3t 2 A e RE RIS ]
—ARCERES T = HZEE T
ARVLE A TH 2 BT

MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving

entities under common control (continued)

The effects of the merger accounting restatement described above on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2010 and 31 December
2010 by line items are as follows:

“E-x
~A—H

1 January
2010

Al
GilkEs
Merger
accounting
restatement

SRR
~A—H

1 January
2010

“FFE
+~A
=+—H
31 December
2010

it
iR
Merger
accounting
restatement

“F
+=A
=t-n
31 December
2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. GfrEEHEES (4) 2. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
i ) (continued)
gﬂ&%ﬁj’% W E BB A A0 Merger accounting for business combination involving
Al () entities under common control (continued)
abf ZER-REF A ZF-%F
SE-FE O GREEN SF-%F +=A ahikEs) +=A
—H—H Merger —A—H =+—H Merger =+—H
1 January accounting 1January 31 December accounting 31 December
2010 restatement 2010 2010 restatement 2010

—F R | 95
Annual Report 2011



96

Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. GOHEEHEES ()
v R ILE e BB GO A F
e G TR
B2 £ T USSR % —

FE-AARCE-FEF AT HZ
Wk Z AT

2. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving

entities under common control (continued)

The effects of the merger accounting restatement described above to the Group’s

equity on 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 are as follows:

SR
~A—H
1 January

2010

a
g el
Merger
accounting
restatement

SRR
~A—H
1 January

2010

.
+=H
=t-n
31 December
2010

it
itk
Merger
accounting
restatement
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31 December
2010
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
position for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the following two aspects:

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has changed the definition of a related party. The
application of the revised definition of related party set out in HKAS 24 (as revised
in 2009) has not changed the identification of related parties under the previous

standard.

In addition, HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) introduces a partial exemption from the
disclosure requirements for government-related entities whilst the previous version
of HKAS 24 did not contain specific exemption for government-related entities. The
Company and its subsidiaries are government-related entities as defined in HKAS 24
(as revised in 2009). Under HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009), the Group has been
exempted from making the disclosures required by paragraph 18 of HKAS 24 (as
revised in 2009) in relation to related party transactions and outstanding balances
(including commitments) with (a) the PRC government that ultimately has control
over the Group and (b) other entities that are controlled, jointly controlled, or
significantly influenced by the PRC government. Rather, in respect of these
transactions and balances, HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) requires the Group to
disclose (a) the nature and amount of each individually significant transaction, and
(b) a qualitative or quantitative indication of the extent of transactions that are

collectively, but not individually, significant.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)

(continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) requires retrospective application. The application of

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has had no impact on the Group’s financial

performance and positions for the current and prior years. However, the related

party disclosures set out in Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements have
been changed to reflect the application of HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009).

New and Revised HKFRSs Issued but not yet Effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised standards,

amendments and interpretation that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKEFRS 12

HKEFRS 13

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 12
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets!

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and
Transaction Disclosures®

Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial Statements?

Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying Assets*
Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?

6

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a

Surface Mine?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs Issued but not yet Effective
(continued)

HKEFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 amended in 2010 includes the
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for

derecognition.
Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

. HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income

generally recognised in profit or loss.

. The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities relates to the presentation of changes in
the fair value of a financial liability (designated as at fair value through profit
or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. Specifically,
under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of
the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value

through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for financial year ending 31 December 2015 and
that the application of the new standard may impact on amounts reported in respect
of the Groups’ available-for-sale investment, which is currently stated at cost less
impairment and will be measured at fair value upon adoption. It is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect until a detailed review has been

completed.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs Issued but not yet Effective
(continued)

New and revised standards on consolidated, joint arrangements, associates and

disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12,
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that deal with consolidated financial statements and HK (SIC)-Int 12
Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of
control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability
to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK (SIC)-Int 13 jointly
Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. HKFRS 11 deals
with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control should
be classified. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations
or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties to the
arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint
arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31
can be accounted for using the equity method of accounting or proportionate

accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities.
In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those
in the current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013. Earlier application is permitted provided that all of these five standards are
applied early at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for financial year ending 31 December 2013. The
application of these five standards may have significant impact on amounts reported

in the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs Issued but not yet Effective
(continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and
disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair
value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial
instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require
or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
13 are more extensive than those in the current standards. For example, quantitative
and qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently
required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities within its

scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with

earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements financial year ending 31 December 2013 and that the application
of the new standard may affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements.
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying Assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the general principles in
HKAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
should reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
entity expects to recover the carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under the
amendments, investment properties that are measured using the fair value model in
accordance with HKAS 40 Investment Property are presumed to be recovered
through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless the presumption is

rebutted in certain circumstances.

The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012. The directors anticipate that the application of the amendments to
HKAS 12 in future accounting periods may result in adjustments to the amounts of
deferred tax liabilities recognised in prior years regarding the Group’s investment
properties of which the carrying amounts are presumed to be recovered through
sale. However, the directors have not yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact
of the application of the amendments and hence have not yet quantified the extent

of the impact.

The directors anticipate that the application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the

“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for investment properties and certain financial instruments that are

measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal (except for subsidiaries under
common control which are accounted for using the principles of merger accounting),

as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the

Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s

equity therein.

Allocation of total comprebensive income to non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1 January 2010 onwards).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are

recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred taxation assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance

with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the

acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance

TE i B B Al A T | WYL with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
FRfE s 2 i (i AL Th iR % are measured in accordance with that Standard.
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assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is

recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the

basis specified in another standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the common control combination occurs
as if they had been combined from the date when the combining entities or

businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using the
existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value
of acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s

interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes the results of each of
the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the
date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the common control

combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented as if
the entities or businesses had been combined at the end of the previous reporting

period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee

but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, investments in associates are initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount

of the investment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately

in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to
recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the

Group.

Investment in a jointly controlled entity
Joint venture arrangement that involve the establishment of a separate entity in
which venturers have joint control over the economic activity of the entity are

referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The result and assets and liabilities of a jointly controlled entity are incorporated in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investment in jointly controlled entity is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the jointly controlled entity. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly

controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying

amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately

in profit or loss.
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(continued)

Investment in a jointly controlled entity (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to
recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in a jointly
controlled entity. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 306 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of

the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled entity are recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly

controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal

course of business.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business is

recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the properties, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed, upon delivery, and collectability of related

receivables is reasonably assured,;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree

usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the properties

are sold;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will

flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be

measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position under current liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from room rental, food and beverage sales and other ancillary services in

the hotel are recognised when the relevant services have been rendered.

Revenue from sale of goods (including furnitures and other inventories) are

recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Property management income and service income are recognised when services are

rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of

the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if

any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress less their estimates residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing cost capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,

commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and

the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for administrative
purposes, the release of prepaid lease payments provided during the construction
period is included as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation
of buildings commences when they are available for use (i.e., when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management).

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation (including properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are
capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties under

construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year in which the item is

derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which

a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates

of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit

or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as

income immediately.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract (including decoration contract) can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of reporting period, as measured by
the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and

its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will
be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which

they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the

expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses
exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for
contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related
work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position

under trade receivables, other receivables and deposits paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over

the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the
classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and building elements in a
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element

and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid
lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is released
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,

plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e., the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in other

comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e., Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
year, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs

eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

are incurred.

Government grant
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
periods in which the Group recognises as expenses that the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxation
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
taxation assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a jointly controlled entity,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred taxation assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the

temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. When current tax and deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in

the accounting for the business combination.

Inventory of properties
Inventory of properties includes properties under development and properties held

for sale which are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The carrying value of inventory of properties comprises the leasehold interest in land
together with development expenditure, which includes construction costs and

borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the inventories less all

estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment property when there
is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its

previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Other inventories
Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is

calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the

financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due
from an associate, fellow subsidiaries, immediate holding company and a jointly
controlled entity and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting

policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and

receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting

period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash

flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of

impairment.
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(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

& E () Financial assets (continued)
4 G R B (48 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original

effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent

periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade receivable or other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts

previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the
amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the

Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amount due to immediate holding company, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, bank borrowings and senior notes are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the

hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily interest rate swap

contracts) as hedges of the floating-rate bank borrowings.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity documents the relationship
between the hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents
whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly

effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
hedging reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item
is recognised in profit or loss, in the same line of the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship,
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss

accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair value
less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under the
contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue

recognition policy.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable

is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Share options/awarded shares granted to employees after 7 November 2002 and vested
on or after 1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share
options and awarded shares granted at the grant date is expensed as staff costs on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in

employee share-based compensation reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
options and the awarded shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a

corresponding adjustment to employee share-based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in employee
share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-based

compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

When awarded shares are vested, the amount previously recognised in shares held
for Strategic Incentive Award Scheme reserve and the amount recognised in

employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to employees on or before 7 November 2002, or granted after 7

November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the consolidated
financial statements until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is
recognised in the profit or loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium.
Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from

the register of outstanding options.

Retirement benefit contributions
Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an

expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year.

Estimated allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables taking into consideration the estimation
of future cash flows. The allowance is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the assets and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Allowances are applied to trade and
other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation on the recoverability of trade
and other receivables is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact carrying value of trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed. As at 31 December 2011, the
carrying amount of trade receivables was HK$1,536,841,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$161,136,000) (2010: HK$909,556,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$359,236,000)) and the carrying amount of other receivables
was HK$1,153,968,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$346,309,000)
(2010: HK$703,891,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$375,182,000)).

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction, are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 December 2011 at their fair value, details of which are
disclosed in Note 18. The fair value of the investment properties was determined by
reference to valuations conducted on these properties by independent firms of
property valuers using property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties included in the consolidated statement of financial position and
corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value reported in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instrument not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. For derivative financial instrument,
assumptions are made based on quoted market rates of the variables of the
instruments. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments as at 31 December

2011 were estimated at a liability of HK$96,660,000 (2010: HK$152,499,000).

Allowance for write-down of inventory of properties and
other inventories

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2011 are
inventory of properties of HK$98,100,675,000 (2010: HK$63,141,100,000) and other
inventories of HK$165,188,000 (2010: HK$66,712,000) which are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management conducts assessments on the net
realisable value of inventories by reference to their estimated net selling price and
other economic conditions of the markets in which the Group’s properties are
situated. If the actual selling prices of inventory of properties are substantially less
than expected due to an adverse market condition or other factors, impairment loss
on inventory of properties may result. An allowance for write-down of inventory of
properties and other inventories of HK$82,205,000 (2010: Nil) and HK$1,127,000
(2010: NiD) was made during the year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and equipment with respect to
depreciation, management estimates the useful lives of various categories of
property, plant and equipment according to the industrial experiences over the
usage of property, plant and equipment and also by reference to the relevant
industrial norm. If the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment is less
than the original estimated useful lives due to changes in commercial and
technological environment, such difference will impact the depreciation charge for
the remaining useful life. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of property,

plant and equipment was HK$4,070,444,000 (2010: HK$3,304,156,000).
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5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Deferred taxation assets

As at 31 December 2011, a deferred taxation asset of HK$711,117,000 (2010:
HK$490,749,000) in relation to allowance for doubtful debts, write-down of inventory
of properties, impairment loss of available-for-sale investments, the provision for
land appreciation tax and certain amount of tax losses has been recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred taxation asset has
been recognised on the tax losses of HK$438,700,000 (2010: HK$584,571,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred taxation
asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a material recognition or reversal of
deferred taxation assets may arise, respectively which would be recognised in profit

or loss for the period in which such changes take place.

REVENUE

Revenue represents income from sale of developed properties, rental income,
provision of property management and related services, hotel operations and
provision of construction and decoration services for the year. An analysis of the

Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

T
HK$000

2010

31,300,719
1,824,006
800,644
597,587

165,156
676,829
377,531

52,329

35,794,801

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance focused on the segment of sale of developed properties, property
investments and management, hotel operations, construction, decoration services
and others. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its segment

information under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.
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7. SEEFR () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(@) HEMEs REE (a) Segment revenues and results
7S A5 [ e a] 2R S SRS B 2 i g The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable
REEZ T and operating segments.
BE—F——FT_H=1T—HILFE Year ended 31 December 2011
LES § jee
il KA 5 Be HoAts
[BE:35L7ES Property Construction,
Sale investments T G 48 decoration
of developed and Hotel services and Mgt
properties management operations others Total

L
Annual Report 2011



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. SREF () 7.
(@) 7B fRAE (1)
WE T BT A A L

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment revenues and results (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2010

LUES1d - A
St pi&egit I B HoA
Gk 93YES Property Construction,
Sale investments T G 48 decoration
of developed and Hotel services and Mgt
properties management operations others Total

PRECE W) SERIR AR B S - S B2 a5t
BICR B B W R 4 B it 2 8 s ECRARR]
I JSE B 4% 0 U MR I 2 v M) B8 2 2 B
$H o I 3 IR R A LB AR T 2 A
HRBER 2 WA TS AW EATEHE
B - MIATEORA - HEFHE - EAEBE AR
SEA - BRI FL IR HE ) R AT S S
B o B0 IR S T B 2R BLRTAL I ) T 2
T P M 7 e

Except for investment properties which were reviewed based on cost, the accounting

policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 4. Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred by
each segment without allocation of incomes or expenses which are not recurring in
nature and unrelated to the Group’s operating performance, fair value changes on
investment properties, central administration costs, directors’ salaries, share of results
of associates, share of result of a jointly controlled entity and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.
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7. SEER () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
b)) HEEEEAERE (b) Segment assets and liabilities

Vi b-v Segment assets
VAT oy A 4 [ 43 v S S R 4 7 oy ) 4y The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable and operating
ZEREEHT segments:

2010 1.1.2010
T T
HK$°000

125,829,960
21,598,605
2,088,432
2,586,418

152,103,415

10,297,126
18,185,188

180,585,729

Ty BB R B R E TR For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

° JITAT R A I A ] R R AR . all assets are allocated to reportable and operating segments other
5?}’ ﬁ » ME WE W — fH % % | aé‘k than amount due from an associate, interests in associates, interest in
TH ~ RS A ZHERE ~ i — a jointly controlled entity, deferred taxation assets, available-for-sale
LR Pl A G RE R AR investments, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, immediate holding
BLIE R ~ Wt ORIk company and a jointly controlled entity, taxation prepaid, cash and
[Fi) 2 B o A ) e I e e A ) K bank balances and other corporate assets. The investment properties
TH - AT BUIE - Bl KORAT &S AT included in segment assets are stated at cost when assessed by the
B HoAh A 2E B BEBR AN o S chief operating decision maker.
G 2 EY R B
PURE AL LURAFHE -
IR A Segment liabilities
B EORE L TR IR A &R The chief operating decision maker mainly reviews the segment assets for the
BURRAG AR T A R o R B purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. The analysis of
TSR 3 I E i AR R T 2 AR ) the Group’s liabilities is not regularly reviewed by the chief operating
B > WOH 4% 2 50 AR B R decision maker and hence, the relevant information is not presented
accordingly.

124 | =%
Annual Report 2011



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. SMREERL(A) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(o) HAbsr3aER (c) Other segment information
TE 2011
LUES1d - A
il pi&egit 5 Be HoAts
Gk 93YES Property Construction,
Sale investments T G 48 decoration
of developed and Hotel services and Mgt
properties management operations others Total

e S S 2010
LUES1d - B
St P&t I B oAt
BBt EYE Property Construction,
Sale investments T G 48 decoration
of developed and Hotel services and Hagt
properties management operations others Total

* 1 1E A S 3 ~ B R et - BB L KT * Capital additions include addition to property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
1 #HE - prepaid lease payments in both years.
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7. SEER () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) FBLE 5 RRE 2 Wk (d) Revenue from major products and services
AR A B L T N OIS 2 AR oy The analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and services is
B B a6 set out in Note 6.

(e) FH 7 7S 45 T ER 4 90% M ic 25 T 2 H (e€) No geographical segment analysis is shown as more than 90% of the Group’s
N5 2 S0 B P > b A revenue are derived from activities in, and from customers located in the
5B Mooy IE W B & A (BR T Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the carrying values of the Group’s
G BB R OUR GE BLJE K A ) non-current assets excluding financial instruments and deferred taxation
42,936,338,000 76 ( & — F4F : # assets amounting to HK$42,936,338,000 (2010: HK$29,286,692,000) are
29,286,692,000773) TRA A H A b o situated in the Chinese Mainland.

WS A 2 8 e M IR 2y 2 S SRR

(f) F T SIf7 0 B — 2% 5 A A AR A B AR (f)  The Group does not have major customers as no single customer contributes
HwEF0% LA b > Wi 4R I R more than 10% of the Group’s turnover of respective year.
F o

8. HAug A 8. OTHER INCOME

T
HK$'000

192,319
176,785

12913
645,150

60,378

120,575

1,208,120

BHFE @ 3% A T B o [ A S 75 TITIECRT S P 4R 2 A Note:  The amount represents mainly the compensations, subsidies and refunds of various taxes
T 3 ) B B AR K as incentives by the government authorities in various cities of the Chinese Mainland.
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9. HHME 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EAEUEMN T34 (F—F4F  154) &5 The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2010: 15) directors were as
Z@ﬂﬁﬁﬂ T follows:
b &t
TER AR i B fIER A0R Wan rEh ] LS
R pi [ i Ding Du li I Andrew Ho W o KmTo Shi Eis Thang  Frederick Toul
0 WangVin  JimgWei ~ YanBiao JieMin - Wen Min FuZw  WangShi Y Yan HinNgai~ Xiang Dong Peter Shan Bo WeiBin  HaiPeng  MaSiHing a1

BTE O OENTR O BRTR O BTR O BETR O BRTR O BETR O BRTE BRTR EMTR O BT #MTR BETR #RTR BiTR N
HRSO HRSOEKSON HKSOO RSO BKSOD HKSON  RSWO HKSOW EKSOO ERSOD RKSOD  EKSOO  ERSDO HKSOD  HRSO

8 - - - - - - - - 8 - - - - - 10

- - % 8 8 - - - - - - 8 8 8 - 480

- - - - - - 160 160 160 - 160 - - - 160 80

8 - 8 8 80 - 160 160 160 8 160 8 8 8 160 1440

2749 - - - - - - - - 2407 - - - - - 5246

13 - - - - - - - - 130 - - - - - bl

5565 - - - - - - - - 378 - - - - - 932

8354 - 8% 8 8 - 160 16 160 0494 160 Ll Ll Ll 160 1698

b &t

TER  OHXR PR Bio mER AR Vo REE RER  EWY %%

o o 23 Bl e i Ding Du li I Andrew Ho W KmTo Shi it Thng  Frederick Toul
010 WangYin  Jiang Wei Yan Biao JieMin Wen Min FuZwo  Wang Shi Y. Yan HinNgai  Xiang Dong Peter Shan Bo Wei Bin HaiPeng  MaSiHang pull

Mat : #EZE——FF T H A —HIFFEERA > IS Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2011, none (2010: None) of the directors have waived
B P (R ) o RIS AA 5 the directors” emoluments. None of the directors have received any inducement pay for
JER AR 2N 7 TN HRAT T 42 4 o Joining or upon joining the Company.
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10. 1 &
AREBELESFMALEFERAG (F %
) RN EE S AR SR R
9 HEp = (= F—F4F : =4) NL2Z2#4
I

ZH4NLZ &N T TR -

10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2010: two)
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
Note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2010: three) individuals were

as follows:

2010
T
HK$’000

6,094

332
9,669

11. M5 EH

A AR
Annual Report 2011

11. FINANCE COSTS

2010
T T
HK$°000

(1,548,952)
(95,572)

1,052,080

(592,444
(106,304

(698,748)
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12. i f3Riba 2 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2010
T
HK$’000

(773)
(2,307,546)

(2,308,319)

(3,095,943)

(726,770)

(6,131,032)
T 4 B 1 7 e R A ) 40 A 3 R S 32 ) Y Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for
16.5% 54 o both years.
DI AN e 2 S ot et = I BN = [ e <> S o Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax law (the “EIT Law”) and its detailed
A 0 ARG T B A SRR AR (% implementation rules promulgated on 16 March 2007 and 6 December 2007
AR ) R - SRR = B respectively, for those subsidiaries without preferential tax rates, the tax rate for
HBLR Y WEA G S > PR R IEAM 2 domestic and foreign enterprises was unified at 25% and had become effective from
TAEFAERERE R BT/ E—H — R 1 January 2008. For those subsidiaries enjoying a preferential tax rate, the tax rate
— B 25% > BRIE=AHEHB R HEAF would increase from 15% over 5 years to 25% as a result of the grandfathering
Al DU PR B 2 BE > IR TLAR A 15% provisions.
B A 25% o
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12. PR b 32 (48) 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
A T BT A5 B Sl B A A T Wi 2 3% T A A B i The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
T Al 2 EIRIR per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

T T
HK$’000

14,373,062

(3,593,266)
12,361

(1,028)
(270,739)
77,292
(36,015)
74,368
15,662
(88,783)

2,588
(3,095,943)

773,986
(1,515)

(6,131,032)
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13. 4 N ¥ Al 13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2010

T
HK$'000

1,440
5,506
9,352

1,378,755

116,697

147,224

1,058,974

(455,291)

17,261,290
1,680
7,662

128,808
289,399
295
82,205
1,127
318,057

7,279

(16,896)

1,824,006

(323,268)
1,500,738
Mfak o R AE AL ] A 5 W 496,442,000 TC (S F Note:  Loss of the Company for 2011 amounted to approximately HK$496,442,000 (2010: profit
— A ARAE i R HE W 1,592,449,000 7C) Jor the year amounted to approximately HK$1,592,449,000).
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14. It 8 14. DIVIDENDS

2010
T
HK$’000

551,696

1,158,257

149

1,710,102

967,194
ERHAERR M EE -F -+ H=+—H The final dividend of HK16.6 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year ended
A AR BE 1 AR 0T S A 3 R v T 16,01l (= 31 December 2011 (2010: final dividend of HK21.5 cents per ordinary share in
F—FE  WE_F-FFEL_A=+—HIE respect of the year ended 31 December 2010) has been proposed by the directors
A B 14 SR 0 v U 20 5 1) o M and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general
SR RO IR Jeeh 4 B R RO G Lot - 0 mIfE R o meeting.
ZER AR
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15. &R &) 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
AN TV N REAG A B S AR S i B R 4R AR The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners
BERIE of the Company is based on the following data:

T T
HK$’000

8,069,984

2010

5,404,557,214

9,582,539

7,543,755

5,481,683,508

| gl R A S E T &R0 A 2 ) The weighted average number of ordinary shares shown above has been arrived at
TR S BN ) R S R R T after deducting the effect on 18,172,000 shares (2010: 21,681,000 shares) held by
BRA R el 2 18,172,000 JB& 1B 143 ( — T — B4 BOCI — Prudential Trustee Limited, a trustee company for the Company’s Strategic
21,681,000 B ) 2 5 Bk wHFEAG Y - Incentive Award Scheme.

AR
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16. W3 ~ Wm Kk 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R

%1 IR

Rkt

Leasehold
BIEY%E improvements, T TERTE
Hotel |52 furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress
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16. Y13€ ~ s Kot (A1)

Wit -

(a) R e R — AR R S (A s
TR IEYFE -

(h) BE o E = HIEEE - BRI
ATHIFEZR 2 B SE G R > 1T B0 W) 3 2 WA A
FREGHEF o WA B T35 A T ) K EGE
S AFTREASEEE IR IFIE T o AL > 305054 3.2 R AT (e
T R 362 i 1 50,471,000 7C

S 3 o B 8 03 o 2
2t o A 2 S T A
AR 65 47 R B0 T

LAY - RS PR IR (BRTE AR TSN %
VAR A T AR 30 DA AR A A

T 15 4 2 B 20 B4 EHAE T
SEW S DU e
HEWEEE - 54
EUN G
HE 54

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Notes:

(a) The amounts for the year ended 2010 and 2011 mainly represented the hotel properties
which are under construction in the Chinese Mainland.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2011, the directors, based on the latest available and
reliable information received, revised the estimate for the estimated cost of completion for
the hotel properties, which was previously provided when the hotel properties were
substantially completed and ready for their intended use in the prior year. The carrying
amounts of the hotel properties and accrued charges were reduced by HK$50,471,000
accordingly.

Hotel properties are located in the Chinese Mainland and are situated on land held
under medium-term leases. For those buildings held by the Group, the terms of

leases are set out as follow:

T IT
HK$000

58,711
704,923

763,634

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in

progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis with the following estimated useful

lives:

Hotel properties and buildings 20-40 years or over the unexpired term of
lease, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements, 5 years

furniture and equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

—F AR | 135
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17. EATFEHE
THAHR B IA S 39 28 70 HE AR 0 5 EL AR IR IR B -
AR AT B R R RE B S 1 36,067,000 UG ( L F —F
A W5 920,183,000 76) - H A s 28,405,000
JC(F—FAF ¢ #H11,934,000 70) B AL £
ERTREAR > 5EAWE - BB KLk - flE
ARSI

18. ;&Y%

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
The prepaid lease payments are released over their lease terms of 39 to 70 years on
a straight-line basis. The release for the year is HK$36,067,000 (2010: HK$20,183,000),
of which HK$28,405,000 (2010: HK$11,934,000) is capitalised in construction in
progress included in property, plant and equipment. The terms of leases are set out

as follow:

31.12.2011
T
HK$'000

31.12.2010 1.1.2010

131,514
1,031,133

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e Y2

p3i ka2 /ES Investment

Completed properties
investment under Hast
properties construction Total
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18. &R EW ¥ (&) 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Wik : BE S F B = H L A
THEFYEZ > BRI RAAGT LA ERA
AT ALZCR) S i W) 2 7 L E R G ¥ - 1E E RS
HEH > S5 EY ERBREEZ AT
TEH #7415 97,120,000 TC

LA SR B 2 BB T > HOR T 2 U
W — [ B m 8 H o i S AR e
— T A ST A2 APE s TR B
VR S 0 ] 2 2 8 7. A S A (i R A
FEATBRZ AL %4 A THEAT 2 AL (ERTE o 3258
A (BRI 5 R A% A 3 T A A B [
FHAU 6 2 KB

P 2 O PAE T R A R R 4 FEE AT B 8 e
E

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group had changed the use of certain
properties, of which had commenced the operating lease to outsiders. Accordingly, it results
in a transfer from inventories of property to investment properties. On the date of
reclassification, the amount included an increase in fair value upon transfer to completed
investment properties of approximately HK$97,120,000.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties on the dates of reclassification
and acquisition of a subsidiary, at 31 December 2010 and 2011 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out as of those dates by CB Richard Ellis Hong
Kong Limited, independent qualified professional valuers, who are not connected
with the Group. The valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences

in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined by the valuers on the

following basis:

ERYE S - %%ﬁE{Uﬂﬂ [EEVEY/E v Vacant properties — by reference to market evidence of transaction
2 Gy ek T 1 a6 1% prices for similar properties in the similar locations
245 1 W — ﬁ%fﬂﬁiﬂ Iy %2'—(1!: 1 Occupied properties — by reference to capitalised income to be derived

A BGZ A 3 H AR AT
J1 s s (i ) 225 80
i SEARLR L G R )
G R TITG E %

TEEYZE — 2EBOHEREIIY
Z G ERE TG B E - W
B TAG T A B AL (o]

Eiid

PCEY AL TP A - S P AR A
A AR A8 268 REL 405 A7 T A BREEBORHL 4 AR
AEM &z 2 W EEE S ARE
Y > S RLA B AR o

from the existing tenancies and the reversionary
income potential of the properties or, where
appropriate, by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the
similar locations and conditions
Properties under — by reference to market evidence of transaction
construction prices for similar properties in the similar locations,
less estimated costs to completion and investors’

return

The investment properties are situated in the Chinese Mainland under medium term
leases. All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land, in respect of the investment
properties, held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified as investment properties and are accounted for using the fair

value model.
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19. I A\ Z W 2

AT ——EA R AEBEEAR
20,000,000 7T ( AH & i #5 ¥ 24,558,000 76 )
LR ] [ b — 44 A T O IR AR BB A &
oy HE T b (B B AT BR A A ([ S b
W) 1) o HEHE A (B ) 2 A R B R T AR
=Y E 9

W OE M (E ) 2 MR A S AR
200,000,000 JG » 11 A= £E 9] 308 A7 2 ) 4 (B 0%
10% 2 JBEHE o SRTAT - pl A A 2 [ 40 38 0 1 ot (1
) B A LU 3 200% o R G 4 A
F 2 AR E DI A Fl 7 A »

It ASBR % A+ A A
BTSN 429 B9 HE3E + 9 L (B
) 1L A A 5296 W2 2 I 24 71 = ol
IR IEL 2 R i 41

A AR
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T oo
HK$'000

105,873

660,915

On 27 April 2011, the Group contributed RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$24,558,000) and established an equity joint venture, namely China Resources
Land (Yancheng) Company Limited (“CRL (Yancheng)”), with a joint venturer in the
Chinese Mainland. The principal activity of CRL (Yancheng) is engaged in the

property development in Jiangsu.

The registered share capital of CRL (Yancheng) is RMB200,000,000 and the Group’s
equity interest in CRL (Yancheng) is 10%. However, as the Group’s proportion of
voting power in CRL (Yancheng) is 20%, the Group’s equity investment in which is

accounted for as an associate accordingly.

Subsequently on 21 October 2011, the Group has acquired additionally 42% from the
joint venturer which then become a 52% owned subsidiary of the Group. The details

of the acquisition are set out in Note 41(ii).



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. ABiE A w2 M4 (5) 19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
A A B S N T 2 A E R B A The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out
below:

31.12.2011 SHZJHH‘ 1.1.2010
T T
HK$'000

2,525,703
(955,225)

49,444

AR KL S N R 2 RE I RO R g 48(0) © Particulars of the Group’s associates are set out in Note 48(c).

20. )géé MAtFE R S EEE 2 20. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
it

ENTITY
31.12.2010 1.1.2010

T IT
HK$000

Bfat o R [ EER G B RO JF L TR AR 156 0T - Note:  The cost of unlisted investment in a jointly controlled entity is US$1.

ST AR
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20. R— L F e 4G H# >  20. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED

WEZS (48) ENTITY (continued)

T ME RS T 2 A E TR 25 B Ak AR 42 [ it — 7 The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interest in a jointly
TR e il A R 2 W B 2 RS R A i 51 controlled entity attributable to the Group’s interest which is accounted for using the
mr equity method is set out below:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T T
HK$'000

663,908

REF——F A= —H - AR IR Particulars of the Group’s jointly controlled entity as at 31 December 2011 are set out
PEH & EEHR RN s follows:
A
T AL JBeAHE £
4 G A b Principal place Group — FEEH
Name Place of incorporation of operation equity interest  Principal activity

140 | =%
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21, ME W — [ 2 2 v K0E

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$'000

485,488
(485,488)

§g~ T Tt 2 2 ok O 2 R SRR 488 £

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for amount
due from an associate

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$°000

(185,819)
(10,270)
(289,399)

(485,488)

JRE A — TR B 5 2 ) T R~ S B L AR
ERHM o RAFHEER S > ZEKENEGR
ot R AR A A T B R - RSIE IR
T IE o FHEJE I B R TE A5 R I 04 T R AR
I 5% (F—FAE 1 5%) o FFIN > AT EH
G B W 20500000 (L F AR i
172,000 7 ) $E A VE T4 — T B 7 2 ) 2 Tl AR i
o HE R EHR I SRR G Bk o A M
FE AR BRI A 0 1 0 A DL B R D R
BAFANEEEE ®E_F——F1T2A
S HOARAEEE > AR R HL e I A I
A AR A TR 4R 2 A R A

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and does not have
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
amount will not be repayable in the next twelve months after the end of the
reporting period, and accordingly, it is shown as non-current. The effective imputed
interest rate per annum on the non-current balance is 5% (2010: 5%). During the
year, the amount of fair value adjustment of HK$295,000 (2010: HK$172,000) is
deemed as the capital contribution in an associate, which has been fully impaired
and charged to profit or loss. The Group did not hold any collateral over their
balance. The Group assessed the credit quality of the associate regularly based on its
financial position and its ability to repay. During the year ended 31 December 2011,
the Group considered the recoverability is uncertain and full amount of provision

was provided for during the year.
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22, Affit i B 22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$'000

443778

(264,125)

179,653
F 7 1S A 8 S A 9% R T 35 N R A > i b A The above available-for-sale investments were measured at cost less impairment at
NEZAEFHEE R E > USA SR ERRE the end of the reporting period since the equity investments do not have a quoted
ey ] SEEH RN E > b gl ] ik R market price in an active market and the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
A WA 3 AR BRI E R o so significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair value

cannot be reliably measured.

ARAERE > AREBMHE P —IEE LT BRAREZ # In the current year, the Group’s investment cost in one of the unlisted equity
%ﬁEZISEq&@%%7,925,000ﬁ(:?~2?$ : investments had been refunded in the amount of HK$7,925,000 (2010:
8,500,000 7C) HK$8,500,000).

AN 4E %Tﬁ{%&%&ﬁ}:%%&ﬁ&jhﬁ&ﬁ% The Group’s remaining available-for-sale investments represent mainly certain
%ﬁﬁ_\i H’J%%&%WE/A% a1 B unlisted equity securities held by a property investment subsidiary established in
il &N e Beijing and Hainan.
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23. JEi I A AT &

Wit -

T AR RS BRI RN AGT L B IR O B
Tt WAL g 20 i AT IR 2 ) (T L 2 1) 50%
JREHE - Bl (C I 25 A R 1,008,180,000 TC (#1  J its
#51,243,590,0007C) (= F—3F4 + AR H1,008,180,000
TC (8 i 15 1,184,793,000 C) | i 43 13— [ )
PR A o AE L REH Y HE TR o

TR A B AAFRT 8 A R 452,454,000 7C (#1577
558,102,000 7C) (= F—F4F : AR WF452,454,000
TG (HE R 1 519,229,000 7C) - TTBR T 4% B AU E 7 M
Al 43 DEFE 15 B ARG o TMIWIR S G AP —F — —4F
TEH o

T S I A S [ R o 1 A - 3 1 7 £
B HETEIE P SE AT A B I KT o BRI - AL
V5 A BT - o 0 1 RS o T AR A AR
T AT IR A A A B A

23. DEPOSITS PAID FOR NON-CURRENT

ASSETS

Notes:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 ‘ 1.1.2010

T
HK$'000

558,102

6,804,001

7,362,103

During 2010, the Group entered into a provisional share transfer agreement with an
outsider to acquire 50% equity interest of |/ s B HRAF (il 5 ”) for cash
consideration of RMB1,008,180,000 (equivalent to HK$1,243,590,000)
(2010: RMB1,008, 180,000 (equivalent to HK$1,184,793,000)). | /& #i & is a property
development company engaged in the property development business in Shanghai.

At the end of the reporting period, deposit of RMB452,454,000 (equivalent to
HK$558,102,000) (2010: RMB452,454,000 (equivalent to HK$519,229,000)) had been
paid and the remaining balance was disclosed as capital commitment as set out in Note
43. The acquisition is expected to complete in 2012.

The amount represents the partial payments macde by the Group for the acquisition of land
use rights in the Chinese Mainland for the development of investment properties. The land
use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group at the end of the reporting
period. The management expects that the Group would obtain all the relevant land use
right certificates in the coming twelve montbs after the end of reporting period.
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24, BEMIEEE (AE) 24. DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS
(LIABILITIES)

MEE S MBIRMEZ BIME - & TIERERTE For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position,
EE R AMD TR o TR AR R certain deferred taxation assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
IR LB TE &5 B AT - analysis of the deferred taxation balances at the end of the reporting period:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HKS$'000

711,117
(4,259,162)
(3,548,045)
DATR T IR AR 52 B PEAF B 2 L el 1 2R AE The followings are the major deferred taxation assets (liabilities) recognised and
BUH Y (B A BT - movements thereon during the current and prior years.
HADET
HEH
Other
RIREHE TR {EB temporary
i <t/ES Allowance Land BiFER  differences
Investment  for doubtful  appreciation Tax (Ff3E) At
properties debts tax losses (Note) Total

Mt © HMERFERE LM EE A~ A R G Note:  Other temporary differences mainly represent the deductible temporary differences arising
6L ] 7 9 K A B 5 P A 22 AT 113k I S from the write down of inventory of properties, impairment loss of available-for-sale

investments and other expenses.
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24 EFERLIE E ZE (R ()

HoFE g A= H s AREEA RE
FABLIE R HE 5 W5 1,443,444,000 JC (B —FA4F
5 852,531,000 7C) Al ik AR HK 88 H 1% %5 Il
T TE M 18 9 785 1,004,744,000 76 ( & — FA4F ¢
W5 267,960,000 70 ) T 78 £ 8 4L i JH & 28 o
A AR N ) R R L B DL TE R RE S B A W H
5% 10 s R BORE > T 4k B T B T A 4R U
438,700,000 7C ( & — FA4F : ¥ ¥ 584,571,000
JC) e HR AR AE B TH Y o BiIE R IR 2 W] A
FAFE o

25. YIRF R

Wy A L0 R B R S A AR A R -
H A ) 2E A7 £ TR AT A R AR T M T 1Rk
] o Jo AR 2 [ OF A I 2 R B > BB B
TEE A o & LG AL FE A A R T
H %52 BN Y A7 B B R R 1K 74,278,502,000

IG ©

26. H A7 &

24. DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS
(LIABILITIES) (continued)

At 31 December 2011, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$1,443,444,000 (2010:
HK$852,531,000) available for offset against future profits. HK$1,004,744,000 (2010:
HK$267,960,000) tax losses have been recognised as deferred taxation assets. No
deferred taxation asset has been recognised on the remaining tax losses of
HK$438,700,000 (2010: HK$584,571,000), as in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are uncertain. The tax losses

could be carried forward for a maximum of five years.

25. INVENTORY OF PROPERTIES

31.12.2011
T
HK$000

1.1.2010

90,990,463
7,110,212

98,100,675

The inventory of properties were located in the Chinese Mainland under medium-
term lease. Inventory of properties which are expected to be recovered in more than
twelve months after the end of the reporting period are classified under current
assets as it is expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating cycle. The
amounts of inventory of properties that are expected by the management to be
realised after more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are

HK$74,278,502,000.

26. OTHER INVENTORIES

31.12.2011
T IT
HK$'000

31.12.2010 1.1.2010

25,242
139,946
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27. R - HAb W HERIE % 27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
oA & RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 ‘ 1.1.2010
T T
HK$'000

1,697,977
(161,136)

1,536,841

15,763,361

1,500,277
(346,309)

1,153,968
2,502,640
20,956,816

Bt Notes:
(@) I 4 A BT S [ o R R A - S 1 P R (a) The amount represents the partial payments made by the Group for the acquisition of land
R H B T LA BB 53 K o MBI WA A use rights in the Chinese Mainland for property development for sale. The land use right
JE 3R I AF L I 0 RERE o R PT AT AGRT v R certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group at the end of the reporting period.
B T i B ] 7E R A5 0 A 1 - M8 A TR A5 R Among the deposits paid, the management expects the Group would obtain the relevant
L 1 H RS 233 15,056, 733,000 7C land use right certificates in the coming twelve months after the end of reporting period are
HK$15,056,733,000.
(b) FM 5k 4 2 G 4% 3 TEF O TE H BB IF 1 3% > AR (b) Other receivables include mainly temporary payments paid for potential projects and
CAFE 3 ZE I H 58 1 H AT A8 #1978 H A BE % - project-related deposits which would be refundable upon completion of the development
projects.
LB ) S TR AT T 4 B B e T A S Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled in accordance with
A7 o — MBI 5 > W36 SRR B W e A the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Generally, purchasers of
30 KA AT BR R EAS & A AEA 5 B0 - properties are required to settle the balance within 30 days as specified in the sales

and purchase agreements or not granted with any credit period.

W 26 2 MG - FLE ) 26 6 Mo s Except for the proceeds receivable from sales of properties, rental income from lease
B #9 2 BE SRR TE B ZE R 4B B W e R K S A of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which are payable in
Sh o ARG TR AR 45 RI0E & accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a
o credit period of not exceeding 45 days to its customers.
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27. FEWOR K ~ oAt RO IE

EAFET 4 ()

F AR ISR 3 B A f 55 6 A 2% 75 T 1,430,000
JC (T F—FAE - #HE4,090,00070) > B B4 H
TS o Sl M B S A 4 ORI A RIRR Ui
[E] °

ARALWAE B S 2R BRI AR {5 SR
il JEE R AR TERAE % 5 W05 BEKOT- > I B E
A BERRAR o AR B RE 2 AR O WIR AR
HTE T AR o AR ) I 2 Y B (L A R Y
BARGFNOERER -

VAT 5 i 5 S0 AR BB WS 1) R e 2o T

C A0 B3 L 2 R sk 2 M 6 20 A

A AR P i TR R 4G BR B R T AR (W N
128,682,000 G ( & — 4 # ¥ 169,330,000

JG) W REM IR R > 5% 5 FE S IR IR B 38 Z i —
@&%ﬁiﬁiaﬁﬁ A 44 8] ST 08 7 o4
(R TR o A A2 B 8 ot U B i MR R 65 iR £
HEE TUERERNYEREHRE -

CF A RS SR TG S0 R o AR SRR
A BRI AU ZOR MR > H e 331 e
FE— A

AR LT 1T 2 4 0 SRR B - AT AN
W HRER B FE A RE ISR IR 2 A5 R T K - M A
ELFA A AR Hh e 43 Al

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID
(continued)

Retention receivables included in trade receivables amounted to HK$1,430,000 (2010:
HK$4,090,000) are interest-free and receivable at the end of the retention period of

individual construction contracts.

Before accepting any customers, the Group uses an internal credit assessment system
to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and defines credit limits by customer,
and considers adequate allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.

Balances which are neither past due nor impaired are all with good credit quality.

The followings are the aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period:

Aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment

31.12.2010 1.1.2010

HK$°000

1,356,466

180,375

1,536,841

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$128,682,000 (2010: HK$169,330,000) which are all aged over one year
and past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss. The Group has retained the legal ownership of the

properties sold to the property buyer for overdue debtor balances.

There are no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group considers
they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year from the date of

advance.

The Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records and considered adequate

allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.
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27. MEMCRK - S0t RE WO IH e
CAFET 4 (88)

VAT 2 4 A5 IR 2 2 o i 00 e AL 2 A B
(B 2 A RESGRIE (FUBRLE) 2 WRE AT -

A B R T (0 Bkl D) 2 B e 2 A

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID
(continued)

The following is an aged analysis of other receivables net of impairments at the end

of the reporting period which are all past due but considered not impaired:

Aged analysis of other receivables net of impairment

31.12.2011 31.12 1.1.2010

T
HK$000

903,713
250,255

1,153,968

SR S R A 6 5 181 P 9 (E 2 IR R B
fiby JBE iz B TE 23 WS 5 161,136,000 7G K s
346,309,000 7C ( —ZF — 4 « k359,236,000
JC M #E W 375,182,000 76) % %5 ME YR IR F 2 K
TN B I A e o B IR e S R Pl i e o AR R
9 7 488 50 55 B A AT AT AR o DATF S
WSt R R S L A JRE e R T 2R (e 2 B -

JRE AL Rk oA R 488 £ 2 5 )

A AR
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Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade
receivables and other receivables of HK$161,136,000 and HK$346,309,000 (2010:
HK$359,236,000 and HK$375,182,000) respectively, which have been in severe
financial difficulties and irrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. The followings are the movements in the accumulated impairments

for trade receivables and other receivables.
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade
receivables
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$'000

359,236

8,087
119,588

(325,775)
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27. JEWUEZK - HALEWIEIE & 27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

BT 4 (48)
H A A W P SR M 1 2 52 0

RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID

(continued)
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for other

receivables
31.12.2011 1.1.2010

T
HK$'000

375,182
16,943
9,220

(55,036)

346,309

28. ;ﬁg W (RN BB E# T 28. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS

WoE 4+ A=+ —H > EAREIRIER
H B & P kA % R A 0 17 1 4 2 s
1,430,000 JG ( —ZF—F4F  #% 4,090,000 70) °
FEA LA REAT ARIE A B B A & 5 1 A A TR
K Fy s 118,696,000 TG ( & — EAE ¢ i
67,912,0007C) ° A ZF— 4R T -FF
FToA=Et R EHEEINE P AL LR
FFA MR & R EWEF A5 TR ¢
AR AR + WA NEE

FOR CONTRACT WORKS

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 ‘ 1.1.2010
T
HK$°000

11,457,046
(10,906,398)

550,048

1,013,977
(463,329

550,648

At 31 December 2011, retentions held by customers for contract works included in
trade receivables amounted to HK$1,430,000 (2010: HK$4,090,000). Advances
received from customers for contract work included in other payables amounted to
HK$118,696,000(2010: HK$67,912,000). At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the
management expects both the retentions held by customers for contract works and
advances received from customers for contract works will be realised within twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.
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29.

30.

WEWACI] 2% B I o W L4
JBe vl — 3 e e ) A
R sOH

HERECIF] 7 W 4 BRI 75 - 1%
RS H ORS¢
RETEZTE S E T SRS E0s SX
Bl - RFFE T AS T K
SRS ACH T G 52 5 PE T B W A A
CELTISCR

JRE WS L 3 2 M 2 ) B — [ B 428 ) 5 T
T SRR SRR A S BB B 4 > By I
1~ G BT R A -

P& RRIT AT

B4 T SRAT B A7 BLAR FBUAT A7 3K R 2R 0.36 )8
53 (ZF—FAF 0,018 £3.01 ) 5
Z S INERATAE K -

B4 Je SR AT &5 Bk 40 18 BRI SR AT A7 5K
3,460,193,000 JC ( — & —Z4F + ¥ 200,780,000
Jt) - KA AR e EEREE -

BeAk > A4 A N ¥ 11,322,384,000 7 (AH 8 i
##513,966,161,000 JC) (= F—F4F : AR
8,582,981,0007C ( AH & A W 5 10,086,548,000
J0)) ZARIE AN RMERHE » H RS H ik
2K -

Bl RRAT R iR AT B R

A AR
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29.

30.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES/IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY/A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

In respect of the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, as at 31 December 2011, the
amounts represent mainly the short-term loan advances to fellow subsidiaries, which
are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2010, the
amounts were unsecured, trade in nature and recoverable within twelve months after

the end of the reporting period.

The amounts due from immediate holding company and a jointly controlled entity
represent mainly the short-term loan advances and working capital which are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits carry interest at
prevailing deposit rates which range from 0.36% to 5.3% (2010: 0.01% to 3.01%) per

annum.

Included in cash and bank balances are restricted bank deposits of HK$3,460,193,000
(2010: HK$200,780,000) which can only be applied in the designated property

development project.

In addition, there is a total balance amounting to RMB11,322,384,000 (equivalent to
HK$13,966,161,000) (2010: RMB8,582,981,000 (equivalent to HK$10,086,548,000))

denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

31.12.2011
T
HK$'000

31.12.2010 1.1.2010

483,325
13,966,161
917,076

1,719
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31. FEAT R S At 4] HiR T 31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.201(
T
HK$'000

9,083,074
6,007,425
15,150,499
Bat:  BRETEECTENCHIE ~ BE IR~ Tk R Note: — Amounts include mainly receipt in advance, other taxes payable, tlemporary receipts and
HILH - accrued salaries.
DAR 23 A R A IR Rk ) B 40 AT The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting
period:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.201(
T
HK$'000

5,915,210
3,167,804

9,083,074
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32. AR CKGT &

H P TE T A B 4 B T R AR+ R A R
BB AL IERSEEZ N > MRS
Fh U AR - P E I T AR S AR
R A 1% B B 4 8 15 T 15 16,172,466,000 TG ©

33. HEAH 7 7 I 4 ), PR
e W] FE IR A

JREASF ) 2% BEF g 2> R I = 2 4 R STI] % BA J
R RG> T MK R AR SR A o

JRE A B2 M ) e I 8 PR S A 7
AT~ B HLZE BRI 2 Bk B
A

ZH AR AR
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32.

33.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED FROM PRE-SALES
OF PROPERTIES

The amounts which are expected to be realised in more than twelve months after
the end of the reporting period are also classified under current liabilities as it is
within the Group’s normal operating cycle. The amounts that are expected by the
management to be realised by more than twelve months after the end of the

reporting period are HK$16,172,466,000.

AMOUNTS DUE TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES/IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY/NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, mainly represent the loan advances from the

fellow subsidiaries, which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to immediate holding company and non-controlling interests
represent mainly the loan advances and working capital which are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.
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34, SRITIHE 34. BANK BORROWINGS

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$'000

8,801,567
44,170,008

52,971,635

22,073,099
3,921,772

23,202,875
3,773,889

52,971,635

(22,073,099)

30,898,536
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34. SRATAE L (4E) 34. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

154

A2 [ AT IS R O e W DL AL 2 R
HZ EERIIT

SRATAE B AL 45 41 Xy B 5 AR R 265,08 JB (%
—fﬁ AEF R 4880 ) 51 R 2 BAG S
11,458,638,000 G ( — & — & 4 i ¥
12,976,788,000 JC ) M 4% B BE 47 B 32 2.24 JHL (
T T4 0,978 ) 5B K A% AU 8RAT R 2EHF
BN F0.34 JHE 240 (ZF—F4F - FiER
TR ZEHR BN 0.33 JH 2 1.3 1) 2 4 KI4EFI R 5
B2 BN 41,512,997,000 0 (ZF—%
AE 5 24,830,450,000 7G) o MR AR BB K
R I HAGEE o A REE A I EOT B I I — S A
%o

oA 42 18 4 B 2 s W 27,687,842,000 76 (& —
?E ¢ 5 20,980,450,000 9C ) 2 SR AT M BT

iz TECRH B8 B e 2 Ak - e T A e 2B
%z#ﬁmﬁ;ﬁ AR AR ] BB T I AR 2 D
35% °

A AR
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The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T T
HK$°000

28,087,843

Bank borrowings include fixed-rate borrowings of HK$11,458,638,000 (2010:
HK$12,976,788,000) which carry interest at average fixed rate of 5.98% per annum
(2010: 4.88% per annum) and variable-rate borrowings of HK$41,512,997,000 (2010:
HK$24,830,450,000) which carried effective interest rate at 2.24% (2010: 0.97%) per
annum and contractual interest at HIBOR plus a certain percentage ranging from
0.34% to 2.4% (2010: HIBOR plus from 0.33% to 1.3%) per annum. The borrowings
are repayable by instalments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with the

terms set out in the respective loan agreements.

In respect of bank borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$27,687,842,000 (2010:
HK$20,980,450,000), in accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements,
CRH is required to hold not less than 35% of the issued share capital of the Company

at any time during the period of the loans.
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35. i & T A 35. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
JREFH S e g s AT A TR Derivatives under hedge accounting

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
T
HK$'000

(41,582)
(55,078)

(96,660)

(14,924)

(81,7360)

(96,660)
bl A T AR E > 7R R R R 2 The above derivatives are measured at fair value which is estimated using valuation
B AR I R A B R 4 A0 A A (A il v technique of discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable yield curve of
FrAhEr o interest rates.
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35. iR T R (4) 35. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

B 4 i Cash flow hedges
ARAEF A R (FEAEEIFE) - Bl The Group uses interest rate swaps (net quarterly settlement) to minimise its
BRI T B A SR ERAT A SR [ G AR > R exposure to interest expenses of its floating-rate Hong Kong Dollar bank borrowings
& H 7 E\{%fﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬁg IS, Bﬁi‘i)ﬁtliﬁ o 5 by swapping a partial amount of the bank borrowings from floating interest rates to
| 5 e 4] T R RE SRAT 18 B0 10 45 S TR > IRIL fixed interest rates. The interest rate swaps and the corresponding bank borrowings
RGN ) HE R R R A R AR ) Ay B A A have the similar settlement periods and the directors of the Company considered that
WLH o AT ——4 N —FF > WIEF| the interest rate swaps are highly effective hedging instruments. Major terms of the
IR AR two interest rate swaps in both 2011 and 2010 are set out below:

HFREH WA ki ] EPIEE

Notional amount Maturity Swaps Hedged item

Bt - B S G T 2 R ST A s EUH A (P kv Note:  The measurement and assessment of the effectiveness of the above bedges as at and for the
JEE RTAE T A FR 2N A i i RGPy Lt — 3 ——4F years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 bave been carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited,
R BRI = — HRBEZHILFEERE independent qualified professional valuers who are not connected with the Group, with
AL o 3% 1 (e PR 70 2 B A - T C B I A T appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar bedge
KR LR R RCRTAG N AE R o 3 M2 17 4 L effectiveness of derivatives. The hedge effectiveness was arrived at on the basis of the
LG LG AE 5 B 2 B i e B ) Y ) KT and of the ability of the derivatives to offset changes in cash flows
T AEHEG U] attributable to the interest rate risk.
At 1) Fe 45 1 Other interest rate swaps
N ZF AR R AP EE e The terms of other interest rate swaps in both 2011 and 2010 that are not qualified
I HAL R SR B 2 ek B R R e for hedge accounting are disclosed below.
ot A ER]
Notional amount Maturity Swaps

A AR
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35, AiA: 4w T H (48)

Al e (7)

WERE T ——FE+ A=+ —HILEE - B
G LR R T 2 ST A B i A 2 A A
Sy Byl 9,177,000 JG ( F — AR« B &
ol ) S A W 2 T (B 58 T s 18 2 A S o S s
20,435,000 78) 37 £ 7 FHoA A T 5 45 e 58 B
B R REE_F——F+ A
S BRARRE > 160 AT B A U R e
W 2 4 sk 4y 2 A T (E 8 B i g A s
1,188,000 7C ( % —F4F « 858 I/ B & i 3
o ) S W) 2 S o 2 T (B 5 B e A A s
1,733,000 7 ) % (1] F A ] 256 452 B0 20 1 (6 53 )
Wi 25 5 s 45,474,000 0 ( B —FAF + HABLF
SR (BL 5 B e 4R 1 7,230,000 70) A 2
¥ 46,662,000 TG ( B —F4E © AN TEEE
i A L 5 08,063,000 70) BF AR B (& —
FTAE L AR IR -

36. A

(@) R EEAAELHA ZANH - KL AT 300,000,000
B BE IR AT (E 78 5 0.10 TCHY 2 JKE - A 75 A S [ 57
B o AR A5 TET BB B R A [ S e

35. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

Other interest rate swaps (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the effective portion of the gain on
changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps under cash flow hedge amounted to
HK$9,177,000 (2010: the effective portion of the loss on changes in fair value of the
interest rate swaps under cash flow hedge amounted to HK$20,435,000) has been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the gain on changes in fair value of the
ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge of
HK$1,188,000 (2010: loss on changes in fair value of the ineffective portion of the
interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge of HK$1,733,000) together with
the gain on changes in fair value of other interest rate swaps of HK$45,474,000 (2010:
loss on changes in fair value of other interest rate swaps of HK$7,230,000), totalling
HK$46,662,000 (2010: loss on changes in fair value totalling HK$8,963,000) is
credited (2010: charged) to profit or loss.

36. SHARE CAPITAL

A A
Number of shares Share capital
31.12.2011 h 1.1.2010

BHTL
HK$000

7,000,000,000 700,000

5,387,240,447 538,724

1,245,000

437,983,343

5,826,468,790

Notes:

(a) On 26 May 2009, the Company issued 300,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 to finance
the Group’s working capital. The new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the then
existing shares in all aspects.
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36.

37.

JBA ()

Mat o ()

() BEF—— A= Eutfﬁ/fd] EATl)
JifE J T 7T I 471,245,000 (= F — FAF
8,990,000 %) 4 1% 7 (E 5 1 0.10 7T 149 2 48 JE = 1 170 g

JRHE NG 7712 157 AT 557 1 25 15 0.96 7C % it Wk 3.23 70 (—
F— A NR0.96 TC F s 3,97 T0) o IR
75 7 BT LI AT IR O A7 T 5 s o

(© T E ——AE A A H oo Y R L) SE AT
437,983,000 1 # JI& 107 {E] 75 15 0.10 7C 2 2 40 J& (3 1] 42
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36.

37.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

b) During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company issued 1,245,000 (2010:
8,990,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each upon exercise of share options. The exercise
price of the share options during the period ranges from HK$0.96 to HK$3.23 (2010:
HK$0.96 to HK$3.97) per share. The new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the then
existing shares in all aspects.

(c) On 11 October 2011, 437,983,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were issued for the
acquisition of the Speedy Hill Group (2010: 348,239,279 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
were issued for the acquisition of the Fast Lead Group) (see Note 47(a) for details), a group
of combining entities under common control, from CRH.

SENIOR NOTES

On 19 May 2011, the Company issued senior notes with principal amount of
US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,833,620,000) at an offer price of 99.353% of the
face value of the notes (“Senior Notes™). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest at
4.625% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 19 May 2016.

The notes are unsecured and carry effective interest rate of 4.772% per annum.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(the “SGX-ST”). The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 December 2011 was
estimated at approximately US$739,575,000 (equivalent to HK$5,748,103,000), which

was determined based on the closing market price of which at that date.

On 3 August 2011, the Company issued additional senior notes with principal
amount of US$250,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,948,160,000) at an offer price of
99.252% of the face value of the notes (“Additional Senior Notes”). The notes bear
coupon interest at 4.625% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due
on 19 May 2016. The Additional Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective

interest rate of 4.8% per annum.

The Additional Senior Notes are listed on the SGX-ST. The fair value of the
Additional Senior Notes at 31 December 2011 was estimated at approximately
US$247,025,000 (equivalent to HK$1,919,920,000), which was determined based on

the closing market price of which at that date.

The Group has the options to redeem all of the Senior Notes and Additional Senior
Notes, in full but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and

unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.
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38. A/ ] Z MBI UL E R 38. INFORMATION ABOUT THE FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

TAHRAEBAR » AN T 2 BABSIR DB R T - Information about the financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting
period includes:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

T T
HK$'000

25,445,195
13,535

25,458,730

6,726
48,180,502
430,089

48,623,917

251,249
3,343,405

10,010,000
14,924

13,619,578
35,004,339
60,463,069

582,647
33,967,120

34,549,767
18,077,843

81,736
7,753,723

25,913,302
60,463,069
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39. Ji I RE E L 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

160 | -
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3R 22 B AN T 2 RIE > DR T A
A H A% -
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The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of promoting
additional commitment and dedication to the objectives of the Company by

participants, namely the “New Scheme”.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the Company which
was approved by the shareholders in general meeting on 31 January 2002. The board
of directors may grant options to eligible participants, including executive or non-
executive directors of the Company, any discretionary object of a discretionary trust
established by any employee of the Group, executive or non-executive directors of
the Company, any executives and employees of consultants, professional and other
advisors to the Group, chief executive, substantial shareholder of the Company,
associate companies of the Group, associates of directors, chief executive and
substantial shareholder of the Company, and employees of substantial shareholder.
The exercise price of the share option under the New Scheme is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of grant, the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, and the nominal
value of the share. The total number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise
of all options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and the
maximum number of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted thereunder and the maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme is respectively, equivalent to the maximum limit permitted under the

prevailing Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Scheme may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer together with the payment of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The vesting and exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
at the entire discretion of the board of directors with the vesting period not
exceeding four years and the exercise period will not exceed a period of ten years
immediately after acceptance of grant. Options are lapsed if the employee leaves the
Group before the options vest. At 31 December 2011, the number of shares in
respect of which options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
New Scheme was 11,127,500 (2010: 12,372,500) shares, representing 0.19% (2010:

0.23%) to the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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39. i oA wt il (49) 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
TRFEERES (BAES) A q) iR The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options held by
1 T AR 2 SR ) - employees (including directors) and movements in such holdings during the year:
BE 22—+ _H=1+—HIL® For the year ended 31 December 2011
&

B I HE R

Number of share options
S
IS SR
13 xR +=A
Tl —H—R AN AR AR =t—n
Exercise W RATE Granted Exercised Lapsed AT
B EY price BB i Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant per share  Vesting period Exercisable period at 1.1.2011 the year the year the year at 31.12.2011
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39. i BORE st (49) 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
BE_E-FZFEtT_H=1+—HIL®E For the year ended 31 December 2010
&
R R
Number of share options

7

7 ZE-FF

(=34 “ER-FE +=A

Frfif —H—H AN AR ATE AR =+—n

Exercise W RATE Granted Exercised Lapsed W ARAT

B EY price B i Outstanding during during during  Outstanding

Date of grant per share  Vesting period Exercisable period at 1.1.2010 the year the year the year at 31.12.2010
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39. W ERE A (48)

b P HRAR L S T SRR A ) 2 S )

FEEWT

BEZR -+ A= —HILE

JE&

(5313

TR

Exercise

it A price
Date of grant per share

§§:$~§$+:HE+~HE¢

s

i

Exercise

Bt B price
Date of grant per share

39. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

of the Company included in the above table are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2011

TS

Number of share options

Details of the movements of the share options during the year held by the directors

S
TR
~H—H
W ARAT
Outstanding
at 1.1.2011

i )
Vesting period

AT

Exercisable period

SR
Granted
during

the year

ERTTEE AFRRN
Exercised Lapsed
during during
the year the year

For the year ended 31 December 2010

SR

Number of share options

S

“F—F

+=A

=t—H

i ARAT I

EHAR Outstanding
Reallocation  at 31.12.2011

S

BT

i

R Frftie Outstanding
Vesting period Exercisable period  at 1.1.2010

R
Granted
during

the year

ERITME FRER
Exercised Lapsed
during during
the year the year

S
“EER
+=A
=t-n
LESH
Outstanding

A
Reallocation  at 31.12.2010

ST AR
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39. W REET ) (48) 39. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

BE_R-RET A= HIRE

JE (#8)

Wi TR TS B A7 A A P K 2 7 2
1 AR5 0 L2 1 923 T2 A
AR I A -

AR TN AT (o B PR A AT 08 B0 2 R 5 e £
Bl i 1200 (ZF —F4F i 15.7500) © fiT
HIER B AP 2 =4F > T H
% > A 33% 2 50% I B HE ] T bR E

MR T4+ T = H R
W AT B S SRR 5 LT R 4 TR NI A
W FERE B S i 42 th 22 D P AR 2 a0 4 3 2R
BEes - AL BIAA Al 2 IR 2
T BH 52 s W 224,000 TG BV A 2 R — R AR
+ A=+ — B R o

AR AR w2 P L

HEEENFERLA=ZTH(HFA/BR]) > A2
PR 0 O S B ) (T FER D) o R A PR H
WL HET 104 I B 1A 3 - IRIERT IRk >
AN RS A 5E 0 22T AP AR B PR O B AR A T
A BRZ F B FE T ) K R AT S Ay o RN s A
SE IR T E RS s W 11,0570 (& —F4E ¢
14.1070) Wt #I A 18,846,000 BERE M (. —
A 18,506,000 LI AY) o AR A IAR - FEFE
BT 5 KRB A48 18,172,000 B (—F—F
AF 121,681,000 ) > S0 5  225,726,000 JC
(ZZ—F4F - % 227,735,00000) > HZFEAN
g e

AN AR RIUR T AL EE B R 2 ety
Z BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

Note:  The reallocation of options arose when the option holders changed their positions in the
Company from directors to employees or vice versa in the year. These options were granted
to them in previous years.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share
price at the dates of exercise is HK$12.00 (2010: HK$15.75). All options were granted
with a vesting period of two to three years and 33% to 50% of which would be

vested annually after the grant date.

There was no share option expense recognised during the year ended 31 December
2011 as no new share options were granted in the year and the previously granted
share options were fully amortised in the prior year. Share option expense of
HK$224,000 has recognised by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 in

relation to share options granted by the Company.

SHARES HELD FOR STRATEGIC
INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”), a Strategic Incentive Award Scheme (the
“Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules
of the Scheme, the Company has set up a trust with a trustee company, BOCI —
Prudential Trustee Limited, for the purpose of administering the Scheme and holding
the shares. During the year, the Group purchased 18,846,000 (2010: HK$8,506,000)
shares of the Company for the Scheme at weighted average price of HK$11.65 (2010:
HK$14.10). Under the Scheme, there were total unawarded shares of 18,172,000
(2010: 21,681,000) amounting to HK$225,726,000 (2010: HK$227,735,000) held by the

trustee at the end of the reporting period.

Details of the movements of shares of the Company awarded to employees and

directors of the Company during the year are as follows:

B S

Number of

awarded share

164 | =% —wmen
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40. T OB w3 B R BeAy (4)

BFE : JROHECH €245 11,161,172 RGO T3 17 A 4F 2 ARFEIE 1%
[AJAESEG - LE TG H i R% 55 IR O D8 1R A B2 B
TR HEE L FEAESE

BE-F -4+ A=+—HI4EE > AR
Al RARARAE A2 F HE A S MR B A
11,161,672 ( = F — F4F © 21,975,904 % )
ety o i Z AR I B A AR N R
B o R KA I 2 T2 A 6
HAZE23MH o BB E A g2 AT
(B (B 2 W5 M5 131,033,000 06 ( B —F4F « i
219,712,000 7C) © B WS SN 51 3 2 LA 3£
R W 156,576,000 6 ( ZF —FA4F « i
194,169,000 7G) » FAAE A EL R Sy BH 3 o

AR ) IR A s 2l R o R A . Y S T 2 A
M- e i 1 2 v 12,86 T »

WA 2 8 TR 225 42 0 ) 2 SRl
AR A 01T B  f e 0 ) 2 PR BB
JBe iy 2 A5 B8 ) 2 R I HE 2 A B (H AT T 5
— FPETITIHEE (A SR ) o WYARE 2 IR
JBe A3 V(B B AR 52 [ MG R 2 2 80 7 45 YA
SHOE il LT e Y AT (LI P AT PR AT
(R

Ay BT DL Rt R R AR R W 2 3R
T HREZ 21

§§:£~—$+:Hz+~ﬁmﬁ

40. SHARES HELD FOR STRATEGIC

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Note:  The number of shares included 11,161,172 shares which were awarded in the current year
and became vested in the same year, since they were awarded in relation to past services
and the relevant performance conditions were achieved.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, a total of 11,161,672 (2010: 21,975,904)
shares of the Company had been awarded to the directors of the Company and
employees of the Group at no consideration. The shares awarded in 2011 were all
vested in the year, while in last year, the average vesting period ranged from 6
months to 23 months. The total fair value of the awarded shares determined at the
date of grant was HK$131,033,000 (2010: HK$219,712,000). Total share-based
payments in respect of the Strategic Incentive Award Scheme of HK$156,576,000
(2010: HK$194,169,000) was recognised as an expense for the year.

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the

date on which the restricted shares were vested was HK$12.86.

The fair value of the awarded shares was determined by reference to the closing
share price at the date of grant after deductions of the present value of foregone
dividend during the vesting period and the fair value of put option in relation to the
restricted period of the shares which was determined by using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The fair values of the awarded shares in both years have been
carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited, independent qualified professional valuers

who are not connected with the Group.

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair values of the put options

in relation to the restricted period of the awarded shares:

For the year ended 31 December 2011

R Az
JBe i v 16 FIR R R
Closing 1 TEH O Expected  fHEJELFE A 2%
i B share price Exercise Expected (R dividend Risk-free
Grant date at date of grant price volatility Option life yield  interest rate

SE AR | 165
Annual Report 2011



166

Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. T OB w3 B R BeAy (4)

40. SHARES HELD FOR STRATEGIC

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

§§:$~§5ﬁ+:ﬁ =t—HIkE

R Az

Je i vl £

Closing

B HI share price
Grant date at date of grant

For the year ended 31 December 2010

TR R
1T l1E TR Expected  #EEFGEFI R
Exercise Expected = ] dividend Risk-free
price volatility Option life yield interest rate

AR My 2 3BT T 2 5 R B T
S 2 B AT o MU0y 2 (PSR E
BB TR S i 3L -

41. W Y I 2 ]
BEZR -+ A= —HILE
&
M REE——EIUAH > AR W
WA 1 9 8 4 085 4 I 3817 RS
(TVBF A6 06 1) B 146 40 5 4 5

ARAF (MER]) Z 65% HHE -

g s R AR 5% S ME 2 AR > g )
ML = A B A B E N R
423,432,000 7C (AR & 774 s 1519,813,000
J6) o DA B H AR B B AR AR AR 0 AR S
BN R ¥ 2,222,158,000 70 (A 74 s
W 2,728,543,000 JG) 5 11 Wi 1E B 6596
WEZAVE > G B EE =07 At 2 Bl
4 N R 6,998,000 7 (H & A Uk
8,593,000 7G) » DA K % $1E AR Y
AN E N R 142,502,000 7C (F it
174,975,000 78) ©

MR RES R R ELAE TR
NG Fr ) S 38 e 2E 7
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The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the awarded
shares are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of awarded shares varies

with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

41. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2011

On 6 September 2011, the Group acquired 65% equity interests in both
Huizhou Hongyetaisen Real Estate Development Company Limited*
(“Hongyetaisen”) and Huizhou Hengfeng Real Estate Development Company

Limited* (“Hengfeng™).

The consideration for the acquisition of 65% equity interest in Hongyetaisen
comprised cash payment of RMB423,432,000 (equivalent to HK$519,813,000)
to an independent third party and subsequent additional capital contribution
in Hongyetaisen of RMB2,222,158,000 (equivalent to HK$2,728,543,000),
while the consideration for the acquisition of 65% equity interest in Hengfeng
comprised cash payment of RMB6,998,000 (equivalent to HK$8,593,000) to
an independent third party and subsequent additional capital contribution in

Hengfeng of RMB142,502,000 (equivalent to HK$174,975,000).

Hongyetaisen and Hengfeng both are property development companies

engaged in the property development in Huizhou.
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41. WORER B A\ (F8) 41. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
BE_E2——FTHA=1+—HI® For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)
BE (48)
@ (#8) (€] (continued)
T H o DS bl %%ﬁ&'ﬁ%l_z}i On the date of acquisition, as the main tangible asset of Hongyetaisen and
BHILERE » OFEMREMNE IR Hengfeng include a property development site in Huizhou which are under
2EBE R B - ﬁiﬁhﬂiﬁ%}\ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂ&ﬁ ° development, the acquisition of which have been accounted for as
acquisitions of assets.
AW B COTERE 2 B E AR The assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:
WBEF AR AR [iig) Mt
Hongyetaisen Hengfeng Total

BitaE - R H I G 2 15 7 35 AR A T R Note:  The non-controlling interests in Hongyetaisen and Hengfeng recognised at the
HE 2 15 T I R it 1 05 7 8 AR Kt s acquisition date were measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
2 T il B VR R R W - share of the recognised amounts of their respective identifiable net assets.
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41. W i 2 W) (4)

BE_F-—FET+ZH=ZT—HILE
JEE (#4)

(iD)

WoF——FEZH T —H o AEER
— % M 5L 5 = J7 I GMI Zhengzhou
Holdings Inc. ([GMI Zhengzhou ) &% H
Wb g A W Z100% B HE - AR
51,266,000 3 76 (% 1% ¥ 15 399,046,000
TC) o w4 NS TE T PR R U R AR o
GMI Zhengzhou % — M G #ERLA A
HEEWBA R AYWERENA - A
—THCE B E W - A G — 1R
WE Wm0y A CEH o i BEGMI
Zhengzhou K H W i 24w 2 H ) 7% 4 48
R AR ) S

W BT A 2 SRR 2 R
R

41. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

(i)

On 21 March 2011, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in GMI
Zhengzhou Holdings Inc. (“GMI Zhengzhou”) and its subsidiaries from an
independent third party for a consideration of US$51,266,000 (equivalent to
HK$399,046,000). This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method. GMI Zhengzhou is an investment holding company, while its
principal subsidiary is a property investment company which owns a
completed investment property and is engaged in the leasing of a shopping
mall in Zhengzhou. GMI Zhengzhou and its subsidiaries were acquired so as

to continue the expansion of the Group’s property investment business.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are as

follows:

A AR
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41. W e JE 2 ) (488

wE-
JE (4)

41. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

F—HE A=t HILE

BB - KT A 55 1o B 5E s -
IMTHER 48 K e (e RE T7

A A Tt A $5 GMI Zhengzhou S I b &
2 A HE AT BN B T AR 2
33,250,000 7 © 4F A i i 45 2K 3 GMI
Zhengzhou K¢ H M B 2 ® 19 W ¥
33,857,000 JT °

i i B T = — —4F— ] — H 58
JR o AR S 2 AR T AR AR A B TR I
35,806,452,000 JC -+ 1M1 4F [ e ] 20 i
8,240,706,000 JC °

W% ERMEVE B R & > 6 I A5
BB EHO R =% — 4~ —H%E
LA S S NIE WS S e o I
HERAHEA T

A T 52 A S BRSO AS 4700 2 Wi G
Zhengzhou J LI 8 22 W 2 T46575 | i
o SR ARG %T%AW%JJ*/FJ\EEU#TE
HYEZ N TER T ——F—J]—H
Al

G (%) (i) (continued)

BRE Noles:

(@ C 3% THREY R H 2 2T T 2% (a) The fair value of the completed investment property at the date of acquisition has
TRIEBLA A A AF 2 BN KA A been arrived at by reference to capitalised income to be derived from the existing
U7 E 2 1R BN T R g o R tenancies and the reversionary income potential of the properties in the similar

L B A B T S B PE A R2 Al location on the basis of a valuation carried out by CB Richard Ellis Hong Kong
(HELA S 3] 51f; JHE B 2 ) 1 1 1 o o Limited, independent qualified professional valuers, who are not connected with
the Group.

(b) JHE WA R K J% HL i JRE ot HI T LA % JE Wi — T J] &% (b) The fair value of trade and other receivables and amount due from a fellow
i 25 7l K TE A H I 2 28 (E 0 B B i subsidiary at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$1,503,000 and
#1,503,000 7C K # # 44,411,000 7C © T HK$44,411,000, respectively. The gross contractual amounts of those trade and
H I > FIFHSC I 2 RE WSO IR 5k R At HEE TR P e other receivables and amount due from a fellow subsidiary acquired amounted to
JE iz — [H] ] 5 I} J 2y ] 3K TEL 2 386 40 4 BE A HK$1,503,000 and HK$44,411,000, respectively, at the date of acquisition. The
I £ i 8 1,503,000 7C 1% i #44,411,000 7€ ° best estimate at the date of acquisition of the contractual cash flows not expected
TR A B AN REN ] 2 B A B i 1o be collected is nil.

BRAEMFBE
(© SR 18T S i A T A BE [ A R P (c) Bargain purchase gain is resulted because the Group has strong bargaining power

in respect of its immediately available cash to satisfy and complete the acquisition
in a short period of time.

Included in the profit for the year is HK$33,250,000 attributable to the
additional business generated by GMI Zhengzhou and its subsidiaries.
Revenue for the year includes HK$33,857,000 generated from GMI

Zhengzhou and its subsidiaries.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011, total group revenue
for the year would have been HK$35,806,452,000, and profit for the year
would have been HK$8,240,706,000.

The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed

on 1 January 2011, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ profit of the Group had GMI Zhengzhou and
its subsidiaries been acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors have assumed the fair value of investment property arising in the
initial accounting for the business combination is the same as on 1 January

2011.
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41. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

(iii)

On 21 October 2011, the Group acquired additional 42% equity interests in
CRL (Yancheng), which was previously an associate of the Group, for a
consideration of RMB94,334,600 (equivalent to HK$115,831,000). Upon the
completion of the said acquisition, CRL (Yancheng) then became a 52%

owned subsidiary of the Company.

CRL (Yancheng) is a property development company engaged in the property

development in Jiangsu.
On the date of acquisition, as the main tangible asset of CRL (Yancheng)
include a property development site in Jiangsu which are under development,

the acquisition of which has been accounted for as acquisition of assets.

The assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Btk o R HORE R 2 T (SI)
i 17 T 1 R 3 () 22 T

il PP (E 2 R e AR BT ST

L
Annual Report 2011

Note:  The non-controlling interest in CRL (Yancheng) recognised at the acquisition date
were measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the

recognised amounts of the identifiable net assets.
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41.

42.

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

On 28 December 2010, the Group injected HK$158,826,000 as capital
contribution in Shenyang Star River Real Estate Development Limited* (“Shenyang
Star River”), accordingly, the total registered and paid up capital of Shenyang Star
River increased from HK$152,597,000 to HK$311,423,000 which then became a 51%
owned subsidiary of the Company. Shenyang Star River is a property development
company engaged in the property development in Shenyang.

Since the main tangible asset of Shenyang Star River is a property development site
in Shenyang, the acquisition of which has been accounted for as acquisition of

assets.

The assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Note:

The non-controlling interest in Shenyang Star River recognised at the acquisition date was

measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the identifiable net assets of Shenyang Star River.

* For identification purpose only

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the purchasers of
the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the delivery
of the properties to the purchasers or completion of the relevant mortgage properties
registration, whichever is later. In the opinion of directors, the fair value of the

financial guarantee contracts is not significant.
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43, R 43. COMMITMENTS

2010

T IT
HK$'000

2,463,517
685,488
4. R MR RIS 44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
AR M 1 Ay AR AL The Group as lessee
A TR MR R A0 L R e B ) S LA 2 A Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year in respect of
4 Fy s 51,837,000 U0 ( F—F4E ¢ i HE office premises was HK$51,837,000 (2010: HK$51,052,000).

51,052,000 JC) ©

2S5 [ A B4 TR AE DL 4F B i T 22 S ol ey At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum
RAGTALTE T 2 KRR R &K IEW T - lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2010

T
HK$'000

ST A AR A B T A A 2 T Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its

office premises. Leases are negotiated mainly for an average term from one year to

G o MM PIRG4S aF
P AR E o

ten years and rentals are fixed for an average of two years.
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44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

(continued)

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$1,824,006,000 (2010:
HK$1,211,318,000). Included above, there was contingent rental income of
HK$223,698,000 (2010: HK$147,267,000). The contingent rental for certain properties
was determined by a certain percentage of turnover. The properties held by the
Group for rental purpose have committed tenants for periods which ranged from

one to seven years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the

following future minimum lease payments:

2010
T
HK$'000

1,662,975
2,403,523
1,367,130

5,433,628

45. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of reporting period, the Group had pledged the following assets to banks

as securities against general banking facilities granted to the Group:

T IT
HK$'000

12,348,569

8,744,532
1,140,407
163,397

22,396,905
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(@)

(b)

46. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Hong Kong

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’ salaries, up to a
maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per month. The assets of MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the group companies in an independently

administered fund.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amounts contributed by
the Group to the scheme in Hong Kong and charged to profit or loss
represent contributions to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in the

rules of the scheme are as follows:

2010

T

HK$°000

2,147

Chinese Mainland

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective local
government in the Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the

specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-mentioned

schemes in the Chinese Mainland during each of the years are as follows:

T
HK$'000

114,810
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries (the
“CRNC” Group)
The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions

entered into by the Group with its holding companies and fellow subsidiaries

T
HK$000

during the year:

2010

6,399
1,649
101,128
7,118

6,665

352,407
47

15,929

525

A strategic cooperation agreement entered into between Zbuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd ("CR Bank”) (previously known as Zhuhai
Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.), China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
SZITIC Trust”) and the Company

On 22 November 2010, a strategic cooperation agreement for a term of three
years ending 31 December 2013 was entered into between CR Bank, a
75.33% owned subsidiary of China Resources Co., Ltd. (“CRC”), an
intermediate holding company of the Company, CR SZITIC Trust, a fellow
subsidiary of the Group and the Company, China Resources Enterprise,
Limited (“CRE”), China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited and
China Resources Microelectronics Limited (collectively known as “China
Resources Group listed companies”), pursuant to which, among other things,
(i) CR Bank shall provide general banking services including deposit services
to the China Resources Group listed companies and their subsidiaries; and (ii)
CR SZITIC Trust shall provide trust services including cash management,
investment trusts, asset management, structured finance, underwriting of
bonds and shares to the China Resources Group listed companies and their

subsidiaries.
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(@)

Transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries (the
“CRNC” Group) (continued)

A strategic cooperation agreement entered into between Zbuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd (“CR Bank”) (previously known as Zhuhai
Commercial Bank Co., Lld.), China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
SZITIC Trust”) and the Company (continued)

Provision of these services will be charged at a rate no less favourable than
that for unrelated customers of CR Bank and CR SZITIC Trust, and any
deposit made with CR Bank under these arrangements will bear the same
interest rates and be on the same terms and conditions as would apply to a
similar deposit made by any other unrelated customer of the bank, which

rates are presently determined by the People’s Bank of China.

As at 31 December 2011, included in cash and bank balances are deposits of
RMB149,451,000 (2010: nil) made by the Group to CR Bank. The said
deposits carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which range from 0.50% to

1.49%.

Intra-Group Lending Between Members of the CRNC Group

On 22 November 2010, CRH, China Resources Group listed companies
(including the Company) and certain unlisted companies of the CRNC Group
entered into the HK$ and US$ master loan agreement. At the same time, CRC
and China Resources Group listed companies (including the Company)
entered into the RMB master loan agreement. These master loan agreements

became effective on 1 January 2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, China Resources Land Investment
Limited (“CRL Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
borrowed RMB500,000,000 from China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd. (“CR
Vanguard”), a wholly owned subsidiary of CRE at a fixed interest rate of
5.21% per annum for the period from 1 March 2011 to 31 March 2011. The
amount was repaid at the end of the loan period. In addition, CRL
Investment borrowed another RMB500,000,000 from CR Vanguard at a fixed
interest rate of 5.21% per annum for the period from 2 April 2011 to 2
September 2011, which was also repaid at the end of the loan period. As at
31 December 2011, there was no lending made by the Group under the HK$,

US$ and RMB master loan agreements.
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47. BN 5 () 47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a) Bl b o)) 36 8 A LR E N :‘I ([ (a) Transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries (the
B E ) MR 5 (59) “CRNC” Group) (continued)
(7RG AT IE 9 24 fEIE H Cooperation of a property project located in Harbin
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On 25 March 2011, the Company and a subsidiary of CRE entered into a
cooperation agreement in relation to the development of a residential-
commercial complex in Harbin (“Harbin Project”) to be developed by China
Resources Land (Harbin) Property Limited (“CR Land (Harbin)”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, on the basis that CRE and its subsidiaries
(“CRE Group”) will hold after completion of the project most of the
commercial space, while the Group will retain the ownership to the
remaining portion of the property which comprised primarily the residential
space. The Group and CRE will share the land cost on a pro-rata basis. CRE
also appointed CR Land (Harbin) as the project manager to develop the

commercial space of the Harbin Project.

R oF——F+ A=+ H BREEA
H & B b FE K i R B T A4E
L AF 3 i B -t ol I RE T & B AR
162,250,000 7C ( #1 # 17 # ¥ 200,135,000
TG ) 7 A B R 27 o A 4. [ 31 Wi i EE A
AL N R 229,193,000 76 (HH 5 74 5
%ﬁ%mwﬁmﬂﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
nffx}fﬁfﬂgﬁfﬂ%/\jm

As at 31 December 2011, the land title of the Harbin Project was not yet
obtained and the development of Harbin Project was not yet commenced.
Deposits for the acquisition of land of RMB162,250,000 (equivalent to
HK$200,135,000) was paid by the Group and is included in note 27. The
Group also received deposits from CRE Group amounting to RMB229,193,000
(equivalent to HK$283,228,000) for the development of the Harbin Project

which is included in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries.
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Acquisition of combing entities under common control

On 11 October 2011, the Group acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of Speedy Hill, together with its subsidiaries is a group of combining
entities under common control, from Central New, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRH, through cash payments of HK$1,407,000,000 and the issuance of
437,983,000 ordinary shares at the price equivalent to HK$11.10 totalling
HK$6,269,483,000, which was equivalent to the net asset value of Speedy Hill
Group as consideration. Speedy Hill is an investment holding company and
its principle assets are its indirect interest in the projects which comprised the
Nanjing Ning Mansion Site, Changzhou International Community Site, Wuxi

Top Mansion Site and Zhengzhou In-City Site located in the Chinese

Mainland.

On 3 November 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of Fast Lead, together with its subsidiaries is a group of combining
entities under common control, from Central New, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRH, through cash payments of HK$2,370,420,000 and issue of 348,239,000
ordinary shares at the price equivalent to HK$4.29 totalling HK$3,862,682,000,
which was equivalent to the net asset value of Fast Lead Group as
consideration. Fast Lead is an investment holding company and its principle
assets are its indirect interest in the project sites which comprised the Hainan

Shimei Bay Site, the Wuhan Oak Bay Site and the Suzhou Kunshan Site

located in the Chinese Mainland.
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel

(©

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

2010
T oo

HK$°000

11,771

649
16,621

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

Transactions/balances with other government-related
entities in the Chinese Mainland

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
(“government-related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger
group of companies under CRNC which is controlled by the PRC government.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group acquired land use
rights amounted to HK$29,558,465,000 (2010: HK$11,946,012,000) from the
relevant government authorities, which are government-related entities. In
addition, the Group also placed deposits to the government-related entities
for the acquisition of land use rights which were intended for the
development of investment properties and inventory of properties in the
respective amount of HK$6,804,001,000 (2010: HK$1,957,740,000) and
HK$15,763,361,000 (2010: HK$20,407,104,000). These transactions are all
approved by the shareholders of the Company.

Apart from the disclosure in (a) and above, the Group also conducts business
with other government-related entities. The directors consider those
government-related entities are independent third parties so far as the
Group’s business transactions with them are concerned.

(i) The Group has entered into various transactions, including certain
deposits placements, borrowings and other general banking facilities,
with certain banks and financial institutions, which are government-
related entities in its ordinary course of business. In view of the
nature of those banking transactions, the directors of the Company

are of the opinion that separate disclosure would not be meaningful.

(ii) The Group has sales and purchases transactions with customers and
suppliers, in which the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity of the counterparties
and accordingly whether the transactions are with other government-

related entities.
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48. a5 2 vl B A 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
@ MW FE——Fk - F-FH+ _H (a)  Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011
=+—H > RAF FEHEAFZER and 2010 are set out as follows:
I
BRI RA S M T A ERA Z B 8T
AL E A 2 A FRAS /G M A 2 T (L )
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Wit J 2 i) 4 7l issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FE

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AnwE WELAT

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%
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48. il e > v Bl s 4 W] (4) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CEfTA H T R 2 B BT
ALMHEA 2 T A/ M A 2 T (L )
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Bt o 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEW
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

ANFE WA

Company  Subsidiaries

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%

98.22%

96.50%
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
EETIA HFSIA R R Z B ¥ T
AEMHEA 2 T A,/ M A 2 T (L )
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Bt i 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEW

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

ANFE WEAT

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%

100%

100%
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2] (58) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

48. P g 2 ] BRI =

(continued)

(a) (%) (@ (continued)
E#TRA/ BT AA R R 2 BT
k& A 2 T JBA A AR 2 i L

Nominal value of

Proportion of nominal value of

e

Principal activities

issued share capital/ issued share capital/

Wi g 2~ ) 4 1

Name of subsidiary registered capital held by

registered capital

B4 7

Subsidiaries

4

Company

100%

100%
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CEfTA W TSI A R R Z E 8T
ALMHEA 2 T A/ M A 2 T (L )
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Bt o 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEW
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

ANFE WA

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

—F AR | 183
Annual Report 2011



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2] (58) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

48. P g 2 ] BRI =

(continued)

(a) (%) (@ (continued)
C#T A BT A A AR 2 BT
S E A 2 JBEAR ki AR 2 1 (i E 1

Nominal value of

Proportion of nominal value of

EEE

Principal activities

issued share capital/ issued share capital/

W e 2 ) 4

Name of subsidiary registered capital held by

registered capital

Pt 2+

Subsidiaries

A

Company

100%

100%

A AR
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
BETRA HFAIA R Z E# T
LM E A 2 T E JBeAR /S A 2 T A
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Wi 2 ) 4 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEH
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AnwE WELTE

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%
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2] (58) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

48. P g 2 ] BRI =

(continued)

(a) (%) (@ (continued)
BB/ BT AA TR 2 BT
FE M A T (E JRAR /A A 2 T L B

Nominal value of

Proportion of nominal value of

FREH

Principal activities

issued share capital/ issued share capital/

W g 2~ 7 407

Name of subsidiary registered capital held by

registered capital

24

Subsidiaries

AL
Company
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA BT R L BT
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AAFE S WA

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%
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48. il e > v Bl s 4 W] (4) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA H RS AR Z B ¥
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

KA A

Company  Subsidiaries

98.22%

98.22%

100%
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA H RS AR Z B ¥
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AAFE S WA

Company  Subsidiaries

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%
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48. [it)E 2 w] BLIg 4 A | (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA BT R L BT
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

KA A

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%

190 | —% tmsm
Annual Report 2011



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA BT R L BT
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AAFE S WA

Company  Subsidiaries

100%
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48. [it)E 2 w] BLIg 4 A | (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (#) (@ (continued)
CETIA BT R L BT
FE A A 2 H JeAR /S i A 2 T
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
B o 2 ) 2 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEE

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

KA A

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%

100%
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
(a) (44) (@ (continued)
BEITRA BT A TR Z BT
AL A 2w JBeAR /S i A 2 T A
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
WS 2 ) 4 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEER

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

N

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

AR
Annual Report 2011 193



Aok B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

48. [it)E 2 w] BLIg 4 A | (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
@ (%0 (@) (continued)
BETRA, T IA AR A 2 TS
RN A 2 T B,/ REAME A 2 T L 41
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
Wi 2 W) 4 A issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEEH

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AnE MELTE

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

95.70%
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48. & o\ B = A F] (48) 48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)
(a) (44) (@ (continued)
EEATIA WS AR Z B 8T
AL A 2 T JBeAR /S i A 2 T A
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
WS 2 ) 4 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

N

Company  Subsidiaries

100%

100%

96.50%

96.50%

96.50%
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W e 2 ) 44

Name of subsidiary

(b)

(©

(€

(e)

®

A AR
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] Bl A ] (KD

EEATIA
AL A 2w
Nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

A% W 23 ] 5 — 2 A 2 IR A
M2

LM 2 T 5 G 1 BT 2 A

frie

% M 23 7l T — % I g i 57 2 B
D

% I 2 7] T — SR ] A 7 22 S
B

A% MG 2 A R W - S IR 7
HE it o

%23 T A G B

KA

Company

48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)

(@) (continued)
N AIARRRE 2 BT
A/ S G AR 2 T {E LA

Proportion of nominal value of
F T

Principal activities

issued share capital/

registered capital held by
2010
B )

Subsidiaries

100%

Notes:

(a)

)

(©

(d)

(e)

The subsidiary is a joint stock limited company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The subsidiary is a domestic wholly owned enterprise established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The subsidiary is an equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.
The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The subsidiary is incorporated and bhas major operations in Hong Kong.

The Company is deregistered during the year.
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48. Phf i 2> w] Bl 8 ) (KH)

48. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(continued)

(b) LRGN R I B A AL ] 2 4R (b)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
B 2 AL T I N W o AR SE R of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
PR A NE Y HAb AN F 2 R & give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
AEIEERN TR - Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
PREXE SR - SHIC - Wl MGG R - All the subsidiaries listed above are established and operating in the Chinese
Cosmart * ## » Boom Go ° Big Leap ~ Mainland except for Strong Foundation, Leeds, Onway, Wuxi International,
# ~ £ JE - Toprun * Upper Able ~ & Cosmart, Zelin, Boom Go, Big Leap, Speedy Gain, Brilliant Palace, Toprun,
2B H 28 &0 AE Upper Able, Richgem, Bridge Win, Day Rejoice, Joy Pearl, Gold First, Fast
WM B AR AR B R Lead, Rainbow Fit, Bloom World, Bojet, Panway, Bonwing, Speedy Hill,
1y~ s s ghE - Hel s EE Speedy View, Great Fate, Rise Win, Great Mean, Weiyuan, Wingar and
TR T T AR T i L S I R Wintech which are registered in the British Virgin Islands and their place of
e EAN > EREY 2 WE A T 2 operation is in Hong Kong.
47 vl I A b B S S
W oFE - — N -FE+ A No debt securities have been issued by the subsidiaries as at 31 December
= —H > B A R AT AT A 555 2011 and 2010.
[

© WE—-—F{x_F-FFE+_H (¢)  Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are set
= H o AR 2SN T E R out as follows:
/I

T fTicA
Rl AR T
Nominal value of A £ 1) [H] B AT B A A 22
T 2 m) & A issued share capital/ Attributable interest indirectly TR

registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

Name of associate

2010

48.25%

20.00%

Mt : Notes:

(@ LI o8 T T — R R R 2 NG B A A (i) The associate is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.
E-X3

(i) LI L 7] G F ] R i 7 2 R A SRR (ii) The associate is a domestic enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland and de-
RS MR o registered during the year.

(iii) LI L3 7] T — 53 1A 5T 2 T B e (iii) The associate in a domestic enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland.

T W W) SR v R A b By R o All the associates are established and operating in the Chinese Mainland.

ST AR
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49. B A | Fg 45 HL
A A [ EE AR DA R AR AR B o 4% B w4
K8 s A R AR B B & 5 5 IR R AR Al
B K R o A ] 2 R B TR M B b AR R AR R —
@[ °

A B 2 B A SR BT U A (LA TR B T 34
s 2 SRATIH 58 TN RE 37 ik 2 B SLR)
SRR B G B S (E > LA Al A REAL
A (ELE CBRATIAS ~ (il S PR B e A1) -

A R RE M B A LN o TR
R A AR S B AR AR B 2
W o MRYRTE S 2 gt o AR M 0B M AT AR
B BT - 0 [ B R AT B A R e
DA GH o PR AL -

50. & T H
(@ ZRTHRZER
ALE[F]
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49. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the bank
borrowings disclosed in Note 34 and the senior notes disclosed in Note 37, net of
cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with
cach class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of

existing debt.

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments
THE GROUP

31.12.2011
T
HK$'000

31.12.2010 1.1.2010

18,758,450
179,653

(55,078)

(41,582)
(77,549,795)

(77,646,455)
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50. @t T A (#)

(b)

S 2 L o A B R e B

5 2 I A 4 0
B L o T RO T R B A
S 0 0 JEBR 5 LBCORE o A B L 43 7
AL 30 0 8 A0t T 4

AR 2 B A PR 5 TE N K A A
A AR [ O TR R~ L R
RHIGRRE ~ B B DA K B2 T R
BLARGE P SEHIR DL o AR BB 1 9l %
] 5 A BAE A BRLAR P - B0 e S AL T e
Bl R se i B L e i B
HRAR AR B (9 T % TAE:

AL 2 A% 2 B R L AR
5 0 5% e A BB BT O R OL
S gl A1 B AR 41 B B 1 3B 2 T
ERLH RS RN o AEEER AT
75 A P A T I o A R A B
o T2 ) 2 R AT 8 B A S A
B - Sl ) A% 22 B B R o

4% S T 2 B LR A A S8 B
LR A0 77 2 1 0 1 2 3 -

AR ) 2 0 0 A T e AR E
TAY VS L B i o D AT B AR 4 T
SR 2 PRSI o 5% A ST B LA i
B (ELAG A1 ME JRURR: ~ ) 5l e 2% L At £
R ~ B % O ) Y < R

117 55 I it

41 R JL g L

A B ASN W R A T 8L BRAT A4S
o~ SRATAE AT B (B S A TR A1 B
JE Bz o A S 1 20 208 ) B B o 5 o A
AN R JELBRr o 7% 4 [ B Sif 1 41 e 3 o
B o BRI R BILE B A A ME R o S
T B2 I 2% i 3 9 TR K A/ L B

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Board is
responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management
policies. The Department of Corporate Finance and Planning of the Group

reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse
the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Group’s
activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Group. The Group’s audit committee is assisted in its
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad
hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of

which are reported to the audit committee.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial risks or the

manner in which it manages and measures.

The Board of Directors of the Company monitors and manages the financial
risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports
which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and

other price risk) credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

The Group maintains certain cash and bank balances, bank borrowings and
senior notes in foreign currencies, hence is exposed to foreign currency risk.
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movements of the foreign currency exchange rates. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

ZER AR
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50. &Rl T H (48) 50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

200

A1 HEEJa o B ()
R IR o AR F LU W R SR T RHE
ZEWEEREWRMZIREENT

(b) B R b i B H A S BOR (4) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
117 53 J i (%88) Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s Hong Kong dollar and United States
dollar denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

i £tk

Assets Liabilities

2011 2010

T oT T

HK$ 000 HK$’000

483,325 28,087,843

A RE U 7 AT Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
IS A2 3] A Bk T I 2B or A B Y TE The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of Hong Kong dollar and the
b B o currency of United States dollar.

TR A 4 R (AR F] O
rp ) 46 45 2 B 2 F L Th R B ) A
TG T RE R I T T 5% (—F—&
A 5%) W BURRE © 5% (& — 4R
59%) 4 1 2 SRR S BV 3L i B
Rl REAHBEN PG - N F—F
ARG T BRI B o AR il 5% 2 R
I SEHEATT I SRS o IR B 40 W AR A 4
DAANBESTE Y R s R W IE e R
o B A 2 R 2R B 500 (B — AR
5%) FH ik AR AT B AR o i AR S s
JC M FETCREZR [T+ - | DA IE BOEUR BB
% s MBI o 257 A B 507 J0 & 36 T T
B RES% (T —FAF 1 5%) - [l F
W 32 B S E SR B RS 5 T T B &G R
MR A

A AR
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The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2010: 5%) increase
and decrease in the Renminbi, the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries operating in the PRC, against Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollar. 5% (2010: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used and representing
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. As a result of the volatile financial market in 2011, the
management use the sensitivity rate of 5% for the purpose of assessing
foreign currency risk. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2010: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax
profit where the Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar and United
States dollar. For a 5% (2010: 5%) weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact

on the profit and the balances below would be negative.

2010
T T
HK$'000

1,088,770
269,649

1,358,419



A W 25 A P i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

50. @k TH (#)

(b)

St 5 L i A B R S R (A

55/ it ()
RSy g
A A T TR 3 A ] S BRATT A A S (S
P8 2 PAE A AR T > 7 T A B AR AT
&5 0% R B AR AT 15 1Y 2 B v B
W o A 412 B 5T S ) S 5 0 DA b B 4 0

AR T T 3B A ] < L B R R R L B
7 A A B O B8 < S g B

I =R AU S A

DLR R A AT AR DR SRAT A5 0% ~ TRER
AT B8 i T8 355 22 R =3 L gy 2 () e 9 o 1
B4 B b 2 R R B 2 R -
M TR B iy R i A P s 2 i T
N R AR - fE M FEEHAS
TR T8 52 S M) 2 B I > B9 100 18 JE BE
(=B —RAF 100 I 5 B) 3070 5014
LB (A S0 fHFLEL) AR TR A
SRAT I S AR 2 MR BL A TS v 2 =R
FIT > T 38 n m e 10 S B (T —
TAE L1018 L2 HI R SRAT A B > H
R LR AR 2 A T REAE ) 2 B o

Fo 160 15 S PR A i 5 ) 2R 50 B 4 3
R E R AEEGHTEEE
) R i ] DL B DAVE S (R
SRATIR ZEHF B F | o b)) #8425
B4 LU 41,512,997,000 0 (& — &
Ak W 24,830,450,000 JC) 2 B 4 T A
AR (FERM 5L 34) o BbAb - 5 BERAT
8 ol A A (2] 20 T 3 T ) R LR
W oF—— g A= —H o BT
BEHHE M 11,458,638,000 70 (- F —F4F ¢
##512,976,788,0007C ) LA 7B FIZF5HE -

iy ) 2% k100 18 e By ( & — F AR
1001 J5 2 ) > T BT A A 53 SO 5 R
o AL ERE-E——%+ A
=B E AR RRITEEEEZ
o 4% i A 2D s B 327,469,000 76 (—
T — AR D W 193,472,000 7)) ©
A1 ) B R B S0 (1 H B (T —FAF 1 50
BN o T AT A oAb AR AN R - HI
KEBERNE _F——FE+A=1+—
H Ik 4F B 2 Bk B2 6 e 8 s i
163,735,000 7C ( =% — F4F © 1 s
96,736,000 JC) ©

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
bank borrowings and senior notes. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings and has entered into interest rate swaps to hedge against its

exposures to change in cash flows (see Notes 34 and 35 for details).

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in

the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank balances, variable-rate bank borrowings together
with the effect from interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis
point (2010: 100 basis point) increase or 50 basis point (2010: 50 basis point)
decrease is used for variable-rate bank borrowings and interest rate swaps
designated as cash flow hedge and a 10 basis point (2010: 10 basis point)
increase or decrease is used for bank balances when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rate.

In order to keep borrowings at fixed rate and to minimise the cash flow
interest rate risk, the Group uses floating to fixed interest rate swaps to
manage the cash flow interest rate risk exposure associated with certain
amount of borrowings issued at floating rates (i.e., HIBOR plus contain
percentage) totalling HK$41,512,997,000 (2010: HK$24,830,450,000) (see Note
34 for details). In addition, fixed-rate bank borrowings expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. At 31 December 2011, bank borrowings of
approximately HK$11,458,638,000 (2010: HK$12,976,788,000) were at fixed

rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2010: 100 basis points) higher and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit derived
from variable-rate bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2011
would decrease by HK$327,469,000 (2010: decrease by HK$193,472,000). If
interest rates had been 50 basis points (2010: 50 basis points) lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2011 would increase by HK$163,735,000 (2010:
HK$96,736,000).

ZER AR
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50. <l T H (%)
(b Bt B 0 R A SR (40)

175 I B (48)

I % TR B 2 ()

| R AT (48)

M ERAT 45 77 A R I 10 0 2L (= F—
T 10 L) 5 T AT At A B
FERE > MIAFEERERE “F——F
+ A = B AR 2 BRBAR R
O 12,123,000 6 (& —FA4F « H
i 59,781,000 78) o A Fl F R [ 1018
HEE (T 10WEE) > A
Lt 5 AR AR R B 1S S AR A Vi
PR RENAE S 2 R o

AR - A B BT 2 R B
W > L R G TR
B o

AR A% JE B

745 B2 ] R L7 o M5 R A o o 2 B I
LAt ) 23 4 3 1 TS A AR A SRR - AR
4 ] ST 9 50 A 55 R MR R AR o 2 2 B
2 A A A RS E H RO S A - kT
F A A 45 45 U R D B AS AT £ B 7k
VIR (=N, 1= F M 2 o 2 X (B R |
i 2 A ) 2 b 0 2 A A A L B i
T o AR FE 100 18 3 B 8T R 50 1

EHREE _F——F T+ _H=1—H
1E 47 B 2 R A% i A 4 L o s
13,115,00000 ( — &F — & 4F: % ¥
31,553,00070) B D 1 6,346,000 76 (—
F—FF - #%16,012,00070) ©

T F R i

RoE A= AR
B 22 55 J7 R REJEAT TUAE B AR AEE B 42 it 1
s N IEIE: €rp ey FElUEe FNERE S
KA

. fog e B 5 51K D2 T 4% T T e R
SRV 2 IRE(E 5 &

. SR AR 8% Hh 2 BB IR IR A B 2
HORARTEH (RMEE42) -
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the interest rates for bank balances had been 10 basis points (2010: 10
basis points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 would increase by
HK$12,123,000 (2010: increase by HK$9,781,000). If interest rates had been
10 basis points (2010: 10 basis points) lower and all other variables were held
constant, there would have been equal but opposite impact on the profit for

the year.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current year

mainly due to the increase in variable rate debt instruments.

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
unquoted equity securities and other interest rate swaps. No sensitivity
analysis of the other price risk of the Group’s investments in these unquoted
equity securities is prepared as they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period. In respect of other
price risks of those other interest rate swaps not for hedging purpose, if
interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or 50 basis points lower in
relation with all other variable held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2011 would increase by HK$13,115,000 (2010:
HK$31,553,000) or decrease by HK$6,346,000 (2010: HK$16,012,000)

respectively.

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the

Group is arising from:

. the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

. the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to the financial

guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 42.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk management (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade and other receivables at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies

or state-owned banks in the PRC.

With respect to the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, immediate holding
company and a jointly controlled entity, the directors of the Company

consider the credit risk is limited because they have strong financial positions.

Other than the amounts due from an associate and a jointly controlled entity,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers. The
Group has concentration of credit risk on the amounts due from an associate
and a jointly controlled entity, because there is only one associate and one
jointly controlled entity who operated in the Chinese Mainland in both 2010
and 2011.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. Details of the Group’s borrowings

are set out in Note 34.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-

derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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(b)

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
weighted average interest rate by reference to the HIBOR of the Group’s

variable-rate financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity analysis for its
derivative financial instruments. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash outflows on derivative instruments that
settle on a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount
disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the HIBOR and the terms stipulated in the contract of derivative
financial instruments existing at the end of the reporting period. The liquidity
analysis for the Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared based
on the contractual maturities as the management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows

of derivatives.
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50. <l TH. (%) 50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) BA% B P A R R (48) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
it B B B A (A Liquidity risk management (continued)
it B A S R a2k (A8 Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
A4 E THE GROUP
I
R +=
JHEFE TR BEnE =t—H
Gk AT ke Z T
Weighted ~ On demand 1% 1210 H 1% 24 2E 54 SR L Total Carrying
average or less than 1-12 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
interest rate 1 months months years years 5 years cash flows 31.12.2011
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50. s T A () 50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Foh2% Al B 5 B A A BOSR () (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
) B R (A8 Liquidity risk management (continued)
it B A S R a2k (A8 Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
AAEHE (45) THE GROUP (continued)
ZELE
R +=
JHEFE TR BEnE =t—H
Gk AT ke Z T
Weighted ~ On demand 1% 1210 H 1% 24 2E 54 SR L Total Carrying
average or less than 1-12 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
interest rate 1 months months years years 5 years cash flows 31.12.2011
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee for loans procured by the purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables

held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-
derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end
of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

. the fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated based on
discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the

duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives; and

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding
derivative financial instruments) are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow

analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding senior notes) recorded at amortised cost in the

consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position

The derivative financial instruments liabilities including the interest rate
swaps under cash flow hedge of HK$41,582,000 (2010: HK$51,947,000) and
other interest rate swaps of HK$55,078,000 (2010: HK$100,552,000) are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value which are grouped

into Level 2 fair value measurements.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

51. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 85 to 207 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 March 2012.
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Group’s results

2009

35,794,801

14,373,062

(6,131,032)

8,242,030

8,069,984
172,046

8,242,030

Group’s assets and liabilities

2011 ‘ 2010 2009

4,070,444
1,139,920
29,588,952
711,117
954,572
7,362,103
136,758,621

180,585,729

71,230,291
38,652,259
4,259,162
81,736

114,223 448
66,362,281

60,316,155
6,046,126

66,302,281

2008

2008

The financial information for the three years ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010 has
been restated to reflect the effect of application of Accounting Guideline 5 Merger

Accounting for Common Control Combinations issued by the HKICPA. The financial

information for the year ended 31 December 2007 has not been adjusted.
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